
 

**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL 

SECRETARY** 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

March 7, 2022 

7:00 P.M. 

 

1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 

 

2.  Minutes for Approval         

 Minutes of February 7, 2022 Council Meeting 

 Minutes of February 14, 2022 Council Meeting    

 

3.  Presentations and Introductions 

 

4.  Unfinished Business 

 

a) Reports of Council Committees  

        

b) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading      

 

 

c) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-46, an ordinance appropriating Five Hundred Thousand 

and 00\100 Dollars ($500,000) from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the 

Negative Economic Impact Account the Homeowner-Occupied Property Rehabilitation 

Program 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-49, an ordinance appropriating Three 

Hundred Twenty-Two Thousand Three Hundred and Fifty Dollars ($322,350.00) 

from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Negative Economic 

Impact Account for the Elkhart Thrive Neighborhood Opportunity Hub Initiative 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-67, an ordinance appropriating Four Million Two 

Hundred Thousand Dollars ($4,200,000.00) for the design other professional services for the 

new public safety facilities of the Elkhart Police Department and Elkhart Fire Department 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-68-R, an ordinance appropriating One Million 

Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for land acquisition in connection with the new public 

safety facilities for the Elkhart Police Department and Elkhart Fire Department 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
2 

d) Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions       

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-57-R, an ordinance appropriating One Million Dollars 

($1,000,000) from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Provision of 

Government Services Account for upgrades to the Lerner Theatre heating, ventilation and air 

conditioning system 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-01, an ordinance annexing certain real estate 

commonly known as 25610 County Road 4, Elkhart County, Indiana and 52396 

County Road 9, Elkhart County, Indiana and declaring the same to be a part of the 

City of Elkhart, Indiana (LD Elkhart IN Landlord, LLC, petitioner) 

 

 

5.       New Business 

 

a) Ordinances on First Reading        

PROPOSED ORDINNACE 22-O-06, an ordinance vacating Wagner Avenue, between the 

East right-of-way line of Benham Avenue and the West right-of-way line of Chester Street, a 

public way within Elkhart, Indiana      

 

b) Resolutions  

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-06, a resolution of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana, confirming Resolution No. R-04-22, which declared a certain area in the 

City of Elkhart to be an economic revitalization area for the purpose of granting 

tax phase-in benefits to Marson International LLC 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-07, a resolution of the Common Council of 

the City of Elkhart, Indiana, to approve two memoranda of agreements between 

the City of Elkhart and Marson International LLC 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-08, a resolution of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana, confirming Resolution No. R-05-22, which declared a certain area in the 

City of Elkhart to be an economic revitalization area for the purpose of granting 

tax phase-in benefits to PontoonStuff, Inc.\MMM Realty LLC\Legacy Plastics 

LLC 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-09, a resolution of the Common Council of 

the City of Elkhart, Indiana, to approve two memoranda of agreements between 

the City of Elkhart and PontoonStuff, Inc.\MMM Realty LLC\Legacy Plastics 

LLC 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-10, a resolution of the Common Council of 

the City of Elkhart, Indiana, approving the collective bargaining agreement 

between the City of Elkhart and the Indiana Fraternal Order of Police Labor 

Council, Inc.   

 

 

 

 

 

           



 

 
3 

c) Vacation Hearings         None  

            

d) Other New Business 

 

e) Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 

f) Neighborhood Association Reports 

 

g) Privilege of the Floor 

 

h) Scheduling of Committee Meetings 

 

6.       Acceptance of Communications 

 Minutes of January 26, 2022 – Board of Aviation Commissioners 

 Minutes of January 25, 2022 – Board of Public Safety 

 Minutes of February 8, 2022 – Board of Public Safety 

 Minutes of February 1, 2022 – Board of Public Works 

 Minutes of February 14, 2022 – Board of Public Works 

 Minutes of January 13, 2022 – Board of Zoning Appeals 

 Minutes of January 12, 2022 – Lerner Theatre Board 

 Minutes of January 16, 2022 – Park and Recreation Board Meeting 

 Report of January 2022 Month End – Elkhart Communications Center 

 Report of February 15, 2022 – Parks Department 

 

7.    Adjournment   



DRAFT 

 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

OF FEBRUARY 7, 2022 

 

Present: Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Kevin Bullard, Brent Curry, Brian Thomas, Aaron Mishler, Tonda 

Hines, Megan Baughman, Dwight Fish, David Henke  

    

Absent: None  

 

 This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx and live-streamed 

on Facebook. All Council Members were present in Council Chambers.  

 

 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 

229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart.   

 

 Alex Holtz led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance and President Dawson asked for a 

moment of silent reflection. 

  

 The clerk called the roll.   

 

 President Dawson presented the Council with proposed Ordinance 22-O-03 which replaces 

proposed Ordinance 21-O-29 that establishes electronic participated for the Council.  President Dawson 

asked for a motion to remove proposed Ordinance 21-O-29 from the agenda.  Motion by Councilman 

Henke and seconded by Councilman Mishler.   

By a unanimous voice vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Minutes of October 25, 2021 Special Meeting of the Common Council 

Minutes of November 1, 2021 Council Meeting 

Minutes of November 8, 2021 Finance Committee Meeting 

Minutes of December 6, 2021 Council Meeting 

Minutes of January 3, 2022 Finance Committee Meeting Of-The-Whole 

Minutes of January 3, 2022 Council Meeting 

Minutes of January 6, 2022 AD-HOC Committee Meeting 

 

Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to approve the minutes of the October 

25, 2021 Special Meeting of the Common Council, which motion carried by voice vote and the 

minutes were approved. 

 

Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved to approve the minutes of the November 

1, 2021 Council Meeting, which motion carried by voice vote and the minutes were approved. 

 

Councilman Thomas, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to approve the minutes of the 

November 8, 2021 Finance Committee Meeting, which motion carried by voice vote and the 

minutes were approved. 

 



   

 

2 

 

Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to approve the minutes of the December 

6, 2021 Council Meeting, which motion carried by voice vote and the minutes were approved. 

 

Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to approve the minutes of the January 3, 

2022 Finance Committee Meeting Of-The-Whole, which motion carried by voice vote and the 

minutes were approved. 

 

President Dawson asked to let the record show that Councilman Curry had just joined the meeting in 

person. 

 

Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to approve the minutes of the January 3, 

2022 Council Meeting, which motion carried by voice vote and the minutes were approved. 

 

Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Thomas, moved to approve the minutes of the January 

6, 2022 AD-HOC Committee Meeting, which motion carried by voice vote and the minutes were 

approved. 

 

  

PRESENTATIONS AND INTRODUCTIONS 

 

President Dawson introduced Angie McKee as the new Council Clerk. 

 

President Dawson recognized that the former Council Clerk Traci Adams will be staying around to help 

and that she also got engaged.   

 

Chief of Staff Bradley Tracy introduced the new Human Resource Director Patrick Tibbs. 

 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

REPORTS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES 

  

 There were no Council committee reports. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

3 

 

ORDINANCES ON SECOND-THIRD READING 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-02 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING § 157.019 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA RELATING TO THE TESTING OF 

APPLICANTS FOR AN ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR LICENSE BY THE 

CITY OF ELKHART 

  

 The clerk read the proposed ordinance, 22-O-02 by title only.  President Dawson asked for a 

motion to approve ordinance.  Motion to approve on second reading was made by Councilman Henke 

and seconded by Councilman Curry.  President Dawson opened the floor for council discussion. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-02 

 

 Councilman Henke asked for a presentation on significant change.  Electrical Inspector, Dan 

Riddle speaks on the proposed ordinance starting at 40 minutes and 40 seconds of the audio recording.   

Councilman Mishler asked a question of Dan Riddle at 43 minutes and 40 seconds of the audio 

recording.  Councilman Fish comments start at 44 minutes and 17 seconds of the audio recording. 

John Espar from the Legal department speaks on the proposed ordinance starting at 44 minutes 52 

seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Fish ask for clarification from John Espar starting at 46 

minutes and 28 seconds of the audio recording.  Dan Riddle answers Councilman Fish starting at 46 

minutes and 59 second of the audio recording.  President Dawson addresses clarification of the 

ordinance starting at 48 minutes and 07 seconds of the audio recording.   

 

PUBLIC COMMENT ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-02 

 

 President Dawson opened public comments.  There were no public comments. President Dawson 

returned the comments to the Council and seeing that there were no additional comments from the 

Council, he asked the clerk to call the roll.  Roll call was as follows: 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  Councilwoman Hines 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to move ordinance to third and final reading.  Motion by 

Councilman Henke and seconded by Councilman Curry.  There were no further discussions on this 

proposed ordinance.   

 

The clerk read the proposed ordinance, 22-O-02 by title only.  President Dawson asked the clerk to call 

the roll.  Roll call was as follows: 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

ABSENT:  Councilwoman Hines 

By a vote of 8-0 the ordinance was adopted 



   

 

4 

 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES: 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-46  
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND AND 00\100 

DOLLARS ($500,000) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY 

FUND TO THE NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT FOR THE 

HOMEOWNER-OCCUPIED PROPERTY REHABILITATION PROGRAM 

 

President Dawson stated proposed ordinance 21-O-46 remains in committee. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-49 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING THREE HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO 

THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED AND FIFTY DOLLARS ($322,350.00) FROM 

THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE 

NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT FOR THE ELKHART THRIVE 

NEIGHBORHOOD OPPORTUNITY HUB INITIATIVE 

 

President Dawson stated proposed ordinance 21-O-49 remains in committee. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-67 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FOUR MILLION TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($4,200,000.00) FOR THE DESIGN OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

FOR THE NEW PUBLIC SAFETY FACILITIES OF THE ELKHART POLICE 

DEPARTMENT AND ELKHART FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

        President Dawson stated proposed ordinance 21-O-67 remains in committee.  

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-68-R 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) 

FOR LAND ACQUISITION IN CONNECTION WITH THE NEW PUBLIC 

SAFETY FACILITIES FOR THE ELKHART POLICE DEPARTMENT AND 

ELKHART FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

 President Dawson stated proposed ordinance, 21-O-68-R remains in committee.  

 

 

 

 



   

 

5 

 

TABLED ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-57-R 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) FROM 

THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE PROVISION 

OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES ACCOUNT FOR UPGRADES TO THE LERNER 

THEATRE HEATING, VENTILATION AND AIR CONDITIONING SYSTEM 

 

 President Dawson stated the proposed ordinance 21-O-57-R remains tabled. 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

ORDINANCES ON FIRST READING 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-01 

 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL ESTATE COMMONLY 

KNOWN AS 25610 COUNTY ROAD 4, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA AND 

52396 COUNTY ROAD 9, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA AND DECLARING 

THE SAME TO BE A PART OF THE CITY OF ELKHART 

 

 The clerk read the proposed ordinance, 22-O-01, by title only.  President Dawson 

asked for a motion to remove this from the table.  Motion by Councilman Henke and 

seconded by Councilman Fish.   

By a unanimous voice vote of 8-0, the motion carried.    

 

PUBLIC HEARING ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-01 

 

 President Dawson opened the public hearing.  Debra Hughes, Civil Engineer from 

Surveying and Mapping LLC, formerly known as Marbach Brady and Weaver and 

Marbach-Palm, representing Lazy Days RV.  Her comments start at 51 minutes and 59 

seconds of the audio recording.   

 Seeing that there were no additional comments from the public, President Dawson 

asked for a motion to table this proposed ordinance until the March 7th meeting.  Motion 

made by Councilman Henke and seconded by Councilman Fish.   

By a unanimous voice vote of 8-0, this proposed ordinance was tabled. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

6 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-03 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUMCIL OF THE CITY OF 

ELKHART, INDIANA, AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 4099, “AN ORDIANCE 

AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 3116, ESTABLISHING THE RULES AND 

REGULATIONS FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, AND ITS MEMBERS” AND ESTABLISHING 

RULES FOR THE COUNCIL MEMBERS TO PARTICIPATE IN COUNCIL 

MEETINGS BY MEANS OF ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION. 

 

  The clerk read the proposed ordinance, 22-O-03 by title only. President Dawson 

moved this proposed ordinance on to second reading. 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-04 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO ESTABLISH RESPONIBLE BIDDING PRACTICES AND 

SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS ON PUBLIC WORKS PROJECTS. 

 

  The clerk read the proposed ordinance, 22-O-04 by title only.  President Dawson 

moved this proposed ordinance on to second reading. 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-05 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMEDNING THE ZONING MAP CREATED PURSUANT TO 

ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA,” AS AMENDED, TO REZONE 1637, 1643, AND 1649 W. INDIANA AVENUE 

IN THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA FROM R-3, TWO-FAMILY DWELLING 

DISTRCIT TO R-2, ONE-FAMILY DWELLING DISTRICT.   

 

  The clerk read the proposed ordinance, 22-O-05 by title only.  President Dawson 

moved this proposed ordinance on to second reading.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

7 

 

RESOLUTIONS 

 

Resolution #R-02-22 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, 

OPPOSING LEGISLATION REGARDING THE BUSINESS PERSONAL PROPERTY TAX. 

 

 The clerk read proposed resolution 22-R-02 by title only.  President Dawson asked for a motion 

to adopt this resolution.  Motion by Councilman Curry and seconded by Councilman Mishler.  

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-02 

  President Dawson opened Council discussion.  Councilman Henke comments start at 56 

minutes and 41 seconds of the audio recording.  **Councilman Bullard comments start at 58 minutes 

and 09 seconds of the audio recording (**there were audio issues when Councilman Bullard was 

speaking and some of his comments are not audible).  Councilman Curry comments start at 1 hour, 0 

minutes and 04 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Fish comments start at 1 hour, 0 minutes 

and 35 second of audio recording.  Councilwoman Baughman comments start at 1 hour, 2 minutes and 

41 seconds of the audio recording.   

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-02 

 President Dawson opened public comments.  Mayor Roberson comments start at 1 hour, 4 

minutes and 00 seconds of the audio recording.  President Dawson asked to let the records show that 

Councilwoman Hines is here.  City Controller, Jamie Arce comments start at 1 hour, 6 minutes and 19 

seconds of the audio recording.  Councilwoman Baughman asked a question to Jamie starting at 1 hour 

8 minutes and 58 seconds of the audio recording.  Jamie responds to the question/comment starting at 1 

hour, 9 minutes and 57 seconds of the audio recording.  Mayor Roberson comments start at 1 hour, 11 

minutes and 08 seconds of the audio recording.  Seeing that there were no other comments from the 

public, President Dawson returned the discussion to the council. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-02 

 President Dawson opened Council discussion.  Councilman Mishler comments start at 1 hour, 

12 minutes and 24 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Henke comments start at 1 hour, 13 

minutes and 36 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Fish comments start at 1 hour, 17 minutes 

and 38 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Henke asked a question to President Dawson 

starting at 1 hour, 19 minutes and 44 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Bullard comments 

start at 1 hour, 20 minutes and 00 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Curry comments at 1 

hour, 20 minutes and 58 seconds of the audio recording.  President Dawson comments start at 1 hour, 

22 minutes and 15 seconds of the audio recording. 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to call the roll.  Roll call was as follows: 

 

AYES:  Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS:  Bullard, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 

Motion passed by a 5-4 vote, the resolution passed. 

 

 

 



   

 

8 

 

 President Dawson stated that the administration has presented the Council with a revised 

proposed Resolution 22-R-03-R to replace proposed Resolution 22-R-03 due to a scrivener’s error.  

Motion to replace made by Councilman Fish and seconded by Councilwoman Hines.   

By a unanimous voice vote of 9-0, the motion passed. 

 

 

Resolution #R-03-22 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, 

OPPOSING HOUSE BILL 1134 AS AN UNNECESSARY BURDEN UPON TEACHERS AND A 

STRUGGLING STATEWIDE AND LOCAL EDUCATIONAL SYSTEM. 

 

 The clerk read proposed resolution 22-R-03 by title only.  President Dawson asked for a motion 

to adopt this resolution.  Motion made by Councilwoman Hines and seconded by Councilman Mishler.  

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION R-03-22-R 

 President Dawson opened Council discussion.  Councilman Mishler comments start at 1 hour, 

26 minutes and 40 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Henke comments start at 1 hour, 28 

minutes and 47 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Fish comments start at 1 hour, 31 minutes 

and 37 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilwoman Hines comments start at 1 hour, 33 minutes and 

51 seconds of the audio recording.  During Councilwoman Hines’ comments, she makes a motion to 

change the wording of the resolution from “assault upon teachers to unnecessary burden upon teachers”. 

It was seconded by Councilman Henke.  By a unanimous voice vote of 9-0 the amendment passed.   

 President Dawson asked for a motion to adopt the amended resolution.  Motion by 

Councilwoman Hines and seconded by Councilman Mishler.  Council discussion resumes with 

Councilman Thomas comments starting at 1 hour, 35 minutes and 39 seconds of the audio recording.  

No further comments were made by the Council. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION R-03-22-R 

 President Dawson opened public comments.  Krista Riblet spoke in favor of the resolution. She 

had a letter for the Council.  Her comments start at 1 hour, 38 minutes and 55 seconds of the audio 

recording.  Kris Thomas-Bartley spoke in favor of the resolution.  Her comments start at 1 hour, 44 

minutes and 30 seconds of the audio recording.  Janine Doot spoke in favor of the resolution.  Her 

comments start at 1 hour, 51 minutes and 26 seconds of the audio recording.   

 President Dawson asked the Director of Communications, Corrine Straight if there were any 

comments online, she stated that there a few comments but nothing to share.  Amber Kosar spoke in 

favor of the resolution.  Her comments start at 1 hour, 56 minutes and 13 seconds of the audio recording.  

Alex Holtz spoke in favor of the resolution.  His comments start at 2 hours, 00 minutes and 44 seconds 

of the audio recording.  Bryan Golden spoke in favor of the resolution.  His comments start at 2 hours, 

03 minutes and 26 seconds of the audio recording.  Jenn Harrold spoke in favor if the resolution.  Her 

comments start at 2 hours, 9 minutes and 18 seconds of the audio recording.  Seeing that there were no 

additional comments from the public, President Dawson closed the public comments.   

 

 President Dawson returned the comments to the Council and called for a 5-minute break at 2 

hours, 13 minutes and 40 seconds of the audio recording. 

 



   

 

9 

 

COUNCIL COMMENTS ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION R-03-22-R 

  President Dawson called the meeting back to order at 2 hours, 18 minutes and 15 seconds 

of the audio recording.  Councilman Henke comments start at 2 hours, 18 minutes and 24 seconds of 

the audio recording.  Councilman Fish comments start at 2 hours, 24 minutes and 12 seconds of the 

audio recording.  Councilwoman Baughman comments start at 2 hours, 26 minutes and 07 seconds of 

the audio recording.  Councilman Mishler comments start at 2 hours, 28 minutes and 43 seconds of the 

audio recording.  Councilman Curry comments start at 2 hours, 30 minutes and 00 seconds of the 

audio recording.  Councilman Bullard comments start at 2 hours, 32 minutes and 54 seconds of the 

audio recording.  President Dawson comments start at 2 hours, 34 minutes and 02 seconds of the audio 

recording.  President Dawson asked the clerk to call the roll.  Roll Call was as follows: 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS:  Thomas 

By a vote of 8-1 the resolution passed.   

 

VACATION HEARINGS 
 

 There were no vacation hearings. 

 

OTHER NEW BUSINESS 
 

COUNCIL COMMENTS/ISSUES 

 Councilman Fish talks about his free COVID test kit.  His comments start at 2 hours, 39 

minutes and 00 seconds of the audio recording.   

 Councilman Henke talks about comments about items in his packet and the Lerner report.  His 

comments start at 2 hours, 39 minutes and 32 seconds of the audio recording.   

 Councilwoman Baughman talks about dump trucks at the airport.  Her comments start at 2 

hours, 43 minutes and 10 seconds of the audio recording,   

 Councilman Mishler thanked several departments for their work during the recent snow storm.  

His comments start at 2 hours, 43 minutes and 54 seconds of the audio recording.   

 President Dawson asked the clerk to send proposed Resolution R-03-22-R to the local state 

representatives and talks about the upcoming Lerner tour and the Council getting an attorney.  His 

comments start at 2 hours, 44 minutes and 33 seconds of the audio recording.   

   

 

REPORTS OF THE MAYOR, BOARD OF WORKS, BOARD OF SAFETY OR  

CITY DEPARTMENT HEADS 
 Corrine Straight, Director of Communications, thanked several departments as well regarding 

their work during the recent snow storm.  Her comments start at 2 hours, 46 minutes and 40 seconds of 

the audio recording.  Councilman Curry asked Corrine about trash pick-up schedule since it was not 

collected for 2 days during the snow storm.  His comments start at 2 hours, 47 minutes and 22 seconds 

of the audio recording.   

 Mayor Roberson talks about the aquatic center and the upcoming event Great Lakes Valley 

Conference championships.  His comments start at 2 hours, 48 minutes and 15 seconds of the audio 

recording.   

 



   

 

10 

 

 President Dawson asked Corrine or Bradley to contact Michelle Frank at the Lerner to let her 

know that the 2pm time does not work for the Council and that it needs to be rescheduled. 

 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION REPORTS 
 Councilman Curry reported on the Pierre Moran Neighborhood Association meeting that was 

held on February 6, 2022.  His comments start at 2 hours, 52 minutes and 00 seconds of the audio 

recording.   

 

  

PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR 

 

 There were no comments during privilege of the floor. 

 

SCHEDULING OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

 

 No committee meeting scheduled at this time.   

 

ACCEPTANCE OF COMMUNICATIONS 
Minutes of December 29, 2021 Board of Aviation Commissioners Meeting 

Minutes of December 14, 2021 Board of Public Safety Meeting 

Minutes of January 4, 2022 Board of Public Works Meeting 

Minutes of December 9, 2021 Board of Zoning Meeting 

Minutes of November 18, 2021 Historic Commission Meeting 

Minutes of December 8, 2021 Lerner Theatre Board Meeting 

Minutes of December 21, 2021 Park Board Meeting 

Minutes of October 27, 2021 Stormwater Board Meeting 

Report of Parks Department for January 2022 

 

 Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to accept communications, 

which motion carried, by voice vote, and the communications were accepted. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 Councilwoman Hines, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved for adjournment, which motion 

carried unanimously, by voice vote, and the meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk    Arvis Dawson  

       President of the Elkhart City Council 



DRAFT 

 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

OF FEBRUARY 14, 2022 

 

Present: Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Kevin Bullard, Brent Curry, Brian Thomas, Aaron Mishler, Tonda 

Hines, Megan Baughman, Dwight Fish, David Henke  

    

Absent: None  

 

 This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx and live-streamed 

on Facebook. All Council Members were present in Council Chambers.  

 

 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 

229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart.   

 

 James Gardner led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance and President Dawson asked for a 

moment of silent reflection. 

  

 The clerk called the roll.   

 

 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Minutes of January 10, 2022 Council Meeting 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to approve the minutes.  Motion made by Councilman Fish and 

seconded by Councilwoman Hines. 

By a unanimous voice vote of 9-0, the minutes were approved. 

 

  

PRESENTATIONS AND INTRODUCTIONS 

 

 There were no presentations or introductions. 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

REPORTS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES 

  

 There were no Council committee reports. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

2 

 

ORDINANCES ON SECOND-THIRD READING 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-03 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 4099, “AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 

ORDINANCE NO. 3116, ESTABLISHING THE RULES AND REGULATIONS 

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

ELKHART, INDIANA, AND ITS MEMBERS” AND ESTABLISHING RULES 

FOR THE COUNCIL MEMBERS TO PARTICIPATE IN COUNCIL MEETINGS 

BY MEANS OF ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS.   

  

 The clerk read the proposed Ordinance, 22-O-03 by title only.  President Dawson asked for a 

motion to approve ordinance.  Motion to approve on second reading was made by Councilman Henke 

and seconded by Councilwoman Hines.  President Dawson opened the floor for council discussion. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-03 

 Councilman Henke comments start at 14 minutes and 01 seconds of the audio recording.  

 Councilman Bullard comments start at 14 minutes and 40 seconds of the audio recording.  

 Councilman Fish comments start at 15 minutes and 47 seconds of the audio recording.  During 

his comments he made a motion to amend the ordinance.  His amendment is to change the language in 

Section 5 Paragraph 3, from 2/3 majority to simple majority.  Motion was seconded by Councilwoman 

Hines.   

 Councilman Henke comments on the amendment starting at 16 minutes and 23 seconds of the 

audio recording.  President Dawson asked Councilman Fish to restate his motion starting at 18 minutes 

and 03 seconds of the audio recording.   

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call.  Roll Call was as follows: 

 

AYES:  Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS:  Bullard, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 

By a vote of 5-4, the amendment passed. 

   

 Councilman Henke comments starting at 19 minutes and 09 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

3 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-03 

 President Dawson opened public comments.  There were no public comments. President Dawson 

returned the comments to the Council and seeing that there were no additional comments from the 

Council, he asked the clerk to call the roll.  Roll call was as follows: 

 

AYES:  Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS:  Bullard, Baughman, Henke 

By a vote of 6-3, the proposed ordinance as amended passed on second reading. 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to move ordinance as amended to third and final reading.  Motion 

by Councilman Thomas and seconded by Councilman Mishler.  There were no further discussions on 

this proposed ordinance.   

 

The clerk read the proposed Ordinance, 22-O-02 by title only.  President Dawson asked the clerk to call 

the roll.  Roll call was as follows: 

 

AYES:  Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS:  Bullard, Baughman, Henke 

By a vote of 6-3 the ordinance was adopted as amended. 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-04 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO ESTABLISH RESPONSIBLE BIDDING PRACTICES AND 

SUBMISSIONS REQUIREMENTS ON PUBLIC WORKS PROJECTS 

 

 The clerk read proposed Ordinance 22-O-04 by title only.  President Dawson asked for a motion 

to approve on second reading.  Motion to approve was made by Councilman Mishler and seconded by 

Councilman Fish.   

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-04 

 Councilman Henke comments start at 21 minutes and 59 seconds of the audio recording.  His 

comments were meant for proposed Resolution 22-R-04.   

 There were no further council comments. 

 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-04 

 President Dawson opened public comments.  Marcella Kunstek, Senior Construction Analyst 

for Indiana, Illinois and Iowa Foundation for Fair Contracting (IIIFFC), speaks in favor of 

ordinance.  Her comments start at 22 minutes and 53 seconds of the audio recording.  James Gardner 

speaks in favor of the ordinance.  His comments start at 24 minutes and 36 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 Seeing that there were no further public comments, President Dawson returned the comments to 

the council.   

 



   

 

4 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-04 

 Councilman Fish comments start at 27 minutes and 15 seconds of the audio recording. 

 Councilman Henke comments start at 28 minutes and 10 seconds of the audio recording. 

 Tory Irwin, Public Works Director, responds to Councilman Henke at 29 minutes and 12 

seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Mishler comments start at 30 minutes and 44 seconds of 

the audio recording.  Councilman Bullard comments start at 31 minutes and 46 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 Seeing that there were no further comments from the council, President Dawson asked the clerk 

to call the roll.  Roll Call was as follows: 

 

 AYES:  Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

 NAYS:  Bullard 

 By a vote of 8-1, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading.  

 

 The clerk read proposed Ordinance 22-O-04 by title only.  President Dawson asked for a motion 

to approve on third and final reading.  Motion made by Councilwoman Hines and seconded by 

Councilman Fish.  Roll Call was as follows: 

 

 AYES:  Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

 NAYS:  Bullard 

 By a vote of 8-1, the proposed ordinance was adopted.  

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-05 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED PURSUANT TO 

ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA,” AS AMENDED, TO REZONE 1637, 1643, AND 1649 W. INDIANA AVENUE 

IN THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA FROM R-3, TWO-FAMILY DWELLING 

DISTRICT TO R-2, ONE-FAMILY DWELLING DISTRICT   

 

 The clerk read proposed Ordinance 22-O-05 by title only.  President Dawson asked for a motion 

to approve on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Curry and seconded by Councilman Henke.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

5 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-05 

 President Dawson opened council comments.  Councilman Henke comments start at 35 minutes 

and 03 seconds of the audio recording.  Seeing that there were no further council comments, President 

Dawson moved to public discussion. 

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSIONON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-05 

 President Dawson opened public comments.  Eric Trotter, Assistant Director of Planning, 

comments starting at 35 minutes and 32 seconds of the audio recording.  Chris Marbach, Surveying 

and Mapping formerly Marbach comments starting at 36 minutes and 47 seconds of the audio 

recording.  Councilman Fish asked a question of Chris Marbach.  His comments start at 37 minutes and 

30 seconds of the audio recording.  Chris Marbach answers the question at 37 minutes and 37 seconds of 

the audio recording.  Seeing that there were no further public comments, President Dawson asked the 

clerk to do a roll call vote.  Roll Call was as follows: 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

By a unanimous vote of 9-0, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

 President Dawson asked for a motion to approve on third and final reading.  Motion made by 

Councilman Mishler and seconded by Councilman Fish.   

 

 The clerk read the proposed Ordinance 22-O-05 by title only.  The clerk did a roll call vote.  The 

Roll Call vote was as follows: 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

By a unanimous vote of 9-0, the proposed ordinance was adopted.   

 

 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES: 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-46  
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND AND 00\100 

DOLLARS ($500,000) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY 

FUND TO THE NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT FOR THE 

HOMEOWNER-OCCUPIED PROPERTY REHABILITATION PROGRAM 

 

President Dawson stated proposed Ordinance 21-O-46 remains in committee.  Councilman 

Bullard comments starting at 39 minutes and 20 seconds of the audio recording.  President Dawson 

responds to Councilman Bullard starting at 39 minutes and 46 seconds of the audio recording,   

 

 

 

 



   

 

6 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-49 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING THREE HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO 

THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED AND FIFTY DOLLARS ($322,350.00) FROM 

THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE 

NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT FOR THE ELKHART THRIVE 

NEIGHBORHOOD OPPORTUNITY HUB INITIATIVE 

 

President Dawson stated proposed Ordinance 21-O-49 remains in committee. 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-67 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FOUR MILLION TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($4,200,000.00) FOR THE DESIGN OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

FOR THE NEW PUBLIC SAFETY FACILITIES OF THE ELKHART POLICE 

DEPARTMENT AND ELKHART FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

        President Dawson stated proposed Ordinance 21-O-67 remains in committee.  

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-68-R 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) 

FOR LAND ACQUISITION IN CONNECTION WITH THE NEW PUBLIC 

SAFETY FACILITIES FOR THE ELKHART POLICE DEPARTMENT AND 

ELKHART FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

 President Dawson stated proposed Ordinance, 21-O-68-R remains in committee.  

 

TABLED ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-57-R 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) FROM 

THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE PROVISION 

OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES ACCOUNT FOR UPGRADES TO THE LERNER 

THEATRE HEATING, VENTILATION AND AIR CONDITIONING SYSTEM 

 

 President Dawson stated the proposed Ordinance 21-O-57-R remains tabled. 

 

 

 

 



   

 

7 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-01 

 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL ESTATE COMMONLY KNOWN AS 25610 

COUNTY ROAD 4, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA AND 52396 COUNTY ROAD 9, 

ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA AND DECLARING THE SAME TO BE A PART OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA.   (LD Elkhart IN Landlord, LLC, petitioner) 

 

 President Dawson stated the proposed Ordinance 22-O-01 remains tabled. 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

ORDINANCES ON FIRST READING 

 There are no ordinances for first reading. 

 

 

RESOLUTIONS 

 

Resolution #R-04-22 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, 

DECLARING A CERTAIN AREA TO BE AN ECONOMIC REVIALIZATION AREA FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN BENEFITS TO MARSON 

INTERNATIONAL LLC 

 

 The clerk read proposed Resolution 22-R-04 by title only.  President Dawson asked for a motion 

to adopt this resolution.  Motion by Councilman Fish and seconded by Councilman Mishler.  

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-04 

  President Dawson opened Council discussion.  Councilman Henke comments start at 43 

minutes and 08 seconds of the audio recording.  Kristen Smole, Economic Development, comments 

starting at 43 minutes and 31 seconds of the audio recording.   

 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-04 

 President Dawson opened public comments.  Leighton Johnson, Senior Director of 

Workforce Solutions from the South Bend/Elkhart Regional Partnerships comments start at 45 

minutes and 36 seconds of the audio recording.  Seeing that there were no further comments from the 

public, President Dawson moved the comments back to the council.   

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

8 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-04 

 President Dawson opened Council discussion.  Councilman Thomas comments start at 48 

minutes and 27 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Henke comments start at 49 minutes and 

33 seconds of the audio recording.   

 President Dawson asked the clerk to call the roll.  Roll Call was as follows: 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS:   

By a unanimous vote of 9-0, the resolution was adopted. 

 

 

Resolution #R-05-22 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, 

DECLARING A CERTAIN AREA TO BE AN ECONOMIC REVIALIZATION AREA FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN BENEFITS FOR PONTOONSTUFF, 

INC.\MMM REALTY LLC\LEGACY PLASTICS LLC 

 

 The clerk read proposed Resolution 22-R-05 by title only.  President Dawson asked for a motion 

to adopt this resolution.  Motion made by Councilman Mishler and seconded by Councilwoman Hines. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-05 

 President Dawson opened Council discussion.  No comments were made by the council.  

 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-05 

 President Dawson opened public comments.  Kristen Smole, Economic Development, 

comments starting at 51 minutes and 43 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilwoman Baughman 

asked a question to the representative from Pontoonstuff.  Her comments start at 53 minutes and 07 

seconds of the audio recording. Answer is given by James Morgan, CEO, starting at 52 minutes and 27 

seconds of the audio recording.   Councilman Henke comments start at 54 minutes and 38 seconds of 

the audio recording.  Stephanie Kabel, Director of Business Retention and Expansion from the EDC 

of Elkhart County, comments start at 55 minutes and 37 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman 

Bullard comments start at 57 minutes and 00 seconds of the audio recording.  Kristen Smole comments 

starting at 57 minutes and 48 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Mishler comment start at 58 

minutes and 21 seconds of the audio recording.   

 President Dawson asked the clerk to call the roll.  Roll Call was as follows: 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS:   

By a unanimous vote of 9-0 the resolution was adopted. 

 

 

   

 



   

 

9 

 

VACATION HEARINGS 
 

 There were no vacation hearings. 

 

 

OTHER NEW BUSINESS 
 

COUNCIL COMMENTS/ISSUES 

  Councilman Henke talks his concerns in returning calls, meeting with investors.  His comments 

start at 59 minutes and 37 seconds of the audio recording.   

 Councilman Bullard talks about the e-scooters.  His comments start at 1 hour, 01 minutes and 

33 seconds of the audio recording.   

   

 

REPORTS OF THE MAYOR, BOARD OF WORKS, BOARD OF SAFETY OR  

CITY DEPARTMENT HEADS 
 Bradley Tracy, Chief of Staff, gave an update on the Great Lakes Valley event that was held at 

the aquatic center and House Bill 1002.  His comments start at 1 hour, 03 minutes and 19 seconds of the 

audio recording.   

 Tory Irwin, Public Works Director, talked about a notice that they received from the EPA.  

His comments start at 1 hour, 04 minutes and 33 seconds of the audio recording. 

 Dana Bennett, Director of Development Services, talks about Suzanne’s Kitchen.  Her 

comments start at 1 hour, 06 minutes and 11 seconds of the audio recording. 

 Kristen Smole, Economic Development, talks about the small business grants. Her comments 

start at 1 hour, 06 minutes and 52 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Mishler asked a question 

of Kristen.  His comments start at 1 hour, 09 minutes and 50 seconds of the audio recording.  She 

responds to the question starting at 1 hour, 10 minutes and 00 seconds of the audio recording.  

Councilman Henke asked a question of Kristen. His comments start at 1 hour, 10 minutes and 27 

seconds of the audio recording.  She responds to the question starting at 1 hour, 10 minutes and 44 

seconds of the audio recording.   

Councilman Bullard asked some of the council members about their trip to Indianapolis and suggested 

that the tax payers should have a little report about the AIM dinner that they attended.  His comments 

start at 1 hour, 12 minutes and 44 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Mishler responds to the 

request starting at 1 hour, 13 minutes and 19 seconds of the audio recording.  Councilman Fish also 

responds starting at 1 hour, 14 minutes and 08 seconds of the audio recording.  President Dawson 

responds starting at 1 hour, 15 minutes and 21 seconds of the audio recording.   

 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION REPORTS 
 Councilman Curry gives an update on Pierre Moran Neighborhood Association starting at 1 

hour, 16 minutes and 09 seconds of the audio recording.   

 Councilman Fish gives an update on restarting the Hudson/Sterling Neighborhood Association 

starting at 1 hour, 17 minutes and 00 seconds of the audio recording.   

 

 

 



   

 

10 

 

PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR 

 

 There were no comments during privilege of the floor. 

 

 

SCHEDULING OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

 

 Finance Committee Meeting Of-The-Whole for Monday February 28, 2022 at 6pm.   

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF COMMUNICATIONS 
Minutes of January 18, 2022 Board of Public Works 

Minutes of January 3, 2022 Plan Commission 

American Rescue Plan Compliance Report 

Budget Encumbrances from 2021 to 2022 

 

 Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to accept communications, 

which motion carried, by voice vote, and the communications were accepted. 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 Motion by Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved for adjournment, which 

motion carried unanimously, by voice vote, and the meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk    Arvis Dawson  

       President of the Elkhart City Council 



Page 1 of 1 

M E M O R A N D U M

DATE:  March 2, 2022 

TO: Common Council 

FROM: Corporation Counsel John Espar 

RE: Proposed Ordinance No. 22-O-06 

Vacation Petition No. 21-V-06 

Tolson Center Inc., Petitioner 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING WAGNER AVENUE, BETWEEN THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY
LINE OF BENHAM AVENUE AND THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF CHESTER STREET,
A PUBLIC WAY WITHIN ELKHART, INDIANA  

Petitioner, Tolson Center Inc., filed a petition to vacate Wagner Avenue, between the east right-of-way line 
of Benham Avenue and the west right-of-way line of Chester Street, a public way.  

This Council conducted a public hearing on December 6, 2021. 

The attached materials were previously provided to the Council with the original petition and are included 
here for ease of reference. Any interested property owner comments or objections are likewise included, 
together with any departmental responses in connection with the petition. 

Proposed Ordinance No. 22-O-06 presents to the Council for its consideration, an ordinance to grant the 
petition, vacate the public way, while preserving any easements for any public utilities situated within the 
vacated property.

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-06



Page 1 of 7 

 

 

        

Proposed Ordinance No.  22-O-6 

 

ORDINANCE NO. __________ 

 
AN ORDINANCE VACATING WAGNER AVENUE, BETWEEN THE EAST RIGHT-
OF-WAY LINE OF BENHAM AVENUE AND THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF 

CHESTER STREET, A PUBLIC WAY WITHIN ELKHART, INDIANA  
_______________________________________ 

 

WHEREAS, a municipality has the exclusive right to vacate any street, alley or other public 

way within its corporate boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code 36-7-3-12, permits a person who owns or has an interest in any 

lot or partial lot, and who wants to vacate all or part of a public way or public place contiguous to 

the lot, to file a petition for vacation with the legislative body of a municipality within whose 

corporate boundaries all or any part of the public place or way is located; and 

WHEREAS, Tolson Center Inc., (the “Petitioner”) is the owner of 1320 Benham Avenue, 

Elkhart, Indiana, further identified by Parcel Identification No. 20-06-08-280-034.000-012, and an 

unassigned lot on Wagner Ave., Elkhart, IN at the S/E corner of Wagner & Chester Street, Elkhart, 

IN, property contiguous to all or part of the public way generally described as Wagner Avenue, 

between the east right-of-way line of Benham Avenue and the west right of way line of Chester 

Street, a public way within the City of Elkhart, Indiana; and  

WHEREAS, Petitioner filed Vacation Petition No. 21-V-06 with the Common Council of 

the City of Elkhart (the “Common Council”) requesting that the Council vacate a portion the public 



Page 2 of 7 

way generally described as Wagner Avenue, between the east right-of-way line of Benham Avenue 

and the west right of way line of Chester Street, in the City of Elkhart, Indiana, and 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code 36-1-11-4.3 provides that a sale or transfer of a land containing 

a public easement or right of way does not deprive a public utility of the use of all or part of the 

public easement or right of way that is sold or transferred if, at the time of the sale or transfer, the 

public utility is occupying and using all or part of that public easement or right of way for the 

location and operation of its facilities; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Indiana Code 36-7-3-12, the Common Council held a public 

hearing on December 6, 2021, at which time information was presented by the Petitioner 

supporting the petition to vacate said public way and by any interested parties, including any 

aggrieved persons objecting to it. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. After considering the information presented at the public hearing, together 

with the information submitted to the Council in connection with the petition and any other 

information presented at the public hearing and any subsequent public meeting of the Council, the 

Common Council hereby finds and determines: 

A. That the vacation will not hinder the growth or orderly development of the unit or 

neighborhood in which it is located or to which it is contiguous; and  

B. That the vacation will not make access to the lands of any aggrieved person by 

means of public way difficult or inconvenient; and 

C. That the vacation will not hinder the public’s access to a church, school, or other 

public building or place; and 



Page 3 of 7 

D. That the vacation will not hinder the use of a public way by the neighborhood in 

which it is located or to which it is contiguous; and  

E. That one or more public utilities are currently occupying and using all or part of 

area; and 

F. That this proposed vacation shall neither diminish nor deprive such public utilities’ 

right to use all or part of the vacated area and an easement for the same shall continue, the 

vacation notwithstanding. 

Section 2. Subject to any public utility easements, the public property specifically 

described below and depicted in “Exhibit A,” attached hereto, is hereby vacated:  

A PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 8 IN TOWNSHIP 37 
NORTH, RANGE 5 EAST, CITY OF ELKHART, ELKHART TOWNSHIP, 
ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA. 
 
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 399 IN CHAPMAN'S 
ROSEDALE ADDITION TO THE CITY OF ELKHART; SAID PLAT BEING 
RECORDED IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY 
IN DEED RECORD 114, PAGE 586; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 52'54" 
WEST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LOTS 399 THROUGH 412, INCLUSIVE 
IN CHAPMAN'S ROSEDALE ADDITION AND LOT 415 IN BENHAM 
AVENUE REPLAT OF CHAPMAN'S ROSEDALE ADDITION (PLAT BOOK 
1, PAGE 101), A DISTANCE OF 753.12 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 45 DEGREES 
17'26" WEST, 13.98 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE 
OF BENHAM AVENUE; THENCE NORTH OD DEGREES 33'09" WEST 
ALONG SAID EAST LINE, 66.06 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 58 DEGREES 
08'13" EAST, 11.78 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 382 IN SAID 
BENHAM AVENUE REPLAT OF CHAPMAN'S ROSEDALE ADDTION; 
THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 52'54" EAST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF 
SAID LOT 382 AND THE SOUTH LINE OF LOTS 385 THROUGH 398, 
INCLUSIVE IN SAID CHAPMAN'S ROSEDALE ADDITION, 753.26 FEET TO 
THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 398; THENCE SOUTH 00 
DEGREES 29'00" EAST, 50.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
CONTAINING 38,225 SQUARE FEET OR 0.88 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 
BEING SUBJECT TO ANY EASEMENTS, RESTRICTIONS OR RIGHTS OF 
WAY OF RECORD. 
 



Page 4 of 7 

Section 3. Pursuant to Indiana Code 36-7-3-14 (a), the vacated area being part of 

platted land, the descriptions of the lots and parcels of that land shall be preserved as set forth in 

the plat, with the proportionate parts of the area added as provided by law, unless all the owners 

of land in the vacated area consent in writing to the description of the area by: 

(1) the method used before the plat was made; 

(2) metes and bounds; or 

(3) other appropriate description. 

Section 4. The Clerk shall furnish a copy of this Ordinance to the Elkhart County 

Recorder for recording and to the Elkhart County Auditor. 

Section 5. This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor according to law.  

 
[Signature pages follow] 

  



Page 5 of 7 

ORDAINED this _______ day of _________________, ______. 
 
     ______________________________________ 
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 

 
ATTEST: 

 
By: ___________________________________ 
 Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)  § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, Angela McKee, Notary Public in and for said County and State, on this _____ 
day of ________________, ______, personally appeared Arvis Dawson in his capacity as 
President of the Elkhart Common Council and Debra D. Barrett in her capacity as Elkhart City 
Clerk and acknowledged the execution of the foregoing Ordinance No. _________ as the duly 
authorized act of the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana for the purposes stated 
therein.  

 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this _________ day of _______________________, 

______. 
 

___________________________  
Angela McKee, Notary Public 
Resident of Elkhart County 
My Commission Number: NP0738730 
My Commission Expires: January 25, 2030 
 

SEAL 



Page 6 of 7 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at 
______ a.m./p.m. 
 
 
     _______________________________________ 
     Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
 APPROVED by me this ____ day of _______________________, ______. 
 
 
     _________________________________________ 
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk  
 

 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)  § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, Angela McKee, Notary Public in and for said County and State, on this _____ 
day of ________________, ______, personally appeared Rod Roberson in his capacity as Elkhart 
City Mayor and Debra D. Barrett in her capacity as Elkhart City Clerk and acknowledged the 
execution of the foregoing Ordinance No. ______ as the duly authorized act of the Mayor of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana for the purposes stated therein.  

 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this _________ day of _______________________, 

______. 
 

___________________________  
Angela McKee, Notary Public 
Resident of Elkhart County 
My Commission Number: NP0738730 
My Commission Expires: January 25, 2030 

SEAL 



Page 7 of 7 

EXECUTED AND DELIVERED in my presence: 
 
___________________________  
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)  § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, Angela McKee, Notary Public in and for said County and State, personally 
appeared Debra D. Barrett in her capacity as Elkhart City Clerk, who being personally known to 
me as the Elkhart City Clerk, and whose name is subscribed as a witness to the foregoing 
instrument, being duly sworn by me, deposes and says that the foregoing instrument was executed 
and delivered by Arvis Dawson, as President of the Elkhart Common Council and Rod Roberson, 
as Mayor of the City of Elkhart, in the above-named subscribing witness’s presence, and that the 
above-named subscribing witness is a disinterested person as defined by law.  

 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this _________ day of _______________________, 

______. 

___________________________  
Angela McKee, Notary Public 
Resident of Elkhart County 
My Commission Number: NP0738730 
My Commission Expires: January 25, 2030 
 

 

This document was prepared by John M. Espar, Attorney No. 20758-46, as Corporation Counsel 
for the City of Elkhart, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana 46516. I affirm, under the penalties 
for perjury, that I have taken reasonable care to redact each Social Security number in this 
document, unless required by law.  John M. Espar 

 

SEAL 

















Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-06 

 
 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
DATE:  3/2/2022 

TO:  Common Council 

FROM: Corporation Counsel John Espar  

RE: Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-06  
Resolution Confirming the Designation of an Economic Revitalization Area for Purposes 
of Granting Tax Phase-In Benefits to Marson International LLC 
 

 

This Proposed Resolution relates to the Application for Property Tax Phase-In submitted by Marson 
International LLC for which this Council previously declared an Economic Revitalization Area under 
Resolution No. R-04-22 at the public meeting held on February 14, 2022. 

This Proposed Resolution 22-R-06 confirms the declaration of an Economic Revitalization Area within 
which Marson International LLC proposes to make certain real property and personal property investments 
to increase economic development in the area and in exchange for which Marson International LLC seeks 
to receive tax phase-in benefits.

 



Page 1 of 3 

Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-06 

 RESOLUTION NO.   

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, CONFIRMING RESOLUTION NO. R-04-22, WHICH DECLARED A 

CERTAIN AREA IN THE CITY OF ELKHART TO BE AN ECONOMIC 
REVITALIZATION AREA FOR THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN 

BENEFITS TO MARSON INTERNATIONAL LLC  

WHEREAS, on February 14, 2022, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart (the 
"Common Council"), approved and adopted Resolution No. R-04-22, a resolution entitled “A 
Resolution of the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, Declaring a Certain Area to be 
an Economic Revitalization Area For the Purpose of Granting Tax Phase-in Benefits to Marson 
International LLC ” (the "Declaratory Resolution"); and 

WHEREAS, the Declaratory Resolution found and determined that a certain area in the 
City of Elkhart (the "Area") was an economic revitalization area within the meaning of Indiana 
Code 6-1.1-12.1, (the "Act") for the purpose of allowing deductions from the assessed value of the 
real estate improvements (the “Project”) and from the assessed value of the manufacturing 
equipment (the “New Equipment”) in the Area; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.5(b) of the Act, the Common Council filed the 
Declaratory Resolution with the Elkhart County Assessor; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.5(c)(1) of the Act, the Common Council published 
notice of the adoption and substance of the Declaratory Resolution in accordance with Indiana 
Code 5-3-1 (the “Notice”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.5(c)(2) of the Act, the Common Council filed a copy of 
the Notice and a copy of the Statement of Benefits form filed by Marson International LLC, with 
the officers of the taxing units who are authorized to fix budgets, tax rates and tax levies in the 
Area; and 

WHEREAS, at a public hearing held by the Common Council on this date, March 7, 2022, 
at the City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana, the Common Council heard all persons 
interested in the proceedings and received any written remonstrances and objections, and 
considered those remonstrances and objections, if any, and such other evidence presented; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council now desires to take final action and confirm the 
necessary findings in accordance with Section 2.5, Section 3 and Section 4.5 of the Act; 



Page 2 of 3 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana, as follows: 

1. After considering the evidence presented at the public hearing on this date, March 7, 
2022, the Common Council hereby finds that the Declaratory Resolution should be, and hereby is, 
confirmed in its entirety and without modification. 

2.  This Resolution constitutes final action, pursuant to Section 2.5(c) of the Act, by the 
Common Council determining the public utility and benefit of the Project and the New Equipment 
in the Area, confirming the Declaratory Resolution, and declaring the Area an economic 
revitalization area pursuant to the Act. 

 RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, ______. 

 
____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at  
  a.m./p.m. 
 

 
_____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, ______. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
  



Page 3 of 3 

STATE OF INDIANA ) 
)  § 

COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 
I, Debra D. Barrett, Clerk of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, do hereby certify the above is a 

full, true and complete copy of Resolution No. R-____, adopted by the Common Council on the    
  day of   , ______, by a vote of _______ AYES and _______ NAYS, and was 
approved and signed by the Mayor on the ______ day of    , ______, and now 
remains on file and on record in my office. 

 
WITNESS my hand and the official seal of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, this ____ day of 

____________________, ______. 

 
 

__________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 

 
 
 
 



Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-07 

 
 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
DATE:  3/2/2022 

TO:  Common Council 

FROM: Corporation Counsel John Espar  

RE: Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-07  
 A Resolution Approving the Memoranda of Agreements with Marson International LLC 

for Tax Phase-In Benefits 
  

 

 

This resolution relates to the Application for Property Tax Phase-In submitted by Marson International LLC 
which was first considered by this Council at its public meeting held on March 7, 2022. 

Proposed Resolution 22-R-07 approves the corresponding agreements by which Marson International LLC 
will enjoy tax phase-in benefits for the real property and personal property investments made in the 
economic revitalization area. Each Memorandum of Agreement likewise establishes the legal 
responsibilities and legal obligations imposed upon Marson International LLC in exchange for the tax 
phase-in benefits granted by the City.

 



Page 1 of 2 
 

 
Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-07 

 
RESOLUTION NO. ________ 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, TO APPROVE TWO MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE 
CITY OF ELKHART AND MARSON INTERNATIONAL LLC  

______________________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, Marson International LLC, (hereinafter, the “Applicant”) has filed an 

application with the City of Elkhart (the “City”) requesting that the property commonly known as 

3630 Manchester Drive, Elkhart, IN 46514, be designated as an economic revitalization area by 

the Common Council of the City of Elkhart (the “Common Council”), in accordance with Indiana 

Code 6.1-1.1-12.1, for the purpose of allowing deductions from the assessed value of the proposed 

real estate improvements (the “Project”) and the proposed installation of manufacturing equipment 

(the “New Equipment”) in the proposed economic revitalization area; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s Tax Abatement Policy requires that the Applicant\Property Owner 

(jointly and severally, if not the same entity), enter into a written agreement agreeing: (i) to comply 

with the project description, (ii) to create and retain a certain number of jobs along with the 

associated wages rates and salaries (as shown in its Application), and (iii) to comply with its 

Statement of Benefits forms and any other documents submitted in support of its Application; and 

WHEREAS, a Memorandum of Agreement (Real Property) and a Memorandum of 

Agreement (Personal Property) have been prepared and presented to the Common Council for the 

Project and the New Equipment, respectively, which Agreements govern the relationship between 

the City and the Applicant\Property Owner during the term of the tax abatement; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council believes that it is in the best interest of the City to enter 

into these agreements. 



Page 2 of 2 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, that the attached Memorandum of Agreement (Real Property) 

and the attached Memorandum of Agreement (Personal Property) to be entered into between the 

City and the Applicant\Property Owner are hereby approved by the Common Council. 

 RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, _______. 
 

 
____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, _______, at  

  a.m./p.m.  

      _____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, ______. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 



 

Page 1 of 10 
 

 MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

Real Estate 

This Memorandum of Agreement (“Agreement”) serves as a confirmation of the good-faith 
commitment by Marson International LLC, (hereinafter, the “Applicant”) to use its reasonable best efforts 
to implement the Project as described, to create and retain the jobs and pay the wages specified in the 
Applicant’s Property Tax Phase-In Application for designation of certain real property as an Economic 
Revitalization Area, (“Application”), and the Statement of Benefits Real Property Improvement (Form SB-
1 Real Property), herein after “Statement of Benefits”), and to fulfill its obligations set forth within this 
Agreement (“Applicant's Commitment”). 

 
 1. Commitments of City and Applicant:  
 
  (a) Subject to the requirements under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-3, the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana ("City"), acting by and through its Common Council, agrees to approve a deduction from the 
assessed value of the proposed development of the real estate for three (3) years (consecutive) on the 
Applicant’s real property commonly known as 3630 Manchester Drive, Elkhart, IN 46514 (hereinafter, the 
“Subject Property”), which is more specifically described in Exhibit A of this Agreement. The amount of 
the deduction from the assessed value of the Subject Property shall be according to the deduction schedule 
shown in Exhibit B of this Agreement (hereinafter, the “Tax Phase-In”). The Tax Phase-In shall start with 
the first year in which the assessed value of the Subject Property increases because of the proposed 
development. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the designation of the Subject Property as an 
economic revitalization area expires on December 31, 2023, and the Project (as hereafter defined) must be 
completed by then in order for the Applicant to be or remain eligible to receive the Tax Phase-In benefits. 
 
  (b) Subject to Section 4 herein, the Applicant agrees that by December 31, 2022, it will 
make a total capital expenditure of One Million ($1,000,000.00) to improve the Subject Property with 
acquisition of existing structure and building improvements and related improvements at the Subject 
Property (the “Project”), which will create at least 10 new full-time permanent positions with an average 
annual salary of no less than $49,920.00, while retaining 0 jobs with an average annual salary of no less 
than , based on two thousand forty hours (2,040) annually. The Applicant further agrees to contribute fifteen 
percent (15%) of the amount of real property taxes abated under the Tax Phase-In, which payment will be 
collected by the Elkhart County Treasurer as set forth in the tax invoice statement and remitted to the City. 
Payment of the contribution shall (1) coincide with the due date of property tax payments in Elkhart County 
as set forth in Indiana Code 6-1.1-22-9(a), and (2) shall be due and payable the first time in the year 
following the first year in which the assess value of the subject property increases by reason of the Project 
and shall continue and each year thereafter during the term of the Tax Phase-In deduction period set forth 
in Exhibit B, unless modified by agreement of the City of Elkhart and the Applicant.  
   

2. Applicant’s Compliance with City and State Laws: During the term of the Tax Phase-In, the 
Applicant shall use its good-faith efforts to comply with all applicable provisions of Indiana Code 6-1.1-
12.1. Also, during the term of the Tax Phase-In, the City may annually request information from the 
Applicant concerning the nature of the Project, the costs of the Project and the amount of and average wages 
for the jobs, and the Applicant shall provide the City with adequate written evidence thereof within fifteen 
(15) days of such request ("Annual Survey"). The City shall utilize this information and the information 
provided by the Applicant in the CF-1 Compliance with the Statement of Benefits form to verify that the 
Applicant has complied with the obligations contained in Applicant's Commitment at all times after the 
date thereof until the expiration of the Tax Phase-In. The Applicant further agrees to provide the City with 
such additional information reasonably requested by the City related to the information provided in the 
Annual Survey and the CF-1 form within fifteen (15) days following any such additional request.  



 

Page 2 of 10 
 

 
3. Substantial Compliance and Rights of Termination: The City reserves the right to terminate the 

Economic Revitalization Area designation and the associated Tax Phase-In if it determines that the 
Applicant has not substantially complied with Applicant's Commitment, and the Applicant’s failure to 
substantially comply with Applicant's Commitment was not due to factors beyond its control. As used in 
this Agreement, substantial compliance shall mean: by December 31, 2022, (1) making capital expenditures 
of not less than Ninety-Five Percent (95%) of the capital expenditures referenced in Section 1 above for the 
Project, (2) creating not less than Ninety-five Percent (95%) of the jobs referenced in Section 1 above, and 
(3) those new jobs will have an average annual salary of at least $49,920.00, excluding benefits, while 
retaining the jobs referenced in Section 1 of this Agreement and at the specified average annual rate of pay.  

 
4. Factors Beyond Applicant's Control: As used in this Agreement, factors beyond the control of 

the Applicant shall only include factors that: (i) are not reasonably foreseeable at the time of designation, 
application, and submission of the Statement of Benefits; (ii) are not caused by any grossly negligent act or 
omission of the Applicant; and (iii) do not materially and adversely affect the ability of the Applicant to 
substantially comply with this Agreement.  

 
5. Repayment of Tax Phase-In Savings:  
 
 (a) During the term of this Agreement, if the Applicant: (i) is delinquent or in default 

for a period of sixty (60) days with respect to any tax payment due in Elkhart County, Indiana; or (ii) ceases 
operations at the facility for which the Tax Phase-In was granted for a period longer than thirty (30) 
consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations in the Applicant's normal course of 
business or as a result of a force majeure event); or (iii) announces the cessation of operations at such 
facility for a period longer than thirty (30) consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations 
in the Applicant's normal course of business or as a result of a force majeure event), then the City may 
terminate the Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits, and upon 
such termination, require the Applicant to repay all of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through the date 
of such termination, so long as it follows the procedures set forth in Section 7.  Such repayment of received 
benefits shall be calculated as provided in Section 5(b). The amount of benefit repayment shall be measured 
against the level of noncompliance. 

 
 (b) In the event the City terminates this Agreement in accordance with this Section 5, 

the Applicant will be required to repay only that percentage of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through 
the date of termination that is equal to the percentage of the Applicant's noncompliance with Section 1 
above, less the fifteen percent (15%) tax savings to the City. For purposes of this Agreement, the percentage 
of the Applicant's noncompliance with Section 1 above shall be calculated as follows: the amount of actual 
investment in each category (average annual salary, number of jobs, and personal property investment) 
shall be divided by the corresponding established amount for substantial compliance in that category to 
determine the compliance rate. The compliance rate then shall be subtracted from 100% to determine the 
percentage of noncompliance. The percentage of noncompliance shall equal the percentage of benefit 
repayment. 

 
Example: If an applicant promises 100 jobs, 95 jobs represent substantial compliance, and 85 jobs 

are created, then the percentage of benefit repayment is the following: 85 actual jobs 
created ÷ 95 jobs representing substantial compliance = 89.47% compliance rate. 100% 
- 89.47% compliance rate = 10.53% noncompliance rate 

  10.53% of received benefit will be repaid, less a credit for the 15% remitted to the 
City’s Tax Phase-In Development Fund. 

 



 

Page 3 of 10 
 

If the Applicant fails to achieve substantial compliance in more than one category, the category with the 
lowest compliance rate will be used to determine the repayment percentage. 

 
6. Assessment Appeals.  Neither the Applicant, nor its successors and assigns, shall file any 

property tax assessment appeal, review, or other challenge of the property tax assessment made for the 
Project involved during the term of the Tax Phase-In unless one of the following conditions occurs during 
the deduction period: 

 
 (a) the original assessment for the Project as determined by the Elkhart County Assessor 

(“Assessor”) is in excess of the total capital expenditure for the Project as set forth in Section 1 of this 
Agreement; or 

 
 (b) a trending assessment or a reassessment by the Assessor increases the assessment for 

the Project by more than fifteen percent (15%) from one year to the next year, or by more than an average 
of ten percent (10%) per year over two (2) or more years. 

 
7. Notice/Hearing of Termination: In the event that the City determines in accordance with Section 

5 above that (i) the Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits should 
be terminated or (ii) that all or a portion of the Tax Savings should be repaid, it will give the Applicant 
notice of such determination, including a written statement calculating the amount due from the Applicant, 
and will provide the Applicant with an opportunity to meet with the City’s designated representatives to 
show cause why the Tax Phase-In benefits should not be terminated and/or repaid. Such notice shall state 
the names of the person with whom the Applicant may meet and will provide that the Applicant shall have 
thirty (30) days from the date of such notice to arrange such meeting and to provide its evidence concerning 
why the Tax Phase-In benefits termination and/or repayment should not occur. If, after giving such notice 
and receiving such evidence, if any, the City determines that the Tax Phase-In termination and/or repayment 
action is proper, the Applicant shall be provided with written notice and a hearing before the Common 
Council. Before any final action shall be taken terminating the Tax Phase-In and/or requiring repayment of 
Tax Phase-In benefits, any such action shall be subject to judicial review under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-
5.9(e). 

 
8. Repayment: In the event the City requires repayment of the Tax Phase-In benefits as provided 

following the procedures set forth in Section 7 hereunder, it shall provide Applicant with a written statement 
calculating the amount due ("Statement"), and the Applicant shall repay its actual amount of Tax Phase-In 
benefits to the City within thirty (30) days of the date of the Statement. If the Applicant does not make 
timely repayment, the City shall be entitled to all reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in the 
enforcement and collection of the Tax Phase-In benefits required to be repaid hereunder. 

 
9. Modification/Entire Agreement: This Agreement and any schedules attached hereto contain the 

entire understanding between the City and the Applicant with respect to the subject matter hereof, and 
supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, inducements, and conditions, 
expressed or implied, oral or written, except as herein contained. This Agreement may not be modified or 
amended other than by an agreement in writing signed by the City and the Applicant. The Applicant 
understands that all filings required to be made or actions required to be taken to initiate or maintain the 
Tax Phase-In are solely the responsibility of the Applicant. 

 
10. Waivers: Neither the failure, nor any delay on the part of the City to exercise any right, remedy, 

power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial 
exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege preclude any other or further exercise of the same or of 
any other right, remedy, power or privilege with respect to any occurrence or be construed as a waiver of 



 

Page 4 of 10 
 

such right, remedy, power, or privilege with respect to any other occurrence. No waiver shall be effective 
unless it is in writing and is signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. 

 
11. Governing Laws of Indiana: This Agreement and all questions relating to its validity, 

interpretation, performance, and enforcement shall be governed by the laws and decisions of the courts of 
the State of Indiana. 

 
12. Applicant’s Consent to Jurisdiction: The Applicant hereby irrevocably consents to the 

jurisdiction of the Courts of the State of Indiana and of the Elkhart County Circuit or Superior Court in 
connection with any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any documents or 
instrument delivered with respect to any of the obligations hereunder, and any action related to this 
Agreement shall be brought in such County and in such Court. 

 
13. Notices: All notices, requests, demands, and other communications required or permitted under 

this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been received when delivered by hand, by 
facsimile (with confirmation by registered or certified mail), on the next business day following the mailing 
by a nationally recognized overnight commercial courier, or on the third business day following the mailing, 
by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, thereof, addressed as set forth 
below: 

 
If to Applicant: 
 
Marson International LLC 
Jason Newburn 
Vice President 
3230 Magnum Dr. 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
 

  
 

   
If to the City of Elkhart: 
 
Office of the Mayor 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516 
 

 Copy to: 
 
Elkhart Common Council 
c/o Administrative Assistant to the Council 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516 

   
14. Assignment and Transfer Prohibited: This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 

benefit of the City and the Applicant and their successors and assigns, except that no party may assign or 
transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
15. Valid and Binding Agreement: This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 

each of which shall be deemed to be an original as against any party whose signature appears thereon, and 
all of which shall together constitute one and the same instrument. By executing this Agreement, each party 
confirms that each person so executing it has been duly authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf of 
such party and that this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the party. 

 
16. Severability: The provisions of this Agreement and of each section or other subdivision herein 

are independent of and separable from each other, and no provision shall be affected or rendered invalid or 



 

Page 5 of 10 
 

unenforceable by virtue of the fact that for any reason any other or others of them may be invalid or 
unenforceable in whole or in part unless this Agreement is rendered totally unenforceable thereby. 

 
17. No Personal Liability: No official, director, officer, employee or agent of the City shall be 

charged personally by the Applicant, its employees or agents with any liabilities or expenses of defense or 
be held personally liable to the Applicant under any term or provision of this Agreement or because of the 
execution by such party of this Agreement or because of any default by such party hereunder. 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year 

first above written. 

APPLICANT: 
 
Marson International LLC 
3230 Magnum Dr. 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
 
By: 
 
      
Jason Newburn 
Vice President 
 
CITY OF ELKHART: 
 
By: 
 
      
Arvis Dawson 
President of the Elkhart Common Council 
 
 
By:     
 
      
Rod Roberson 
Mayor of the City of Elkhart 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
      
John M. Espar 
Corporation Counsel for the City of Elkhart 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 



 

Page 6 of 10 
 

Exhibit A 
Description of Real Property  

(Economic Revitalization Area and Project Area) 

 
Legal Description: 
 
TRACT 1:  
A PART OF THE NORTHEAST FRACTIONAL QUARTER (FR. NE L/4) SECTION TWO (2), 
TOWNSHIP THIRTY-SEVEN (37) NORTH, RANGE FOUR (4) EAST, ELKHART COUNTY, 
INDIANA AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID FRACTIONAL QUARTER 
SECTION; THENCE NORTH ZERO (0) DEGREES THREE (03) MINUTES WEST ALONG 
THE WEST LINE OF SAID FRACTIONAL QUARTER SECTION, ONE THOUSAND TWO 
HUNDRED EIGHTY-ONE AND TWENTY-THREE HUNDREDTHS (1281.23) FEET TO THE 
SOUTH LINE OF PENN CENTRAL RAILROAD, THE PLACE OF BEGINNING OF THIS 
DESCRIPTION;  
THENCE NORTH EIGHT-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-NINE (.59) MINUTES EAST, 
ALONG SOUTH LINE OF SAID RAILROAD, SIX HUNDRED EIGHT AND TWENTY-ONE 
HUNDREDTHS (608.21) FEET; THENCE DUE SOUTH FOUR HUNDRED THIRTY-EIGHT 
(438) FEET TO THE NORTH LINE OF LEXINGTON PARK DRIVE; THENCE SOUTH 
EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY -NINE (59) MINUTES WEST, ALONG THE NORTH 
LINE OF SAID DRIVE, TWENTY-EIGHT AND ONE HUNDREDTHS (28.01) FEET TO THE 
P.O.C. OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT WITH A RADIUS OF ONE HUNDRED EIGHTY (180) 
FEET; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE, ONE HUNDRED TWENTY-
TWO AND NINETY-NINE HUNDREDTHS (122.99) FEET TO A POINT ON CURVE; 
THENCE NORTH FORTY-FOUR (44) DEGREES SEVENTEEN (17) MINUTES THIRTY (30) 
SECONDS WEST, SIX HUNDRED SIXTY-EIGHT AND SIXTEEN HUNDREDTHS (668.16) 
FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING. 
TRACT 2:  
A PORT OF THE NORTHEAST FRACTIONAL QUARTER (FR. NE 1/4) OF SECTION TWO 
(2), TOWNSHIP THIRTY-SEVEN (37) NORTH, RANGE FOUR (4) EAST, ELKHART 
COUNTY, INDIANA AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID FRACTIONAL QUARTER 
SECTION; THENCE NORTH ZERO (0) DEGREES THREE (03) MINUTES WEST ALONG 
THE WEST LINE OF SAID FRACTIONAL QUARTER SECTION, ONE THOUSAND TWO 
HUNDRED EIGHTY-ONE AND TWENTY-THREE HUNDREDTHS (1281.23) FEET TO 
THE: SOUTH LINE OF PENN CENTRAL RAILROAD, THE PLACE OF BEGINNING OF 
THIS DESCRIPTION;  
THENCE SOUTH FORTY-FOUR (44) DEGREES SEVENTEEN (17) MINUTES THIRTY (30) 
SECONDS EAST, SIX HUNDRED SIXTY-EIGHT AND SIXTEEN HUNDREDTHS (668.16) 
FEET TO THE NORTH LINE OF LEXINGTON PARK DRIVE AND P.O.C. OF A CURVE 
SOUTHWESTERLY WITH A RADIUS OF ONE HUNDRED EIGHTY (180) FEET; THENCE 



 

Page 7 of 10 
 

SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE ONE HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO AND 
NINETY-NINE HUNDREDTHS (122.99) FEET TO POINT AN CURVE: THENCE SOUTH 
EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-NINE (59) MINUTES WEST FOUR HUNDRED 
THREE AND FOUR HUNDRED SEVENTY-FIVE THOUSANDTHS (405.475) FEET TO THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID FRACTIONAL QUARTER SECTION; THENCE NORTH ZERO (0) 
DEGREES THREE (3) MINUTES WEST, ALONG, THE WEST LINE OF SAID 
FRACTIONAL QUARTER SECTION, FIVE HUNDRED EIGHTY-ONE AND FIVE TENTHS 
(581.5) FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING. 
TRACT 3:  
PART OF THE FRACTIONAL NORTHWEST QUARTER (FR. NW 1/4) OF SECTION TWO 
(2), TOWNSHIP THIRTY-SEVEN (37) NORTH, RANGE FOUR (4) EAST, SITUATE IN 
CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, STATE OF INDIANA, AND BEING 
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE FRACTIONAL NORTHWEST 
QUARTER (FR. NW 1/4) OF SAID SECTION TWO (2); THENCE NORTH ZERO (0) 
DEGREES THREE (03) MINUTES WEST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE FRACTIONAL 
NORTHWEST QUARTER (FR. NW 1/ 4) OF SAID SECTION TWO (2) A DISTANCE OF 
FOUR HUNDRED EIGHTY-TWO AND NINETY-FOUR HUNDREDTHS (482.94) FEET TO 
ON IRON STAKE MARKING THE PLACE OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; 
THENCE SOUTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-EIGHT (58) MINUTES WEST A 
DISTANCE OF NINE HUNDRED FIFTY-FOUR AND NINETY- FOUR HUNDREDTHS 
(954.94) FEET TO ON IRON STAKE; THENCE NORTH ZERO (0) DEGREES ONE (01) 
MINUTE WEST DISTANCE OF TWO HUNDRED FORTY-SIX AND FIVE TENTHS (246.5) 
FEET TO A POINT; THENCE NORTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-EIGHT (58) 
MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF FOUR HUNDRED SEVENTY-SEVEN AND FORTY-
FIVE HUNDREDTHS (477.45) FEET TO POINT; THENCE NORTH ZERO (0) DEGREES 
THREE (03) MINUTES WEST DISTANCE OF FIVE HUNDRED FIFTY-ONE AND FIVE 
TENTHS (551.5) FEET TO AN IRON STAKE ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED RAIL CORPORATION (CONRAIL) RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE BEING 
THIRTY-THREE (33) FEET SOUTH OF THE CENTERLINE OF THE CONRAIL TRACK; 
THENCE NORTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-EIGHT (58) MINUTES EAST 
ALONG THE SOUTH RIGHT OF-WAY LINE OF SAID CONRAIL RIGHT-OF-WAY A 
DISTANCE OF FOUR HUNDRED SEVENTY-SEVEN AND THIRTY-FIVE HUNDREDTHS 
(477.35) FEET TO ON IRON STAKE ON THE EAST LINE OF THE FRACTIONAL 
NORTHWEST QUARTER (FR. NW 1/4) OF SAID SECTION TWO THENCE SOUTH ZERO 
(0) DEGREES 11-IREE (03) MINUTES EAST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE 
FRACTIONAL NORTHWEST QUARTER (FR. NW 1/4) OF SAID SECTION TWO (2) A 
DISTANCE OF SEVEN HUNDRED NINETY-EIGHT (798) FEET TO THE PLACE OF 
BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION. 
EXCEPTING FROM TRACTS 2 AND 3 ABOVE SO MUCH THEREOF AS WAS CONVEYED 
TO ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA FOR USE AS A PUBLIC HIGHWAY AND BOUNDED 
AND DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 



 

Page 8 of 10 
 

PART OF THE FRACTIONAL NORTH HALF (FR N L/2) OF SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 37 
NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, SITUATE IN CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, 
STATE OF INDIANA, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF THE NORTHEAST FRACTIONAL 
QUARTER (FR NE 1/4) OF SAID SECTION 2, SAID POINT BEING NORTH ZERO (0) 
DEGREES THREE (03) MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF SIX HUNDRED NINETY-NINE 
AND SEVENTY-THREE HUNDREDTHS (699.73) FEET FROM THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF THE NORTHEAST FRACTIONAL QUARTER (FR. NE 1/4) OF SAID SECTION 
TWO (2): THENCE NORTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY NINE (59) MINUTES 
EAST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF LAND DESCRIBED IN A DEED TO MANCHESTER 
TANK AND EQUIPMENT COMPANY, INC. (DEED RECORD 405, PAGE 475) A DISTANCE 
OF FOUR HUNDRED THREE AND FORTY-EIGHT HUNDREDTHS (403.48) FEET TO A 
POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF LEXINGTON PARK DRIVE: THENCE 
NORTHEASTWARDLY ALONG A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, SAID CURVE HAVING A 
RADIUS DISTANCE OF ONE HUNDRED EIGHTY (180) FEET AND ALONG THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID LEXINGTON PARK DRIVE A DISTANCE OF SIXTY-FIVE AND NINE 
HUNDREDTHS (65.09) FEET (CHORD: NORTH TWENTY-TWO (22) DEGREES THREE 
(03) MINUTES EAST SIXTY-FOUR AND SEVENTY-FOUR HUNDREDTH (64.74) FEET) 
TO POINT: THENCE SOUTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-NINE (59) MINUTES 
WEST A DISTANCE OF ONE THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED FORTY-THREE AND SIX 
HUNDREDTHS (1143.06) FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO THE 
RIGHT; THENCE NORTHWESTWARDLY ALONG SAID CURVE TO THE RIGHT 
(RADIUS - FORTY-FIVE (45) FEET), A DISTANCE OF TWENTY-SIX AND THIRTY-SIX 
HUNDREDTHS (26.36) FEET TO THE POINT OF REVERSE CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO 
THE LEFT; THENCE WESTWARDLY, SOUTHWARDLY AND EASTWARDLY ALONG SAID 
CURVE TO THE LEFT (RADIUS - FORTY-FIVE (45) FEET) A DISTANCE OF ONE 
HUNDRED NINETY-FOUR AND EIGHT HUNDREDTHS (194.08) FEET TO THE POINT 
OF REVERSE CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT; THENCE 
NORTHEASTWARDLY ALONG SAID CURVE TO THE RIGHT (RADIUS - FORTY FIVE 
(45) FEET) A DISTANCE OF TWENTY-SIX AND THIRTY-SIX HUNDREDTHS (26.36) 
FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH EIGHTY-
NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-NINE (59) MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF SEVEN 
HUNDRED FIFTEEN AND TWENTY-SEVEN HUNDREDTHS (715.27) FEET TO THE 
PLACE OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION. 
ALSO EXCEPTING, A PART OF THE NORTHWEST FRACTIONAL QUARTER OF 
SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, 
ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID NORTHWEST FRACTIONAL 
QUARTER OF SECTION 2; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 03 MINUTES WEST, ALONG 
THE EAST LINE OF THE FRACTIONAL NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 2, 
A DISTANCE OF 482.94 FEET TO AN IRON STAKE MARKING THE SOUTHEAST 
CORNER OF LAND CONVEYED TO MANCHESTER TANK AND EQUIPMENT COMPANY 
OF INDIANA, INC.) IN DEED RECORD 411, PAGE 421, SAID STAKE BEING THE PLACE 
OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 58 MINUTES 
WEST, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID MANCHESTER TANK LAND A  DISTANCE 



 

Page 9 of 10 
 

OF 200 FEET TO AN IRON STAKE; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 03 MINUTES WEST, 
A DISTANCE OF 216.56 FEET TO AN IRON STAKE ON THE SOUTH LINE OF 
MANCHESTER DRIVE (DOCUMENT NO. 89003517); THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 59 
MINUTES EAST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID MANCHESTER DRIVE A 
DISTANCE OF 200 FEET TO AN IRON STAKE ON THE EAST LINE OF THE 
FRACTIONAL NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 2; THENCE SOUTH 00 
DEGREES 03 MINUTES EAST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE FRACTIONAL 
NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 2 A DISTANCE OF 216.50 FEET TO THE 
PLACE OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION. 
 
Address:  
 
3630 Manchester Drive, Elkhart, IN 46514 
 
Parcel Identification Number(s): 
 

20-05-02-176-032.000-006 



 

Page 10 of 10 
 

Exhibit B 

 

Tax Deduction Schedule  

 

 



 

Page 1 of 10 
 

 MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

Personal Property 

This Memorandum of Agreement (“Agreement”) serves as a confirmation of the good-faith 
commitment by Marson International LLC, (hereinafter, the “Applicant”) to use its reasonable best efforts 
to implement the Project as described, to create and retain the jobs and pay the wages specified in the 
Applicant’s Property Tax Phase-In Application for designation of certain real property as an Economic 
Revitalization Area, (“Application”), and the Statement of Benefits Personal Property Improvement (Form 
SB-1 Personal Property, as the same may have been amended,  herein after “Statement of Benefits”), and 
to fulfill its obligations set forth within this Agreement (“Applicant's Commitment”). 

 
 1. Commitments of City and Applicant:   
 
  (a)  Subject to the requirements under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-3, the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana ("City"), acting by and through its Common Council, agrees to approve a deduction from the 
assessed value of the proposed installation of manufacturing equipment for three (3) years (consecutive) on 
the Applicant’s real property to be located at 3630 Manchester Drive, Elkhart, IN 46514 (hereinafter, the 
“Subject Property”), which is more specifically described in Exhibit A of this Agreement.  The amount of 
the deduction from the assessed value of the Subject Property shall be according to the deduction schedule 
shown in Exhibit B of this Agreement (hereinafter, the “Tax Phase-In”). The Tax Phase-In shall start with 
the first year in which the assessed value of the Subject Property increases because of the proposed 
manufacturing equipment. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the designation of the Subject 
Property as an economic revitalization area expires on December 31, 2023, and the Project (as hereafter 
defined) must be completed by then for the Applicant to be or remain eligible to receive the Tax Phase-In 
benefits. 
 
  (b)  Subject to Section 4 herein, the Applicant agrees that by December 31, 2022, it will 
make a total capital expenditure of Two Million ($2,000,000.00) associated with the investment of 
manufacturing equipment for new equipment consisting a tube laser and two (2) robotic CNC tuber benders 
at the Subject Property (the “New Equipment”), which will create at least 10 new full-time permanent 
positions with an average annual salary of no less than $49,920.00, while retaining 0 jobs with an average 
annual salary of no less than , based on two thousand forty hours (2,040) annually.  The Applicant further 
agrees to contribute fifteen percent (15%) of the amount of personal property taxes abated under the Tax 
Phase-In, which payment will be collected by the Elkhart County Treasurer as set forth in the tax invoice 
statement and remitted to the City. Payment of the contribution shall (1) coincide with the due date of 
property tax payments in Elkhart County as set forth in Indiana Code 6-1.1-22-9(a), and (2) shall be due 
and payable the first time in the year following the first year in which the assess value of the subject property 
increases by reason of the Project and shall continue and each year thereafter during the term of the Tax 
Phase-In deduction period set forth in Exhibit B, unless modified by agreement of the City of Elkhart and 
the Applicant.  
   

2.  Applicant’s Compliance with City and State Laws: During the term of the Tax Phase-In, the 
Applicant shall use its good-faith efforts to comply with all applicable provisions of Indiana Code 6-1.1-
12.1. Also, during the term of the Tax Phase-In, the City may annually request information from the 
Applicant concerning the nature of the Project, the costs of the Project and the amount of and average wages 
for the jobs, and the Applicant shall provide the City with adequate written evidence thereof within fifteen 
(15) days of such request ("Annual Survey").  The City shall utilize this information and the information 
provided by the Applicant in the CF-1 Compliance with the Statement of Benefits form to verify that the 
Applicant has complied with the commitments contained in Applicant's Commitment at all times after the 
date thereof until the expiration of the Tax Phase-In. The Applicant further agrees to provide the City with 



 

Page 2 of 10 
 

such additional information reasonably requested by the City related to the information provided in the 
Annual Survey and the CF-1 form within fifteen (15) days following any such additional request.  

 
3.  Substantial Compliance and Rights of Termination:  The City reserves the right to terminate the 

Economic Revitalization Area designation and the associated Tax Phase-In if it determines that the 
Applicant has not substantially complied with all of the Applicant's Commitment, and the Applicant’s 
failure to substantially comply with Applicant's Commitment was not due to factors beyond its control. As 
used in this Agreement, substantial compliance shall mean: by December 31, 2022, (1) making capital 
expenditures of not less than Ninety-Five Percent (95%) of the capital expenditures referenced in Section 
1 above for the Project, (2) creating not less than Ninety-five Percent (95%) of the jobs referenced in Section 
1 above, and (3) those new jobs will have an average annual salary of at least $49,920.00, excluding 
benefits, while retaining the jobs referenced in Section 1 of this Agreement and at the specified average 
annual rate of pay.  

 
4.  Factors Beyond Applicant's Control:  As used in this Agreement, factors beyond the control of 

the Applicant shall only include factors that: (i) are not reasonably foreseeable at the time of designation, 
application, and submission of the Statement of Benefits; (ii) are not caused by any grossly negligent act or 
omission of the Applicant; and (iii) do not materially and adversely affect the ability of the Applicant to 
substantially comply with this Agreement.  

 
5.  Repayment of Tax Phase-In Savings:   
 
 (a) During the term of this Agreement, if the Applicant: (i) is delinquent or in default 

for a period of sixty (60) days with respect to any tax payment due in Elkhart County, Indiana; or (ii) ceases 
operations at the facility for which the Tax Phase-In was granted for a period longer than  thirty (30) 
consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations in the Applicant's normal course of 
business or as a result of a force majeure event); or (iii) announces the cessation of operations at such 
facility for a period longer than thirty (30) consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations 
in the Applicant's normal course of business or as a result of a force majeure event), then the City may 
terminate the Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits, and upon 
such termination, require the Applicant to repay all of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through the date 
of such termination, so long as it follows the procedures set forth in Section 7.   Such repayment of received 
benefits shall be calculated as provided in Section 5(b).  The amount of benefit repayment shall be measured 
against the level of noncompliance. 

 
 (b) In the event the City terminates this Agreement in accordance with this Section 5, 

the Applicant will be required to repay only that percentage of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through 
the date of termination that is equal to the percentage of the Applicant's noncompliance with Section 1 
above, less the fifteen percent (15%) tax savings to the City.  For purposes of this Agreement, the percentage 
of the Applicant's noncompliance with Section 1 above shall be calculated as follows:  the amount of actual 
investment in each particular category (average annual salary, number of jobs, and personal property 
investment) shall be divided by the corresponding established amount for substantial compliance in that 
category to determine the compliance rate.  The compliance rate then shall be subtracted from 100% to 
determine the percentage of noncompliance.  The percentage of noncompliance shall equal the percentage 
of benefit repayment. 

 
Example:  If an applicant promises 100 jobs, 95 jobs represent substantial compliance, and 85 jobs 

are actually created, then the percentage of benefit repayment is the following:  85 
actual jobs created ÷ 95 jobs representing substantial compliance = 89.47% compliance 
rate.  100% - 89.47% compliance rate = 10.53% noncompliance rate 



 

Page 3 of 10 
 

  10.53% of received benefit will be repaid, less a credit for the 15% remitted to the 
City’s Tax Phase-In Development Fund. 

 
If the Applicant fails to achieve substantial compliance in more than one category, the category with the 
lowest compliance rate will be used to determine the repayment percentage. 

 
6.  Assessment Appeals.  Neither the Applicant, nor its successors and assigns, shall file any 

property tax assessment appeal, review, or other challenge of the property tax assessment made for the 
Project involved during the term of the Tax Phase-In unless one of the following conditions occurs during 
the deduction period: 

 
 (a) the original assessment for the Project as determined by the Elkhart County Assessor 

(“Assessor”) is in excess of the total capital expenditure for the Project as set forth in Section 1 of this 
Agreement; or 

 
 (b) a trending assessment or a reassessment by the Assessor increases the assessment for 

the Project by more than fifteen percent (15%) from one year to the next year, or by more than an average 
of ten percent (10%) per year over two (2) or more years. 

 
7.  Notice/Hearing of Termination:  In the event that the City determines in accordance with Section 

5 above that (i) the Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits should 
be terminated or (ii) that all or a portion of the Tax Savings should be repaid, it will give the Applicant 
notice of such determination, including a written statement calculating the amount due from the Applicant, 
and will provide the Applicant with an opportunity to meet with the City’s designated representatives to 
show cause why the Tax Phase-In benefits should not be terminated and/or repaid.  Such notice shall state 
the names of the person with whom the Applicant may meet and will provide that the Applicant shall have 
thirty (30) days from the date of such notice to arrange such meeting and to provide its evidence concerning 
why the Tax Phase-In benefits termination and/or repayment should not occur.  If, after giving such notice 
and receiving such evidence, if any, the City determines that the Tax Phase-In termination and/or repayment 
action is proper, the Applicant shall be provided with written notice and a hearing before the Common 
Council.  Before any final action shall be taken terminating the Tax Phase-In and/or requiring repayment 
of Tax Phase-In benefits, any such action shall be subject to judicial review under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-
5.9(e). 

 
8.  Repayment:  In the event the City requires repayment of the Tax Phase-In benefits as provided 

following the procedures set forth in Section 7 hereunder, it shall provide Applicant with a written statement 
calculating the amount due ("Statement"), and the Applicant shall repay its actual amount of Tax Phase-In 
benefits to the City within thirty (30) days of the date of the Statement. If the Applicant does not make 
timely repayment, the City shall be entitled to all reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in the 
enforcement and collection of the Tax Phase-In benefits required to be repaid hereunder. 

 
9.  Modification/Entire Agreement:  This Agreement and any schedules attached hereto contain the 

entire understanding between the City and the Applicant with respect to the subject matter hereof, and 
supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, inducements, and conditions, 
expressed or implied, oral or written, except as herein contained. This Agreement may not be modified or 
amended other than by an agreement in writing signed by the City and the Applicant. The Applicant 
understands that any and all filings required to be made or actions required to be taken to initiate or maintain 
the Tax Phase-In are solely the responsibility of the Applicant. 

 



 

Page 4 of 10 
 

10.  Waivers:  Neither the failure, nor any delay on the part of the City to exercise any right, remedy, 
power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial 
exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege preclude any other or further exercise of the same or of 
any other right, remedy, power or privilege with respect to any occurrence or be construed as a waiver of 
such right, remedy, power, or privilege with respect to any other occurrence.  No waiver shall be effective 
unless it is in writing and is signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. 

 
11.  Governing Laws of Indiana:  This Agreement and all questions relating to its validity, 

interpretation, performance, and enforcement shall be governed by the laws and decisions of the courts of 
the State of Indiana. 

 
12.  Applicant’s Consent to Jurisdiction:  The Applicant hereby irrevocably consents to the 

jurisdiction of the Courts of the State of Indiana and of the Elkhart County Circuit or Superior Court in 
connection with any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any documents or 
instrument delivered with respect to any of the obligations hereunder, and any action related to this 
Agreement shall be brought in such County and in such Court. 

 
13.  Notices:  All notices, requests, demands, and other communications required or permitted 

under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been received when delivered by 
hand, by facsimile (with confirmation by registered or certified mail), on the next business day following 
the mailing by a nationally recognized overnight commercial courier, or on the third business day following 
the mailing, by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, thereof, addressed as 
set forth below: 

 
If to Applicant: 
 
Marson International LLC 
Jason Newburn 
Vice President 
3230 Magnum Dr. 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
 

  
 

   
If to the City of Elkhart: 
 
Office of the Mayor 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516 
 

 Copy to: 
 
Elkhart Common Council 
c/o Administrative Assistant to the Council 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516 

   
14.  Assignment and Transfer Prohibited:  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 

benefit of the City and the Applicant and their successors and assigns, except that no party may assign or 
transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
15.  Valid and Binding Agreement: This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original as against any party whose signature appears 
thereon, and all of which shall together constitute one and the same instrument. By executing this 
Agreement, each party confirms that each person so executing it has been duly authorized to execute this 



 

Page 5 of 10 
 

Agreement on behalf of such party and that this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of 
the party. 

 
16.  Severability:  The provisions of this Agreement and of each section or other subdivision herein 

are independent of and separable from each other, and no provision shall be affected or rendered invalid or 
unenforceable by virtue of the fact that for any reason any other or others of them may be invalid or 
unenforceable in whole or in part unless this Agreement is rendered totally unenforceable thereby. 

 
17.  No Personal Liability:  No official, director, officer, employee or agent of the City shall be 

charged personally by the Applicant, its employees or agents with any liabilities or expenses of defense or 
be held personally liable to the Applicant under any term or provision of this Agreement or because of the 
execution by such party of this Agreement or because of any default by such party hereunder. 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year 

first above written. 

APPLICANT: 
 
Marson International LLC 
3230 Magnum Dr. 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
 
By: 
 
      
Jason Newburn 
Vice President 
 
CITY OF ELKHART: 
 
By: 
 
      
Arvis Dawson 
President of the Elkhart Common Council 
 
 
By:       
 
      
Rod Roberson 
Mayor of the City of Elkhart 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
      
John M. Espar 
Corporation Counsel for the City of Elkhart 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 



 

Page 6 of 10 
 

Exhibit A 
Description of Real Property  

(Economic Revitalization Area and Project Area) 

 
Legal Description: 
 
TRACT 1:  
A PART OF THE NORTHEAST FRACTIONAL QUARTER (FR. NE L/4) SECTION TWO (2), 
TOWNSHIP THIRTY-SEVEN (37) NORTH, RANGE FOUR (4) EAST, ELKHART COUNTY, 
INDIANA AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID FRACTIONAL QUARTER 
SECTION; THENCE NORTH ZERO (0) DEGREES THREE (03) MINUTES WEST ALONG 
THE WEST LINE OF SAID FRACTIONAL QUARTER SECTION, ONE THOUSAND TWO 
HUNDRED EIGHTY-ONE AND TWENTY-THREE HUNDREDTHS (1281.23) FEET TO THE 
SOUTH LINE OF PENN CENTRAL RAILROAD, THE PLACE OF BEGINNING OF THIS 
DESCRIPTION;  
THENCE NORTH EIGHT-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-NINE (.59) MINUTES EAST, 
ALONG SOUTH LINE OF SAID RAILROAD, SIX HUNDRED EIGHT AND TWENTY-ONE 
HUNDREDTHS (608.21) FEET; THENCE DUE SOUTH FOUR HUNDRED THIRTY-EIGHT 
(438) FEET TO THE NORTH LINE OF LEXINGTON PARK DRIVE; THENCE SOUTH 
EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY -NINE (59) MINUTES WEST, ALONG THE NORTH 
LINE OF SAID DRIVE, TWENTYEIGHT AND ONE HUNDREDTHS (28.01) FEET TO THE 
P.O.C. OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT WITH A RADIUS OF ONE HUNDRED EIGHTY (180) 
FEET; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE, ONE HUNDRED TWENTY-
TWO AND NINETY-NINE HUNDREDTHS (122.99) FEET TO A POINT ON CURVE; 
THENCE NORTH FORTY-FOUR (44) DEGREES SEVENTEEN (17) MINUTES THIRTY (30) 
SECONDS WEST, SIX HUNDRED SIXTY-EIGHT AND SIXTEEN HUNDREDTHS (668.16) 
FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING. 
 
TRACT 2:  
A PORT OF THE NORTHEAST FRACTIONAL QUARTER (FR. NE 1/4) OF SECTION TWO 
(2), TOWNSHIP THIRTY-SEVEN (37) NORTH, RANGE FOUR (4) EAST, ELKHART 
COUNTY, INDIANA AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID FRACTIONAL QUARTER 
SECTION; THENCE NORTH ZERO (0) DEGREES THREE (03) MINUTES WEST ALONG 
THE WEST LINE OF SAID FRACTIONAL QUARTER SECTION, ONE THOUSAND TWO 
HUNDRED EIGHTY-ONE AND TWENTY-THREE HUNDREDTHS (1281.23) FEET TO 
THE: SOUTH LINE OF PENN CENTRAL RAILROAD, THE PLACE OF BEGINNING OF 
THIS DESCRIPTION;  
THENCE SOUTH FORTY-FOUR (44) DEGREES SEVENTEEN (17) MINUTES THIRTY (30) 
SECONDS EAST, SIX HUNDRED SIXTY-EIGHT AND SIXTEEN HUNDREDTHS (668.16) 
FEET TO THE NORTH LINE OF LEXINGTON PARK DRIVE AND P.O.C. OF A CURVE 
SOUTHWESTERLY WITH A RADIUS OF ONE HUNDRED EIGHTY (180) FEET; THENCE 
SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE ONE HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO AND 
NINETY-NINE HUNDREDTHS (122.99) FEET TO POINT AN CURVE: THENCE SOUTH 



 

Page 7 of 10 
 

EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-NINE (59) MINUTES WEST FOUR HUNDRED 
THREE AND FOUR HUNDRED SEVENTY-FIVE THOUSANDTHS (405.475) FEET TO THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID FRACTIONAL QUARTER SECTION; THENCE NORTH ZERO (0) 
DEGREES THREE (3) MINUTES WEST, ALONG, THE WEST LINE OF SAID 
FRACTIONAL QUARTER SECTION, FIVE HUNDRED EIGHTY-ONE AND FIVE TENTHS 
(581.5) FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING. 
 
TRACT 3:  
PART OF THE FRACTIONAL NORTHWEST QUARTER (FR. NW 1/4) OF SECTION TWO 
(2), TOWNSHIP THIRTY-SEVEN (37) NORTH, RANGE FOUR (4) EAST, SITUATE IN 
CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, STATE OF INDIANA, AND BEING 
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE FRACTIONAL NORTHWEST 
QUARTER (FR. NW 1/4) OF SAID SECTION TWO (2); THENCE NORTH ZERO (0) 
DEGREES THREE (03) MINUTES WEST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE FRACTIONAL 
NORTHWEST QUARTER (FR. NW 1/ 4) OF SAID SECTION TWO (2) A DISTANCE OF 
FOUR HUNDRED EIGHTY-TWO AND NINETY-FOUR HUNDREDTHS (482.94) FEET TO 
ON IRON STAKE MARKING THE PLACE OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; 
THENCE SOUTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-EIGHT (58) MINUTES WEST A 
DISTANCE OF NINE HUNDRED FIFTY-FOUR AND NINETY- FOUR HUNDREDTHS 
(954.94) FEET TO ON IRON STAKE; THENCE NORTH ZERO (0) DEGREES ONE (01) 
MINUTE WEST DISTANCE OF TWO HUNDRED FORTY-SIX AND FIVE TENTHS (246.5) 
FEET TO A POINT; THENCE NORTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-EIGHT (58) 
MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF FOUR HUNDRED SEVENTYSEVEN AND FORTY-FIVE 
HUNDREDTHS (477.45) FEET TO POINT; THENCE NORTH ZERO (0) DEGREES THREE 
(03) MINUTES WEST DISTANCE OF FIVE HUNDRED FIFTY-ONE AND FIVE TENTHS 
(551.5) FEET TO AN IRON STAKE ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE CONSOLIDATED RAIL 
CORPORATION (CONRAIL) RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE BEING THIRTY-THREE (33) FEET 
SOUTH OF THE CENTERLINE OF THE CONRAIL TRACK; THENCE NORTH EIGHTY-
NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-EIGHT (58) MINUTES EAST ALONG THE SOUTH RIGHT OF-
WAY LINE OF SAID CONRAIL RIGHT-OF-WAY A DISTANCE OF FOUR HUNDRED 
SEVENTY-SEVEN AND THIRTY-FIVE HUNDREDTHS (477.35) FEET TO ON IRON 
STAKE ON THE EAST LINE OF THE FRACTIONAL NORTHWEST QUARTER (FR. NW 
1/4) OF SAID SECTION TWO THENCE SOUTH ZERO (0) DEGREES 11-IREE (03) 
MINUTES EAST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE FRACTIONAL NORTHWEST 
QUARTER (FR. NW 1/4) OF SAID SECTION TWO (2) A DISTANCE OF SEVEN HUNDRED 
NINETY-EIGHT (798) FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION. 
EXCEPTING FROM TRACTS 2 AND 3 ABOVE SO MUCH THEREOF AS WAS CONVEYED 
TO ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA FOR USE AS A PUBLIC HIGHWAY AND BOUNDED 
AND DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
PART OF THE FRACTIONAL NORTH HALF (FR N L/2) OF SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 37 
NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, SITUATE IN CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, 
STATE OF INDIANA, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  
BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF THE NORTHEAST FRACTIONAL 
QUARTER (FR NE 1/4) OF SAID SECTION 2, SAID POINT BEING NORTH ZERO (0) 
DEGREES THREE (03) MINUTES WEST A DISTANCE OF SIX HUNDRED NINETY-NINE 



 

Page 8 of 10 
 

AND SEVENTY-THREE HUNDREDTHS (699.73) FEET FROM THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF THE NORTHEAST FRACTIONAL QUARTER (FR. NE 1/4) OF SAID 
SECTION TWO (2): THENCE NORTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY NINE (59) 
MINUTES EAST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF LAND DESCRIBED IN A DEED TO 
MANCHESTER TANK AND EQUIPMENT COMPANY, INC. (DEED RECORD 405, PAGE 
475) A DISTANCE OF FOUR HUNDRED THREE AND FORTY-EIGHT HUNDREDTHS 
(403.48) FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF LEXINGTON PARK DRIVE: THENCE 
NORTHEASTWARDLY ALONG A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, SAID CURVE HAVING A 
RADIUS DISTANCE OF ONE HUNDRED EIGHTY (180) FEET AND ALONG THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID LEXINGTON PARK DRIVE A DISTANCE OF SIXTY-FIVE AND NINE 
HUNDREDTHS (65.09) FEET (CHORD: NORTH TWENTY-TWO (22) DEGREES THREE 
(03) MINUTES EAST SIXTY-FOUR AND SEVENTY-FOUR HUNDREDTH (64.74) FEET) 
TO POINT: THENCE SOUTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-NINE (59) MINUTES 
WEST A DISTANCE OF ONE THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED FORTY-THREE AND SIX 
HUNDREDTHS (1143.06) FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO THE 
RIGHT; THENCE NORTHWESTWARDLY ALONG SAID CURVE TO THE RIGHT 
(RADIUS - FORTY-FIVE (45) FEET), A DISTANCE OF TWENTY-SIX AND THIRTY-SIX 
HUNDREDTHS (26.36) FEET TO THE POINT OF REVERSE CURVATURE OF A CURVE 
TO THE LEFT; THENCE WESTWARDLY, SOUTHWARDLY AND EASTWARDLY 
ALONG SAID CURVE TO THE LEFT (RADIUS - FORTY-FIVE (45) FEET) A DISTANCE 
OF ONE HUNDRED NINETY-FOUR AND EIGHT HUNDREDTHS (194.08) FEET TO THE 
POINT OF REVERSE CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT; THENCE 
NORTHEASTWARDLY ALONG SAID CURVE TO THE RIGHT (RADIUS - FORTY FIVE 
(45) FEET) A DISTANCE OF TWENTY-SIX AND THIRTY-SIX HUNDREDTHS (26.36) 
FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH EIGHTY-
NINE (89) DEGREES FIFTY-NINE (59) MINUTES EAST A DISTANCE OF SEVEN 
HUNDRED FIFTEEN AND TWENTY-SEVEN HUNDREDTHS (715.27) FEET TO THE 
PLACE OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION. 
 
ALSO EXCEPTING, A PART OF THE NORTHWEST FRACTIONAL QUARTER OF 
SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, 
ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID NORTHWEST FRACTIONAL 
QUARTER OF SECTION 2; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 03 MINUTES WEST, ALONG 
THE EAST LINE OF THE FRACTIONAL NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 2, 
A DISTANCE OF 482.94 FEET TO AN IRON STAKE MARKING THE SOUTHEAST 
CORNER OF LAND CONVEYED TO MANCHESTER TANK AND EQUIPMENT 
COMPANY OF INDIANA, INC.) IN DEED RECORD 411, PAGE 421, SAID STAKE BEING 
THE PLACE OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 58 
MINUTES WEST, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID MANCHESTER TANK LAND A  
DISTANCE OF 200 FEET TO AN IRON STAKE; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 03 
MINUTES WEST, A DISTANCE OF 216.56 FEET TO AN IRON STAKE ON THE SOUTH 
LINE OF MANCHESTER DRIVE (DOCUMENT NO. 89003517); THENCE NORTH 89 
DEGREES 59 MINUTES EAST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID MANCHESTER 
DRIVE A DISTANCE OF 200 FEET TO AN IRON STAKE ON THE EAST LINE OF THE 



 

Page 9 of 10 
 

FRACTIONAL NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 2; THENCE SOUTH 00 
DEGREES 03 MINUTES EAST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE FRACTIONAL 
NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 2 A DISTANCE OF 216.50 FEET TO THE 
PLACE OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION. 
 
Address:  
 
3630 Manchester Drive, Elkhart, IN 46514 
 
Parcel Identification Number(s): 
 

20-05-02-176-032.000-006 



 

Page 10 of 10 
 

Exhibit B 

 

Tax Deduction Schedule  

 

 
 



Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-08 

 
 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
DATE:  3/2/2022 

TO:  Common Council 

FROM: Corporation Counsel John Espar  

RE: Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-08  
Resolution Confirming the Designation of an Economic Revitalization Area for Purposes 
of Granting Tax Phase-In Benefits to PontoonStuff, Inc. \ MMM Realty LLC \ Legacy 
Plastics LLC 
 

 

This Proposed Resolution relates to the Application for Property Tax Phase-In submitted by PontoonStuff, 
Inc. \ MMM Realty LLC \ Legacy Plastics LLC for which this Council previously declared an Economic 
Revitalization Area under Resolution No. R-05-22 at the public meeting held on February 14, 2022. 

This Proposed Resolution 22-R-08 confirms the declaration of an Economic Revitalization Area within 
which PontoonStuff, Inc. \ MMM Realty LLC \ Legacy Plastics LLC proposes to make certain real property 
and personal property investments to increase economic development in the area and in exchange for which 
PontoonStuff, Inc. \ MMM Realty LLC \ Legacy Plastics LLC seeks to receive tax phase-in benefits.

 



Page 1 of 3 

Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-08 

 RESOLUTION NO.   

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, CONFIRMING RESOLUTION NO. R-05-22, WHICH DECLARED A 

CERTAIN AREA IN THE CITY OF ELKHART TO BE AN ECONOMIC 
REVITALIZATION AREA FOR THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN 

BENEFITS TO PONTOONSTUFF, INC.  \ MMM REALTY LLC \ LEGACY PLASTICS 
LLC 

WHEREAS, on February 14, 2022, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart (the 
"Common Council"), approved and adopted Resolution No. R-05-22, a resolution entitled “A 
Resolution of the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, Declaring a Certain Area to be 
an Economic Revitalization Area For the Purpose of Granting Tax Phase-in Benefits to 
PontoonStuff, Inc.  \ MMM Realty LLC \ Legacy Plastics LLC” (the "Declaratory Resolution"); 
and 

WHEREAS, the Declaratory Resolution found and determined that a certain area in the 
City of Elkhart (the "Area") was an economic revitalization area within the meaning of Indiana 
Code 6-1.1-12.1, (the "Act") for the purpose of allowing deductions from the assessed value of the 
real estate improvements (the “Project”) and from the assessed value of the manufacturing 
equipment (the “New Equipment”) in the Area; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.5(b) of the Act, the Common Council filed the 
Declaratory Resolution with the Elkhart County Assessor; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.5(c)(1) of the Act, the Common Council published 
notice of the adoption and substance of the Declaratory Resolution in accordance with Indiana 
Code 5-3-1 (the “Notice”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.5(c)(2) of the Act, the Common Council filed a copy of 
the Notice and a copy of the Statement of Benefits form filed by PontoonStuff, Inc. \ MMM Realty 
LLC \ Legacy Plastics LLC, with the officers of the taxing units who are authorized to fix budgets, 
tax rates and tax levies in the Area; and 

WHEREAS, at a public hearing held by the Common Council on this date, March 7, 2022, 
at the City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana, the Common Council heard all persons 
interested in the proceedings and received any written remonstrances and objections, and 
considered those remonstrances and objections, if any, and such other evidence presented; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council now desires to take final action and confirm the 



Page 2 of 3 

necessary findings in accordance with Section 2.5, Section 3 and Section 4.5 of the Act; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana, as follows: 

1. After considering the evidence presented at the public hearing on this date, March 7, 
2022, the Common Council hereby finds that the Declaratory Resolution should be, and hereby is, 
confirmed in its entirety and without modification. 

2.  This Resolution constitutes final action, pursuant to Section 2.5(c) of the Act, by the 
Common Council determining the public utility and benefit of the Project and the New Equipment 
in the Area, confirming the Declaratory Resolution, and declaring the Area an economic 
revitalization area pursuant to the Act. 

 RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, ______. 

 
____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at  
  a.m./p.m. 
 

 
_____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, ______. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
  



Page 3 of 3 

STATE OF INDIANA ) 
)  § 

COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 
I, Debra D. Barrett, Clerk of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, do hereby certify the above is a 

full, true and complete copy of Resolution No. R-____, adopted by the Common Council on the    
  day of   , ______, by a vote of _______ AYES and _______ NAYS, and was 
approved and signed by the Mayor on the ______ day of    , ______, and now 
remains on file and on record in my office. 

 
WITNESS my hand and the official seal of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, this ____ day of 

____________________, ______. 

 
 

__________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 

 
 
 
 



Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-09 

 
 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
DATE:  3/2/2022 

TO:  Common Council 

FROM: Corporation Counsel John Espar  

RE: Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-09  
 A Resolution Approving the Memoranda of Agreements with PontoonStuff, Inc. \ MMM 

Realty LLC \ Legacy Plastics LLC for Tax Phase-In Benefits 
  

 

 

This resolution relates to the Application for Property Tax Phase-In submitted by PontoonStuff, Inc. \ 
MMM Realty LLC \ Legacy Plastics LLC which was first considered by this Council at its public meeting 
held on March 7, 2022. 

Proposed Resolution 22-R-09 approves the corresponding agreements by which PontoonStuff, Inc. \ MMM 
Realty LLC \ Legacy Plastics LLC will enjoy tax phase-in benefits for the real property and personal 
property investments made in the economic revitalization area. Each Memorandum of Agreement likewise 
establishes the legal responsibilities and legal obligations imposed upon PontoonStuff, Inc. \ MMM Realty 
LLC \ Legacy Plastics LLC in exchange for the tax phase-in benefits granted by the City.

 



Page 1 of 2 
 

 
Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-09 

 
RESOLUTION NO. ________ 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, TO APPROVE TWO MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE 
CITY OF ELKHART AND PONTOONSTUFF, INC.  \ MMM REALTY LLC \ LEGACY 

PLASTICS LLC 
______________________________________ 

 
WHEREAS, PontoonStuff, Inc. \ MMM Realty LLC \ Legacy Plastics LLC, (hereinafter, 

the “Applicant”) has filed an application with the City of Elkhart (the “City”) requesting that the 

property commonly known as 1165 Fremont Court, Elkhart, IN 46516, be designated as an 

economic revitalization area by the Common Council of the City of Elkhart (the “Common 

Council”), in accordance with Indiana Code 6.1-1.1-12.1, for the purpose of allowing deductions 

from the assessed value of the proposed real estate improvements (the “Project”) and the proposed 

installation of manufacturing equipment (the “New Equipment”) in the proposed economic 

revitalization area; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s Tax Abatement Policy requires that the Applicant\Property Owner 

(jointly and severally, if not the same entity), enter into a written agreement agreeing: (i) to comply 

with the project description, (ii) to create and retain a certain number of jobs along with the 

associated wages rates and salaries (as shown in its Application), and (iii) to comply with its 

Statement of Benefits forms and any other documents submitted in support of its Application; and 

WHEREAS, a Memorandum of Agreement (Real Property) and a Memorandum of 

Agreement (Personal Property) have been prepared and presented to the Common Council for the 

Project and the New Equipment, respectively, which Agreements govern the relationship between 

the City and the Applicant\Property Owner during the term of the tax abatement; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council believes that it is in the best interest of the City to enter 



Page 2 of 2 
 

into these agreements. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, that the attached Memorandum of Agreement (Real Property) 

and the attached Memorandum of Agreement (Personal Property) to be entered into between the 

City and the Applicant\Property Owner are hereby approved by the Common Council. 

 RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, _______. 
 

 
____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, _______, at  

  a.m./p.m.  

      _____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, ______. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 



 

Page 1 of 8 
 

 MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

Real Estate 

This Memorandum of Agreement (“Agreement”) serves as a confirmation of the good-faith 
commitment by PontoonStuff, Inc. \ MMM Realty LLC \ Legacy Plastics LLC, (hereinafter, the 
“Applicant”) to use its reasonable best efforts to implement the Project as described, to create and retain 
the jobs and pay the wages specified in the Applicant’s Property Tax Phase-In Application for designation 
of certain real property as an Economic Revitalization Area, (“Application”), and the Statement of Benefits 
Real Property Improvement (Form SB-1 Real Property), herein after “Statement of Benefits”), and to fulfill 
its obligations set forth within this Agreement (“Applicant's Commitment”). 

 
 1. Commitments of City and Applicant:  
 
  (a) Subject to the requirements under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-3, the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana ("City"), acting by and through its Common Council, agrees to approve a deduction from the 
assessed value of the proposed development of the real estate for three (3) years (consecutive) on the 
Applicant’s real property commonly known as 1165 Fremont Court, Elkhart, IN 46516 (hereinafter, the 
“Subject Property”), which is more specifically described in Exhibit A of this Agreement. The amount of 
the deduction from the assessed value of the Subject Property shall be according to the deduction schedule 
shown in Exhibit B of this Agreement (hereinafter, the “Tax Phase-In”). The Tax Phase-In shall start with 
the first year in which the assessed value of the Subject Property increases because of the proposed 
development. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the designation of the Subject Property as an 
economic revitalization area expires on December 31, 2023, and the Project (as hereafter defined) must be 
completed by then in order for the Applicant to be or remain eligible to receive the Tax Phase-In benefits. 
 
  (b) Subject to Section 4 herein, the Applicant agrees that by December 31, 2022, it will 
make a total capital expenditure of one million five hundred thousand dollars ($1,500,000.00) to improve 
the Subject Property with existing building acquisition and post-acquisition building improvements and 
related improvements at the Subject Property (the “Project”), which will create at least 10 new full-time 
permanent positions with an average annual salary of no less than $62,400.00, while retaining 0 jobs with 
an average annual salary of no less than , based on two thousand forty hours (2,040) annually. The Applicant 
further agrees to contribute fifteen percent (15%) of the amount of real property taxes abated under the Tax 
Phase-In, which payment will be collected by the Elkhart County Treasurer as set forth in the tax invoice 
statement and remitted to the City. Payment of the contribution shall (1) coincide with the due date of 
property tax payments in Elkhart County as set forth in Indiana Code 6-1.1-22-9(a), and (2) shall be due 
and payable the first time in the year following the first year in which the assess value of the subject property 
increases by reason of the Project and shall continue and each year thereafter during the term of the Tax 
Phase-In deduction period set forth in Exhibit B, unless modified by agreement of the City of Elkhart and 
the Applicant.  
   

2. Applicant’s Compliance with City and State Laws: During the term of the Tax Phase-In, the 
Applicant shall use its good-faith efforts to comply with all applicable provisions of Indiana Code 6-1.1-
12.1. Also, during the term of the Tax Phase-In, the City may annually request information from the 
Applicant concerning the nature of the Project, the costs of the Project and the amount of and average wages 
for the jobs, and the Applicant shall provide the City with adequate written evidence thereof within fifteen 
(15) days of such request ("Annual Survey"). The City shall utilize this information and the information 
provided by the Applicant in the CF-1 Compliance with the Statement of Benefits form to verify that the 
Applicant has complied with the obligations contained in Applicant's Commitment at all times after the 
date thereof until the expiration of the Tax Phase-In. The Applicant further agrees to provide the City with 



 

Page 2 of 8 
 

such additional information reasonably requested by the City related to the information provided in the 
Annual Survey and the CF-1 form within fifteen (15) days following any such additional request.  

 
3. Substantial Compliance and Rights of Termination: The City reserves the right to terminate the 

Economic Revitalization Area designation and the associated Tax Phase-In if it determines that the 
Applicant has not substantially complied with Applicant's Commitment, and the Applicant’s failure to 
substantially comply with Applicant's Commitment was not due to factors beyond its control. As used in 
this Agreement, substantial compliance shall mean: by December 31, 2022, (1) making capital expenditures 
of not less than Ninety-Five Percent (95%) of the capital expenditures referenced in Section 1 above for the 
Project, (2) creating not less than Ninety-five Percent (95%) of the jobs referenced in Section 1 above, and 
(3) those new jobs will have an average annual salary of at least $62,400.00, excluding benefits, while 
retaining the jobs referenced in Section 1 of this Agreement and at the specified average annual rate of pay.  

 
4. Factors Beyond Applicant's Control: As used in this Agreement, factors beyond the control of 

the Applicant shall only include factors that: (i) are not reasonably foreseeable at the time of designation, 
application, and submission of the Statement of Benefits; (ii) are not caused by any grossly negligent act or 
omission of the Applicant; and (iii) do not materially and adversely affect the ability of the Applicant to 
substantially comply with this Agreement.  

 
5. Repayment of Tax Phase-In Savings:  
 
 (a) During the term of this Agreement, if the Applicant: (i) is delinquent or in default 

for a period of sixty (60) days with respect to any tax payment due in Elkhart County, Indiana; or (ii) ceases 
operations at the facility for which the Tax Phase-In was granted for a period longer than thirty (30) 
consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations in the Applicant's normal course of 
business or as a result of a force majeure event); or (iii) announces the cessation of operations at such 
facility for a period longer than thirty (30) consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations 
in the Applicant's normal course of business or as a result of a force majeure event), then the City may 
terminate the Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits, and upon 
such termination, require the Applicant to repay all of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through the date 
of such termination, so long as it follows the procedures set forth in Section 7.  Such repayment of received 
benefits shall be calculated as provided in Section 5(b). The amount of benefit repayment shall be measured 
against the level of noncompliance. 

 
 (b) In the event the City terminates this Agreement in accordance with this Section 5, 

the Applicant will be required to repay only that percentage of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through 
the date of termination that is equal to the percentage of the Applicant's noncompliance with Section 1 
above, less the fifteen percent (15%) tax savings to the City. For purposes of this Agreement, the percentage 
of the Applicant's noncompliance with Section 1 above shall be calculated as follows: the amount of actual 
investment in each category (average annual salary, number of jobs, and personal property investment) 
shall be divided by the corresponding established amount for substantial compliance in that category to 
determine the compliance rate. The compliance rate then shall be subtracted from 100% to determine the 
percentage of noncompliance. The percentage of noncompliance shall equal the percentage of benefit 
repayment. 

 
Example: If an applicant promises 100 jobs, 95 jobs represent substantial compliance, and 85 jobs 

are created, then the percentage of benefit repayment is the following: 85 actual jobs 
created ÷ 95 jobs representing substantial compliance = 89.47% compliance rate. 100% 
- 89.47% compliance rate = 10.53% noncompliance rate 



 

Page 3 of 8 
 

  10.53% of received benefit will be repaid, less a credit for the 15% remitted to the 
City’s Tax Phase-In Development Fund. 

 
If the Applicant fails to achieve substantial compliance in more than one category, the category with the 
lowest compliance rate will be used to determine the repayment percentage. 

 
6. Assessment Appeals.  Neither the Applicant, nor its successors and assigns, shall file any 

property tax assessment appeal, review, or other challenge of the property tax assessment made for the 
Project involved during the term of the Tax Phase-In unless one of the following conditions occurs during 
the deduction period: 

 
 (a) the original assessment for the Project as determined by the Elkhart County Assessor 

(“Assessor”) is in excess of the total capital expenditure for the Project as set forth in Section 1 of this 
Agreement; or 

 
 (b) a trending assessment or a reassessment by the Assessor increases the assessment for 

the Project by more than fifteen percent (15%) from one year to the next year, or by more than an average 
of ten percent (10%) per year over two (2) or more years. 

 
7. Notice/Hearing of Termination: In the event that the City determines in accordance with Section 

5 above that (i) the Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits should 
be terminated or (ii) that all or a portion of the Tax Savings should be repaid, it will give the Applicant 
notice of such determination, including a written statement calculating the amount due from the Applicant, 
and will provide the Applicant with an opportunity to meet with the City’s designated representatives to 
show cause why the Tax Phase-In benefits should not be terminated and/or repaid. Such notice shall state 
the names of the person with whom the Applicant may meet and will provide that the Applicant shall have 
thirty (30) days from the date of such notice to arrange such meeting and to provide its evidence concerning 
why the Tax Phase-In benefits termination and/or repayment should not occur. If, after giving such notice 
and receiving such evidence, if any, the City determines that the Tax Phase-In termination and/or repayment 
action is proper, the Applicant shall be provided with written notice and a hearing before the Common 
Council. Before any final action shall be taken terminating the Tax Phase-In and/or requiring repayment of 
Tax Phase-In benefits, any such action shall be subject to judicial review under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-
5.9(e). 

 
8. Repayment: In the event the City requires repayment of the Tax Phase-In benefits as provided 

following the procedures set forth in Section 7 hereunder, it shall provide Applicant with a written statement 
calculating the amount due ("Statement"), and the Applicant shall repay its actual amount of Tax Phase-In 
benefits to the City within thirty (30) days of the date of the Statement. If the Applicant does not make 
timely repayment, the City shall be entitled to all reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in the 
enforcement and collection of the Tax Phase-In benefits required to be repaid hereunder. 

 
9. Modification/Entire Agreement: This Agreement and any schedules attached hereto contain the 

entire understanding between the City and the Applicant with respect to the subject matter hereof, and 
supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, inducements, and conditions, 
expressed or implied, oral or written, except as herein contained. This Agreement may not be modified or 
amended other than by an agreement in writing signed by the City and the Applicant. The Applicant 
understands that all filings required to be made or actions required to be taken to initiate or maintain the 
Tax Phase-In are solely the responsibility of the Applicant. 

 



 

Page 4 of 8 
 

10. Waivers: Neither the failure, nor any delay on the part of the City to exercise any right, remedy, 
power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial 
exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege preclude any other or further exercise of the same or of 
any other right, remedy, power or privilege with respect to any occurrence or be construed as a waiver of 
such right, remedy, power, or privilege with respect to any other occurrence. No waiver shall be effective 
unless it is in writing and is signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. 

 
11. Governing Laws of Indiana: This Agreement and all questions relating to its validity, 

interpretation, performance, and enforcement shall be governed by the laws and decisions of the courts of 
the State of Indiana. 

 
12. Applicant’s Consent to Jurisdiction: The Applicant hereby irrevocably consents to the 

jurisdiction of the Courts of the State of Indiana and of the Elkhart County Circuit or Superior Court in 
connection with any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any documents or 
instrument delivered with respect to any of the obligations hereunder, and any action related to this 
Agreement shall be brought in such County and in such Court. 

 
13. Notices: All notices, requests, demands, and other communications required or permitted under 

this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been received when delivered by hand, by 
facsimile (with confirmation by registered or certified mail), on the next business day following the mailing 
by a nationally recognized overnight commercial courier, or on the third business day following the mailing, 
by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, thereof, addressed as set forth 
below: 

 
If to Applicant: 
 
PontoonStuff, Inc. 
James P. Myers 
President 
1165 Fremont Court 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
 

  
 
MMM Realty LLC and/or Legacy Plastics LLC 
James Morgan 
Chief Operating Officer 
1165 Fremont Court 
Elkhart, IN 46516 

   
If to the City of Elkhart: 
 
Office of the Mayor 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516 
 

 Copy to: 
 
Elkhart Common Council 
c/o Administrative Assistant to the Council 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516 

   
14. Assignment and Transfer Prohibited: This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 

benefit of the City and the Applicant and their successors and assigns, except that no party may assign or 
transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
15. Valid and Binding Agreement: This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 

each of which shall be deemed to be an original as against any party whose signature appears thereon, and 
all of which shall together constitute one and the same instrument. By executing this Agreement, each party 
confirms that each person so executing it has been duly authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf of 
such party and that this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the party. 



 

Page 5 of 8 
 

 
16. Severability: The provisions of this Agreement and of each section or other subdivision herein 

are independent of and separable from each other, and no provision shall be affected or rendered invalid or 
unenforceable by virtue of the fact that for any reason any other or others of them may be invalid or 
unenforceable in whole or in part unless this Agreement is rendered totally unenforceable thereby. 

 
17. No Personal Liability: No official, director, officer, employee or agent of the City shall be 

charged personally by the Applicant, its employees or agents with any liabilities or expenses of defense or 
be held personally liable to the Applicant under any term or provision of this Agreement or because of the 
execution by such party of this Agreement or because of any default by such party hereunder. 

 
[Signature pages to follow.] 

  



 

Page 6 of 8 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year 

first above written. 

APPLICANT: 
 
PontoonStuff, Inc. 
1165 Fremont Court 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
 
By: 
 
      
James P. Myers 
President 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CITY OF ELKHART: 
 
By: 
 
      
Arvis Dawson 
President of the Elkhart Common Council 
 
 
By:     
 
      
Rod Roberson 
Mayor of the City of Elkhart 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
      
John M. Espar 
Corporation Counsel for the City of Elkhart 

  
 
MMM Realty LLC Legacy Plastics LLC 
1165 Fremont Court 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
 
By: 
 
      
James Morgan 
Chief Operating Officer 
 
MMM Realty LLC 
1165 Fremont Court 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
 
By: 
 
      
James Morgan 
Chief Operating Officer 
 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 



 

Page 7 of 8 
 

Exhibit A 
Description of Real Property  

(Economic Revitalization Area and Project Area) 

 
Legal Description: 
 
LOT NUMBERED SIX-B (6-B) AS THE SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND DESIGNATED ON THE 
RECORDED PLAT OF REPLAT NO. 1 OF LOT SIX (6) OF THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
FOR EASTLAND INDUSTRIAL PARK, PHASE VI, PART "B";  RECORDED IN THE 
RECORDS OF THE ELKHART COUNTY RECORDER IN PLAT BOOK 29, PAGE 16, AND 
LOCATED WITHIN THE EAST HALF OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 5 
EAST, CONCORD TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA.  
 
ALSO, LOT NUMBERED SEVEN (7), AS THE SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND DESIGNATED 
ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF "DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR EASTLAND INDUSTRIAL 
PARK - PHASE VI - PART B", RECORDED IN THE RECORDS OF THE ELKHART 
COUNTY RECORDER IN PLAT BOOK 27, PAGE 100, AND LOCATED WITHIN THE EAST 
HALF OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 5 EAST, CONCORD TOWNSHIP, 
ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA. 
 
Address:  
 
1165 Fremont Court, Elkhart, IN 46516 
 
Parcel Identification Number(s): 
 

20-06-12-427-003.000-011 



 

Page 8 of 8 
 

Exhibit B 

 

Tax Deduction Schedule  

 

 



 

Page 1 of 8 
 

 MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

Personal Property 

This Memorandum of Agreement (“Agreement”) serves as a confirmation of the good-faith 
commitment by PontoonStuff, Inc. \ MMM Realty LLC \ Legacy Plastics LLC, (hereinafter, the 
“Applicant”) to use its reasonable best efforts to implement the Project as described, to create and retain 
the jobs and pay the wages specified in the Applicant’s Property Tax Phase-In Application for designation 
of certain real property as an Economic Revitalization Area, (“Application”), and the Statement of Benefits 
Personal Property Improvement (Form SB-1 Personal Property, as the same may have been amended,  
herein after “Statement of Benefits”), and to fulfill its obligations set forth within this Agreement 
(“Applicant's Commitment”). 

 
 1. Commitments of City and Applicant:   
 
  (a)  Subject to the requirements under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-3, the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana ("City"), acting by and through its Common Council, agrees to approve a deduction from the 
assessed value of the proposed installation of manufacturing equipment for three (3) years (consecutive) on 
the Applicant’s real property to be located at 1165 Fremont Court, Elkhart, IN 46516 (hereinafter, the 
“Subject Property”), which is more specifically described in Exhibit A of this Agreement.  The amount of 
the deduction from the assessed value of the Subject Property shall be according to the deduction schedule 
shown in Exhibit B of this Agreement (hereinafter, the “Tax Phase-In”). The Tax Phase-In shall start with 
the first year in which the assessed value of the Subject Property increases because of the proposed 
manufacturing equipment. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the designation of the Subject 
Property as an economic revitalization area expires on December 31, 2023, and the Project (as hereafter 
defined) must be completed by then for the Applicant to be or remain eligible to receive the Tax Phase-In 
benefits. 
 
  (b)  Subject to Section 4 herein, the Applicant agrees that by December 31, 2022, it will 
make a total capital expenditure of one million five hundred thousand dollars ($1,500,000.00) associated 
with the investment of manufacturing equipment for rotomold injection and robotic CNC equipment at the 
Subject Property (the “New Equipment”), which will create at least 10 new full-time permanent positions 
with an average annual salary of no less than $62,400.00, while retaining 0 jobs with an average annual 
salary of no less than , based on two thousand forty hours (2,040) annually.  The Applicant further agrees 
to contribute fifteen percent (15%) of the amount of personal property taxes abated under the Tax Phase-
In, which payment will be collected by the Elkhart County Treasurer as set forth in the tax invoice statement 
and remitted to the City. Payment of the contribution shall (1) coincide with the due date of property tax 
payments in Elkhart County as set forth in Indiana Code 6-1.1-22-9(a), and (2) shall be due and payable the 
first time in the year following the first year in which the assess value of the subject property increases by 
reason of the Project and shall continue and each year thereafter during the term of the Tax Phase-In 
deduction period set forth in Exhibit B, unless modified by agreement of the City of Elkhart and the 
Applicant.  
   

2.  Applicant’s Compliance with City and State Laws: During the term of the Tax Phase-In, the 
Applicant shall use its good-faith efforts to comply with all applicable provisions of Indiana Code 6-1.1-
12.1. Also, during the term of the Tax Phase-In, the City may annually request information from the 
Applicant concerning the nature of the Project, the costs of the Project and the amount of and average wages 
for the jobs, and the Applicant shall provide the City with adequate written evidence thereof within fifteen 
(15) days of such request ("Annual Survey").  The City shall utilize this information and the information 
provided by the Applicant in the CF-1 Compliance with the Statement of Benefits form to verify that the 
Applicant has complied with the commitments contained in Applicant's Commitment at all times after the 



 

Page 2 of 8 
 

date thereof until the expiration of the Tax Phase-In. The Applicant further agrees to provide the City with 
such additional information reasonably requested by the City related to the information provided in the 
Annual Survey and the CF-1 form within fifteen (15) days following any such additional request.  

 
3.  Substantial Compliance and Rights of Termination:  The City reserves the right to terminate the 

Economic Revitalization Area designation and the associated Tax Phase-In if it determines that the 
Applicant has not substantially complied with all of the Applicant's Commitment, and the Applicant’s 
failure to substantially comply with Applicant's Commitment was not due to factors beyond its control. As 
used in this Agreement, substantial compliance shall mean: by December 31, 2022, (1) making capital 
expenditures of not less than Ninety-Five Percent (95%) of the capital expenditures referenced in Section 
1 above for the Project, (2) creating not less than Ninety-five Percent (95%) of the jobs referenced in Section 
1 above, and (3) those new jobs will have an average annual salary of at least $62,400.00, excluding 
benefits, while retaining the jobs referenced in Section 1 of this Agreement and at the specified average 
annual rate of pay.  

 
4.  Factors Beyond Applicant's Control:  As used in this Agreement, factors beyond the control of 

the Applicant shall only include factors that: (i) are not reasonably foreseeable at the time of designation, 
application, and submission of the Statement of Benefits; (ii) are not caused by any grossly negligent act or 
omission of the Applicant; and (iii) do not materially and adversely affect the ability of the Applicant to 
substantially comply with this Agreement.  

 
5.  Repayment of Tax Phase-In Savings:   
 
 (a) During the term of this Agreement, if the Applicant: (i) is delinquent or in default 

for a period of sixty (60) days with respect to any tax payment due in Elkhart County, Indiana; or (ii) ceases 
operations at the facility for which the Tax Phase-In was granted for a period longer than  thirty (30) 
consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations in the Applicant's normal course of 
business or as a result of a force majeure event); or (iii) announces the cessation of operations at such 
facility for a period longer than thirty (30) consecutive days (other than a temporary cessation of operations 
in the Applicant's normal course of business or as a result of a force majeure event), then the City may 
terminate the Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits, and upon 
such termination, require the Applicant to repay all of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through the date 
of such termination, so long as it follows the procedures set forth in Section 7.   Such repayment of received 
benefits shall be calculated as provided in Section 5(b).  The amount of benefit repayment shall be measured 
against the level of noncompliance. 

 
 (b) In the event the City terminates this Agreement in accordance with this Section 5, 

the Applicant will be required to repay only that percentage of the Tax Phase-In benefits received through 
the date of termination that is equal to the percentage of the Applicant's noncompliance with Section 1 
above, less the fifteen percent (15%) tax savings to the City.  For purposes of this Agreement, the percentage 
of the Applicant's noncompliance with Section 1 above shall be calculated as follows:  the amount of actual 
investment in each particular category (average annual salary, number of jobs, and personal property 
investment) shall be divided by the corresponding established amount for substantial compliance in that 
category to determine the compliance rate.  The compliance rate then shall be subtracted from 100% to 
determine the percentage of noncompliance.  The percentage of noncompliance shall equal the percentage 
of benefit repayment. 

 
Example:  If an applicant promises 100 jobs, 95 jobs represent substantial compliance, and 85 jobs 

are actually created, then the percentage of benefit repayment is the following:  85 



 

Page 3 of 8 
 

actual jobs created ÷ 95 jobs representing substantial compliance = 89.47% compliance 
rate.  100% - 89.47% compliance rate = 10.53% noncompliance rate 

  10.53% of received benefit will be repaid, less a credit for the 15% remitted to the 
City’s Tax Phase-In Development Fund. 

 
If the Applicant fails to achieve substantial compliance in more than one category, the category with the 
lowest compliance rate will be used to determine the repayment percentage. 

 
6.  Assessment Appeals.  Neither the Applicant, nor its successors and assigns, shall file any 

property tax assessment appeal, review, or other challenge of the property tax assessment made for the 
Project involved during the term of the Tax Phase-In unless one of the following conditions occurs during 
the deduction period: 

 
 (a) the original assessment for the Project as determined by the Elkhart County Assessor 

(“Assessor”) is in excess of the total capital expenditure for the Project as set forth in Section 1 of this 
Agreement; or 

 
 (b) a trending assessment or a reassessment by the Assessor increases the assessment for 

the Project by more than fifteen percent (15%) from one year to the next year, or by more than an average 
of ten percent (10%) per year over two (2) or more years. 

 
7.  Notice/Hearing of Termination:  In the event that the City determines in accordance with Section 

5 above that (i) the Economic Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-In benefits should 
be terminated or (ii) that all or a portion of the Tax Savings should be repaid, it will give the Applicant 
notice of such determination, including a written statement calculating the amount due from the Applicant, 
and will provide the Applicant with an opportunity to meet with the City’s designated representatives to 
show cause why the Tax Phase-In benefits should not be terminated and/or repaid.  Such notice shall state 
the names of the person with whom the Applicant may meet and will provide that the Applicant shall have 
thirty (30) days from the date of such notice to arrange such meeting and to provide its evidence concerning 
why the Tax Phase-In benefits termination and/or repayment should not occur.  If, after giving such notice 
and receiving such evidence, if any, the City determines that the Tax Phase-In termination and/or repayment 
action is proper, the Applicant shall be provided with written notice and a hearing before the Common 
Council.  Before any final action shall be taken terminating the Tax Phase-In and/or requiring repayment 
of Tax Phase-In benefits, any such action shall be subject to judicial review under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-
5.9(e). 

 
8.  Repayment:  In the event the City requires repayment of the Tax Phase-In benefits as provided 

following the procedures set forth in Section 7 hereunder, it shall provide Applicant with a written statement 
calculating the amount due ("Statement"), and the Applicant shall repay its actual amount of Tax Phase-In 
benefits to the City within thirty (30) days of the date of the Statement. If the Applicant does not make 
timely repayment, the City shall be entitled to all reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in the 
enforcement and collection of the Tax Phase-In benefits required to be repaid hereunder. 

 
9.  Modification/Entire Agreement:  This Agreement and any schedules attached hereto contain the 

entire understanding between the City and the Applicant with respect to the subject matter hereof, and 
supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, inducements, and conditions, 
expressed or implied, oral or written, except as herein contained. This Agreement may not be modified or 
amended other than by an agreement in writing signed by the City and the Applicant. The Applicant 
understands that any and all filings required to be made or actions required to be taken to initiate or maintain 
the Tax Phase-In are solely the responsibility of the Applicant. 



 

Page 4 of 8 
 

 
10.  Waivers:  Neither the failure, nor any delay on the part of the City to exercise any right, remedy, 

power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial 
exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege preclude any other or further exercise of the same or of 
any other right, remedy, power or privilege with respect to any occurrence or be construed as a waiver of 
such right, remedy, power, or privilege with respect to any other occurrence.  No waiver shall be effective 
unless it is in writing and is signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. 

 
11.  Governing Laws of Indiana:  This Agreement and all questions relating to its validity, 

interpretation, performance, and enforcement shall be governed by the laws and decisions of the courts of 
the State of Indiana. 

 
12.  Applicant’s Consent to Jurisdiction:  The Applicant hereby irrevocably consents to the 

jurisdiction of the Courts of the State of Indiana and of the Elkhart County Circuit or Superior Court in 
connection with any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any documents or 
instrument delivered with respect to any of the obligations hereunder, and any action related to this 
Agreement shall be brought in such County and in such Court. 

 
13.  Notices:  All notices, requests, demands, and other communications required or permitted 

under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been received when delivered by 
hand, by facsimile (with confirmation by registered or certified mail), on the next business day following 
the mailing by a nationally recognized overnight commercial courier, or on the third business day following 
the mailing, by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, thereof, addressed as 
set forth below: 

 
If to Applicant: 
 
PontoonStuff, Inc. 
James P. Myers 
President 
1165 Fremont Court 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
 

  
 
MMM Realty LLC and/or Legacy Plastics LLC 
James Morgan 
Chief Operating Officer 
1165 Fremont Court 
Elkhart, IN  46516 

   
If to the City of Elkhart: 
 
Office of the Mayor 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516 
 

 Copy to: 
 
Elkhart Common Council 
c/o Administrative Assistant to the Council 
229 S. Second Street 
Elkhart, Indiana 46516 

   
14.  Assignment and Transfer Prohibited:  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 

benefit of the City and the Applicant and their successors and assigns, except that no party may assign or 
transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
15.  Valid and Binding Agreement: This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original as against any party whose signature appears 
thereon, and all of which shall together constitute one and the same instrument. By executing this 
Agreement, each party confirms that each person so executing it has been duly authorized to execute this 



 

Page 5 of 8 
 

Agreement on behalf of such party and that this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of 
the party. 

 
16.  Severability:  The provisions of this Agreement and of each section or other subdivision herein 

are independent of and separable from each other, and no provision shall be affected or rendered invalid or 
unenforceable by virtue of the fact that for any reason any other or others of them may be invalid or 
unenforceable in whole or in part unless this Agreement is rendered totally unenforceable thereby. 

 
17.  No Personal Liability:  No official, director, officer, employee or agent of the City shall be 

charged personally by the Applicant, its employees or agents with any liabilities or expenses of defense or 
be held personally liable to the Applicant under any term or provision of this Agreement or because of the 
execution by such party of this Agreement or because of any default by such party hereunder. 

 
[Signature pages to follow.] 

  



 

Page 6 of 8 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year 

first above written. 

APPLICANT: 
 
PontoonStuff, Inc. 
1165 Fremont Court 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
 
By: 
 
      
James P. Myers 
President 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CITY OF ELKHART: 
 
By: 
 
      
Arvis Dawson 
President of the Elkhart Common Council 
 
 
By:     
 
      
Rod Roberson 
Mayor of the City of Elkhart 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
      
John M. Espar 
Corporation Counsel for the City of Elkhart 

  
 
MMM Realty LLC Legacy Plastics LLC 
1165 Fremont Court 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
 
By: 
 
      
James Morgan 
Chief Operating Officer 
 
MMM Realty LLC 
1165 Fremont Court 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
 
By: 
 
      
James Morgan 
Chief Operating Officer 
 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Debra Barrett 
Elkhart City Clerk 



 

Page 7 of 8 
 

Exhibit A 
Description of Real Property  

(Economic Revitalization Area and Project Area) 

 
Legal Description: 
 
LOT NUMBERED SIX-B (6-B) AS THE SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND DESIGNATED ON THE 
RECORDED PLAT OF REPLAT NO. 1 OF LOT SIX (6) OF THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
FOR EASTLAND INDUSTRIAL PARK, PHASE VI, PART "B";  RECORDED IN THE 
RECORDS OF THE ELKHART COUNTY RECORDER IN PLAT BOOK 29, PAGE 16, AND 
LOCATED WITHIN THE EAST HALF OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 5 
EAST, CONCORD TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA.  
 
ALSO, LOT NUMBERED SEVEN (7), AS THE SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND DESIGNATED 
ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF "DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR EASTLAND INDUSTRIAL 
PARK - PHASE VI - PART B", RECORDED IN THE RECORDS OF THE ELKHART 
COUNTY RECORDER IN PLAT BOOK 27, PAGE 100, AND LOCATED WITHIN THE EAST 
HALF OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 5 EAST, CONCORD TOWNSHIP, 
ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA. 
 
Address:  
 
1165 Fremont Court, Elkhart, IN 46516 
 
Parcel Identification Number(s): 
 

20-06-12-427-003.000-011 



 

Page 8 of 8 
 

Exhibit B 

 

Tax Deduction Schedule  

 

 
 



Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-10 

Page 1 of 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
DATE:  March 2, 2022 
 
TO:  Common Council 
    
FROM: Bradley Tracy 
 
RE:  Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-10 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, APPROVING 
THE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ELKHART AND THE 
INDIANA F.O.P. LABOR COUNCIL, INC. 

 

 

Dear Councilmembers,  

 

The negotiating team for the City of Elkhart took the time to meet with the negotiating team for the Indiana 

Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council, Inc. which is the union that represents our Communications Center 

employees and our public safety officers. The negotiating teams were able to arrive at an agreement. The 

Indiana Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council voted and approved the proposed collective bargaining 

agreement. We now request that the Council approve the collective bargaining agreement. 

 

 

Thank you, 

 

Bradley Tracy 

 





 

Proposed Resolution No. 22-R-10 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _________ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, APPROVING THE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF ELKHART AND THE INDIANA FRATERNAL ORDER OF 
POLICE LABOR COUNCIL, INC. 

_______________________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, the negotiating teams for the City of Elkhart, Indiana, (“City”) and the Indiana 

Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council, Inc. have reached an agreement as to a new collective 

bargaining agreement covering the period starting from January 1, 2021 through December 31, 

2024 (the “Collective Bargaining Agreement”), which is attached hereto as Exhibit A; and  

WHEREAS, the Administration, bargaining team and Indiana Fraternal Order of Police 

Labor Council, Inc. recommend and request that the Elkhart Common Council approve the 

collective bargaining agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council finds that the interests of the City of Elkhart are served 

by the collective bargaining agreement: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, that the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the City of 

Elkhart and the Indiana Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council, Inc. attached hereto as Exhibit A 

is hereby approved. 

[Signature page to follow.] 

  



 

 SO RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, _______. 

 
____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at 

________ a.m./p.m. 

_____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, _______. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 



 

 
Exhibit A 

 
Collective Bargaining Agreement Between the City of Elkhart, Indiana and  

the Indiana F.O.P. Labor Council, Inc.  



Collective Bargaining Agreement 

Between 

The City of Elkhart 

Indiana F.O.P, Labor Council, Inc, 

Through 
December 31, 2024 



 
 

Table of Contents ("TOC") by Article 
              (Press control and click on the Article # to link directly to the Article) 

 
Article # Title Page 

Preamble  1 

Article 1 Recognition 2 
Article 2 Non-discrimination 2 
Article 3 Management Rights 3 
Article 4 Union Business & Dues Check-Off 5 
Article 5 Hours of Work 7 
Article 6 Overtime Pay & Scheduling 12 
Article 7 Holidays & Holiday Pay 15 
Article 8 Personal Hours 17 
Article 9 Vacation 18 
Article 10 Sick Hours 19 
Article 11 Medical Leave & Salary Continuance  21 
Article 12 Compensable on the Job Injuries 23 
Article 13 Bereavement Leave 24 
Article 14 Jury Duty  25 
Article 15 Seniority  25 
Article 16 Posting of Job Vacancies, Bidding, Transfers  28 

Article 17 Training Opportunities 30 
Article 18 Military Service  31 
Article 19 Work Rules  32 
Article 20 Arbitration & Grievance Procedures  33 
Article 21 Change of Name, Address and Telephone   37 
Article 22 Retirement Age   37 
Article 23 Safety Committee 38 
Article 24 Uniforms, Boots, Gloves, & Safety Equipment  38 

Article 25 Classification Assignments & Rates of Pay  39 
Article 26 Longevity Pay  40 
Article 27 
 

Health Insurance, Life Insurance & Benefits Advisory 
Committee 

  41 

Article 28 PERF Pension 42 

Article 29 Successor   43 
Article 30 Communications Center Shift Bid   43 
Article 31  Officers and Elections            44 

Article 32 No Strike Clause 45 

Article 33 Term of Agreement 46 

Signatures  47 

Attachment A Pay Grades            50 

Attachment B Cost of Living Increase   51 



1 

Preamble 

Whereas, the obligation and responsibility for furnishing efficient service to the 

public is a mutual responsibility of the City and the employees of the City of Elkhart. 

Whereas, the responsibility for the operation for the various departments of the 

Whereas, the City recognizes its responsibility to provide service to the public 

and the City recognizes the right of its employees to a clarification of administrative 

policy; 

Whereas, the powers and duties of the Mayor, and the various boards listed 

above cannot be delegated; however, the present administration does recognize that the 

employees of the City may associate together to select representatives and petition for 

redress of grievances; 

Whereas, the Board of Public Safety of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, with respect 

to full-time hourly employees of the following departments: Communications 

Department Employees and Civil City Safety Officers in the Elkhart Police Department 

have negotiated and discussed wages, hours, and working conditions with 

representatives of the Indiana F.O.P. Labor Council (IFOPLC), acting on behalf of 

employees of the listed departments and have reached accord in regard to wages, hours, 

and working conditions, and other matters from January 1, 2021 through December 31, 

2024. Now, therefore, the City of Elkhart and Indiana F.O.P. Labor Council, Inc. 

Employees hereby agree as follows: 



2 

ARTICLE 1 

Recognition 

 Section 1. For the duration of this Agreement, the City recognizes Indiana F.O.P. 

Labor Council as the collective bargaining representative for hourly employees regularly 

scheduled to work forty (40) hours per week in the following departments: 

b. Communications Center Employees 

Section 2. Nothing in this Article or any other provision of this Agreement shall 

be construed to constitute an acknowledgment by the City that any work assignment, job 

classification, job position or any particular work is the exclusive right or ownership 

interest of any employee or group of employees represented by IFOPLC. 

ARTICLE 2 

Non-discrimination 

Section 1. The City and Union agree that no applicant or employee shall be 

discriminated against because of their race, age, religion, color, sex, national origin, or 

disability as defined by law, except where specific age, sex, or physical requirements 

constitute a bona fide occupational qualification necessary to proper and efficient 

operation or as provided by law. Further, the City and Union agree that no applicant or 

employee shall be discriminated against because of Union membership or activities or a 

desire to refrain from same.  

Section 2. The City shall abide by current State & Federal law regarding Title 

VII and the ADA as amended. 



3 

ARTICLE 3 

Management Rights 

Section 1. The City, on its own behalf and on behalf of its citizens, hereby retains 

and reserves all powers, rights, authority, duties, and responsibilities conferred upon and 

vested in it by the laws and the Constitution of the State of Indiana, and the United States 

of America, City ordinances and Code and any modifications made thereto, and any 

resolutions or policies passed by City elected and/or appointed officials. Further, all rights 

that ordinarily vest in and are exercised by employers except to the extent such are 

specifically relinquished in this Agreement are reserved to and remain vested in the City, 

including but without limiting the following rights: 

a.  to manage its affairs efficiently and economically, including the 

determination of quantity and quality of services to be rendered, the 

control of material, tools, and equipment to be used and the 

discontinuance of any services, material, or methods of operation; 

 b.  to introduce new equipment, methods, machinery or processes, change or 

eliminate existing equipment, and institute technological changes, decide 

on materials, supplies, equipment, and tools to be purchased; 

 c.  to purchase or subcontract any or all work, processes or services, or the 

construction of new facilities or the improvement of existing facilities; 

 to hire, assign, evaluate, and lay off employees, to reduce the workweek or 

the workday, or effect reductions in hours worked by combining layoffs 

and reductions in workweek or workday;  



4 

  to direct the work force, assign work, and determine the number of 

employees assigned to operations; 

h. to establish, change, combine or discontinue job classifications and 

prescribe and assign job duties, content, and classifications; 

j. to establish and, from time to time, to change work schedules; 

k. to establish and, from time to time, to change work and productive 

standards; 

1.  to establish, maintain, enforce, and revise policies, procedures, regulations, 

and rules to govern conduct of employees in order to maintain  safe and 

efficient operations;  

  to discipline and discharge employees for just cause; 

  n.  to transfer, promote and demote employees from one classification,           

  to determine an applicant's and employee's prior work experience, training, 

demonstration of relevant skills, ability or knowledge, performance record, 

and seniority as an employee of the covered departments subject to any 

applicable bidding procedures; and  

q.  to operate its equipment with all personnel, including supervision for cross-

training, instruction or emergency or challenging circumstances as it 

determines necessary and/or appropriate. 



5 
 

 

 

Section 2. The exercise by the City of, or its waiver of or its failure to exercise its full right of 

management or decision on any matter or occasion, shall not prohibit the City from exercising such rights 

in the future. 

ARTICLE 4 

Union Business and 
Dues Check-Off 

Section 1. The administration of grievances shall occur during the employee's and /or the steward's 

non-working time. On occasion, and with the prior consent of the department head, the administration of 

a grievance may occur during the scheduled shift. If a grievance arises for which the department head 

determines there is a need to meet on non-work time, then the department head will meet with the steward 

at a mutually convenient time. 

Section 2. Union representatives shall give their department heads at least twenty-four (24) hours 

prior written notice if they expect to be absent from normal duties to participate in Union business that 

lasts three work days or less. The absence contemplated in this Section is without pay. 

Section 3. An employee may request the assistance of a steward during working time if the 

employee is to meet with a supervisor and the purpose of the meeting is discipline of the employee, or 

the employee is to be questioned which may ultimately result in disciplinary action against that 

employee. 

Section 4. No more than two (2) union representatives, with no more than one (1) union 

representative from any one department, may be granted leave without pay to attend union sponsored 

conventions, meetings and/or seminars. The City will provide paid time for two (2) members for a 



6 
 

maximum of 5 days annually for such purposes. The time will be paid only for days the employee would 

have otherwise worked. To qualify for leave with or without pay under this Article 4, the Executive 

Board of IFOPLC must make written application to the department head at least thirty (30) days prior to 

the scheduled event. The total number of days of unpaid leave granted pursuant to this Section shall not 

exceed five (5) for any one employee, or thirty-five (35) days in total for all employees in any calendar 

year.  

Section 5. All union dues shall be deducted from the first paycheck of each month and remitted 

by the City to the union. No deduction shall be made, however, unless the employee has submitted an 

authorization for the deduction. Written authorization by an employee shall be renewed each calendar 

year. Employees shall indicate annually that their participation in the Union is at will by acknowledging 

such on the annual status form (or equivalent). This shall serve as the employees' authorization for dues 

deduction as well.  Employees may change dues deduction at any time during the calendar year by 

written notice to Human Resources. 

Section 6. If an error is discovered with respect to any deductions made pursuant to this Article, 

the City shall correct the error by appropriate adjustments in the next paycheck of the employee, or the 

next submission of funds to the union. Additionally, if excessive monies have been collected by the City 

and submitted to the union, the union (and not the City) shall refund such monies to the appropriate 

person(s). Further, the union agrees to indemnify the City and hold the City harmless from and against 

any and all claims, demands, suits or other forms of liability that may arise by reason of the provisions 

of this Article 4. 

Section 7. The City Agrees to distribute a packet of information provided by the Union to new 

employees. The City shall remit a list of employees that have authorized such deductions to the 

secretary of the Union at the end of each calendar year. The City also agrees that it shall submit a list of 

new employees quarterly to the Union secretary. 



7 
 

ARTICLE 5 

Hours of Work 
Section 1. Work Schedule. The nature of work performed by a municipality and its employees 

requires that work schedules vary considerably within the City of Elkhart. Management retains the right 

to designate the time the workday begins and the time the workday ends, but shall include 8 hours of 

time worked without regard to a lunch break. The normal workweek shall consist of forty (40) hours 

worked without regard to lunch break. All hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours a day shall be 

compensated as overtime, with the exception of trade time. Under this section, vacation, paid 

holidays and paid sick hours shall constitute hours worked if the same are part of the scheduled work 

week of an individual employee. 

   Section 2. Lunch Time. It has been agreed by all parties that due to the nature of business 

conducted by the Communications Center and the Police Department Civil Safety Officers that lunch 

breaks are not possible, as public safety is of the utmost importance, a working lunch shall be taken and 

it is reflected in the hours worked during an eight (8) hour shift. 

Section 3. An up-to-date telephone number that rings into the principal place of residence, or a 

cellular phone which is exclusively the employee's, is essential and required in order for the City to call 

its employees in times of emergencies. Answering machines are not an acceptable method of answering 

the telephone due to the delay in calling the next senior person when waiting for a call back from the 

previous person. An answer by the answering machine will be considered a no answer and the next 

employee will be called. The supervisor doing the calling will leave a message on the answering 

machine stating that the department has called. Text messaging shall not be an acceptable form of 

notification. 

 



8 
 

Section 4.  An employee, who is called to work on their scheduled day off or is recalled to work 

within 8 hours of their work day, shall be entitled to compensation for no less than two (2) 

hours. If the job for which the employee has been recalled is completed in less than two (2) hours, the 

employee will not be required to remain at their place of work for the entire two (2) hours unless 

emergency conditions exist (snowfall, windstorms, flood, earthquake, etc.) as determined by 

management. If an additional recall is necessary and the employee has been released during the first two 

(2) hour period, any balance of time from the first two (2) hour period less than two (2) hours shall be 

used in the second recall before an additional two (2) hours compensation shall be owed. An employee 

called back pursuant to this Section 5 shall receive time and one half (1 1/2) for all hours worked with a 

minimum of two (2) hours pay. An employee, who is required to wear a pager or City cell phone on 

their scheduled day off but who is not called to work, shall receive two (2) hours of pay at the 

employee's regular rate of pay or two (2) hours of straight compensatory time for each day the 

employee was required to wear the pager or City cell phone. 

Section 5. An employee, who is called to work on their scheduled day off or is recalled to work 

within 8 hours of their work day, shall be entitled to compensation for no less than two (2) hours. If the 

job for which he has been recalled is completed in less than two (2) hours, the employee will not be 

required to remain at his place of work for the entire two (2) hours, unless emergency conditions exist 

(snowfall, windstorms, flood, earthquake, etc.) as determined by management. If an additional recall is 

necessary and the employee has been released during the first two (2) hour period, any balance of time 

form the first two (2) hour period less than two (2) hours shall be used in the second recall before an 

additional two (2) hours compensation shall be owed. An employee called back pursuant to this Section 

5 shall receive time and one half (1 1/2) for all hours worked with a minimum of two (2) hours pay or, 

with Department Head approval, two (2) hours of compensatory time.    



9 
 

Section 6. Employees called in after eight (8) hours have elapsed since they last punched out 

will not be considered on recall but will be entitled to two (2) hours minimum compensation unless 

notified at least two (2) hours in advance before they are to report for work. In such case, time and a 

half (1 1/2) will be paid for the hours worked before and after the normal eight (8) hour schedule. 

Section 7. Attendance at training, safety, or departmental information meetings, at times other 

than during an employee's regularly scheduled shift, shall not be considered recall or call-in time. 

Employees who attend training, safety or departmental information meetings shall be entitled to at least 

two (2) hours minimum compensation at time and a half (1 ½) if it occurs outside of the work schedule 

and is not contiguous to the work day.  

Section 8. An employee who is called back to work on any holiday will receive, in addition to 

their holiday pay for the day off, the pay described in the minimum call-back provisions described here 

but at a rate of two (2) times the normal hourly rate (rather than one and a half (1 1/2) times the regular 

hourly rate.) 

Section 9. During times of storm, breakdown, public disaster, or other emergency, it shall be the 

employee's responsibility to return the supervisor's/designee's call to report to work within 15 minutes. 

Failure to do so shall cause an employee not to be entitled to claim that they she should have received an 

emergency work assignment. It will be the employee's responsibility to provide the department with 

updated phone contact information. 

Section 10. There is to be an employee (on-call) designated from each shift at all times. The on-

call person is responsible for covering short notice vacancies when needed. 

1. On Call Compensation - Two (2) hours of pay will be earned when being on-

call per regular day off, provided that employee is not called into work. This 

may be compensated as straight pay or straight compensatory time, if 

compensatory time is approved by Department Head. If an employee is paged 



10 
 

in during their regularly scheduled day off, they will receive their normal 

overtime pay rather than the two (2) hours of on call compensation. 

2. Communication Center On Call Time Periods - On call periods for the 

Communication Center will be in one week increments pursuant to 

departmental rules and regulations.  

When an employee calls in sick, the person on-call is to be notified directly. That individual will be 

responsible to work or cover the 4-hour slot. If the on-call person does not wish to work it, it will be 

their responsibility to contact employees off duty by seniority to cover the hours for them. Because the 

employee is paid for on-call, they will have to cover or find the coverage for their hours. 

3. Responsibility and Rotations 

b. On call employees are required to contact the Center within 15 minutes of 

an initial call for notification, and must be capable of reporting to work 

within one (1) hour. 

c. Team Leaders are responsible for implementing and maintaining each 

shift’s on-call rotation list. The lists are to be posted in the radio room. 

Additionally, each week the pager board must be updated to reflect who is 

responsible for each shift’s on-call during that week. Any changes made to 

the rotation list must be shared with the shift, and the list and/or board must 

be updated as well. 

d. Employees that are scheduled as being off on voluntary leave (VAC) are 

not eligible to also be on-call. It will be the responsibility of that employee 

to find coverage for any  and each day they will be off on leave, as well as 

notifying their Team Leader of those changes. 



11 
 

 e.  When possible, and unless otherwise instructed or approved by 

management, during the time period in which a person is responsible for 

on-call this would exempt them from any hold-over overtime slots and/or 

rotations, as well as prevent them from participating in voluntary overtime 

sign-up's that would conflict with call-in times. 

Section 11. Trading of Days An employee shall be permitted to voluntarily trade six (6) shifts 

per quarter pursuant to internal rules and regulations and subject to approval of the Department Head 

or Assistant Department Head. The period when time is traded and paid back shall not exceed a 

quarter year. A trading of time shall occur between two (2) employees (in other words once an 

agreement to trade time has occurred, the employee scheduled to work that time shall not be permitted 

to trade that time with a third employee). The employee requesting the trade shall complete a record 

on forms provided by the Department sufficient to inform the Department fully of the trade, and the 

City shall keep a record of all time traded by its employees. Such traded regular work shifts shall be 

exempted from the computation of overtime hours and shall not cause an adjustment in the 

employee’s normal salary. Where one employee substitutes for another, each employee will be 

credited as if they had worked their normal schedule for that shift. An employee who is working a 

trade may elect to use their earned vacation, personal or compensatory time on the day of the trade, 

pending approval of the shift supervisor and with the exception that it does not create overtime. An 

employee who elects to use time off on the day of the trade will not receive any additional 

compensation; however, the hours will be deducted from the employee’s available time off.  Under no 

circumstances shall an employee be permitted to trade a work day for cash or its equivalent or for 

anything other than an equivalent workday. Probationary employees will not be permitted to trade 

days during first six (6) months of employment. 

 



12 
 

 

ARTICLE 6 

Overtime Pay and Scheduling 

Section 1. Due to the nature of some of the work to be performed (emergency, snow, storms, 

floods, earthquake, etc.) to assure the common welfare of the general public, management may require 

any employee of the department to work overtime. All time worked by employees covered by this 

Agreement, with supervisory permission, in excess of the eight (8) hour workday as defined in Article 

5, Section 1, Hours of Work, will be compensated as overtime.  This provision shall not prohibit, 

however, an employee and his supervisor, from time to time, from arriving at a mutually acceptable 

variation from the normal workday or normal work schedule which shall not result in payment of any 

overtime. The rate of pay for overtime is one and one half (1 1/2) hours times the employee's regular 

straight time hourly rate of pay for each hour of overtime worked. It is understood there shall be no 

duplicating or pyramiding of overtime.  

Section 2. Overtime compensation shall be calculated by one and one-half (1 1/2) times the 

employee's regular straight time hourly rate multiplied by the actual amount of time worked in excess of 

the eight (8) hour workday. Monetary overtime compensation shall be paid no later  

than the next regularly scheduled payday after the overtime is earned.  Based upon financial 

considerations of the City, management may direct, with the employee's consent, overtime be paid by 

crediting compensatory time off with pay at the rate of one and one half (1 ½) time the actual time 

worked. The calculation for compensatory time in lieu of monetary overtime shall be one and one half 

times the actual amount of time worked in excess of the eight (8) hour workday.   



13 
 

Section 3. Compensatory time - An employee may request to have overtime paid by crediting 

compensatory time off with pay at the rate of one and one half (1 1/2) times the actual time worked in 

excess of the eight (8) hour workday. Compensatory time off with pay must be submitted for approval 

by the Department Head. Compensatory time off may be submitted at any time during the calendar year 

so long as the employee has sufficient accrued time to cover the hours requested.  Departmental policies 

may provide more details to how this Article is implemented. 

An employee shall be allowed to accumulate up to one hundred sixty (160) hours of non-

expiring compensatory time. Any time accumulated in excess of one hundred sixty (160) hours must be 

used within the pay period earned or taken as monetary compensation. 

When an employee notifies management of his intent to retire or voluntarily terminate 

employment with the City, the employee’s available accumulated compensatory time shall be reduced 

to no more than one-hundred sixty (160) hours. This portion of unused compensatory time shall be paid 

at the time of termination.  

A maximum of one hundred sixty hours of compensatory time (160) shall be eligible to be rolled 

over into the new year. All compensatory time above and beyond one hundred sixty (160) hours will be 

paid out on January 1 of the new year. 

Section 4. When advance scheduling permits, as determined by management, wherein 

management knows no later than one (1) hour before quitting time on any workday that an overtime 

assignment is necessary the next working day or next scheduled shift, employees shall be scheduled for 

such overtime in a rotation schedule in order of classification seniority. For unique situations such as 

notification late on the last day of the workweek or when an employee is not off duty sixteen (16) hours 

before returning to work (such as the swing shift and short notice comes up that overtime is necessary), 

the decision to use the rotation schedule will be determined by management. If a department or work 

group and their supervisor work out an alternative mutually agreeable overtime assignment which is 



14 
 

approved by the union president or designee and president of the Board of Public Works, or Board of 

Public Safety, such alternative overtime assignment shall not be grievable. 

Section 5. In the event the City inadvertently makes an error to assign overtime in accordance 

with Section 1 of this Article, the employee who was entitled to the work shall be given, within thirty (30) 

days of the missed assignment, additional work equal to that which the employee would have worked but  

for the missed assignment. The employee must request the makeup work no later than the first business 

day following the end of the next payroll period in which the missed assignment occurred. Should the 

City make an additional missed assignment, within the same calendar year, causing the same employee 

to be left out of an overtime assignment he should have been awarded, the City agrees to compensate the 

employee in pay in the same amount as the employee would have earned had he received the assignment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

        ARTICLE 7 

Holidays and Holiday Pay 
 

New Year's Day 

Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday (Observed the third Monday in January) 

President's Day  

Good Friday 

May Election Day (During Election Years) 



15 
 

             Junteenth 

Independence Day 

Labor Day (Observed the first Monday in September) 

November Election Day (During Election Years) 

Veteran's Day 

Friday after Thanksgiving Day 

Christmas Day 

 

For the duration of this Agreement, the above noted holidays shall be observed. The dates that each 

holiday will be observed will be provided annually by the Mayor's office prior to the beginning of each 

calendar year. Each employee shall be paid holiday pay as provided in the ordinance adopted by the 

Elkhart Common Council. 

In the event that a designated holiday is not observed on the actual holiday, employees working 

in 24/7 operations will receive holiday pay as provided in this section for working the actual holiday 

rather than the observed holiday. If an employee is required to work on a holiday, the employee shall 

receive one and a half (1 1/2) times the employee's regular hourly rate in addition to the eight (8) hours 

of holiday pay granted to all employees. With the approval of the Department Head, an employee may 

choose to be paid by crediting compensatory time off with pay at the rate of one and one half (1 ½ ) 

times the actual time worked in lieu of monetary compensation.   

Any employee who is scheduled off on a designated holiday and subsequently works one of the 

designated holidays, will be paid two (2) times his regular rate of pay in addition to the eight (8) hours 

holiday pay granted to all employees. If an employee completes a scheduled shift of work on a holiday 

and returns home only to be called back to work, the employee will be paid two (2) times his regular 

rate of pay for the call-back on the holiday.  



16 
 

Any employee who is scheduled off on a designated holiday shall receive eight (8) hours of 

straight pay that will be paid at the employee’s regular hourly rate. An employee may choose to instead 

be paid by crediting eight (8) hours of straight compensatory time off with pay, with the approval of 

Department Head. Details regarding the implementation of this Article may be found in the 

Department’s Rules and Regulations.  

Section 2. To be eligible to receive holiday pay as set forth in Section 1, the employee must work 

all of the normal workday hours of the employee's scheduled work day immediately before the designated 

holiday, and all of the normal workday hours of the employee's scheduled workday immediately after the 

designated holiday. Contractually granted leave approved in advance by the department head (vacation, 

bereavement, personal day, or other excused absences approved by the department head) shall be 

considered time worked for purposes of this Section 2. An employee scheduled to work the holiday who 

does not report to work as scheduled shall not receive holiday pay. In the event that inability to report to 

work on a scheduled holiday due to just cause, holiday pay shall be granted. The employee shall be 

required to provide tangible proof of the incident in question. 

Section 3. An employee will be paid for the holiday if the employee misses the day before or 

day after the holiday provided the employee provides an acceptable doctor's medical certification and 

the employee has not received a reprimand for absenteeism in the last twelve (12) months. The City 

reserves the right to verify, through investigation and reasonable inquiry, the employee's injury or 

illness and/or to obtain a second medical opinion at the City's expense. An employee's refusal to 

cooperate with City requests pursuant to this Section 3 will result in the employee's disqualification for 

holiday pay. 



17 
 

Section 5. When Spring Daylight Savings Time takes effect, which results in a 7 hour work day 

for third shift personnel, the affected personnel will have the opportunity to make up the lost time of one 

(1) hour by reporting to work one (1) hour prior to their scheduled shift or by staying one (1) hour past 

their scheduled shift. Arrangements for the amended work schedule will be approved by the 

administration of each department to ensure maximum manpower coverage. 

 

ARTICLE 8 

Section 1. All employees, upon completing one (1) year of continuous service shall receive 

twenty-eight (28) personal hours off with pay, which personal hours must be requested and taken from 

anniversary date to anniversary date.  Personal hours must be taken in not less than one (1) hour 

increments. The request for personal time is subject to the approval of the department head. In an 

emergency (personal, family, household) the department head may accept as little as one (1) hour 

notice. For non-emergencies a twenty-four (24) hour notice is required. The personal hours must be 

applied for as required above and will be granted in accordance with the rules of seniority. Scheduling 

of all personal hours off will be at the discretion of the department head or his designated 

representative. Personal hours may not be accumulated from year to year. 

 



18 
 

ARTICLE 9 

Vacation 

Section 1. Vacation shall not accumulate from year to year and must be taken before the next 

anniversary date of hire or it shall be forfeited. Vacation shall be taken in increments of one (1) hours.  

Section 3. All vacation is subject to approval by the employee's supervisor, who shall approve or 

disapprove the selected dates within two workdays of the employee's request. The dates each employee 

shall take vacation shall be determined by the City in order of seniority. Once an employee's vacation 

dates have been selected and approved by the employee's supervisor, another employee with more 

seniority cannot force a change. 

Section 4. For critical schedule operations, an employee shall be required to request vacation in 

advance by the same number of days as the duration of the vacation (e.g., if the employee wants a three 

(3) week continuous vacation, the employee must request it at least three (3) weeks in advance). In the 

event of an unforeseeable situation were the employee has no other paid time off benefit to cover 

needed time (e.g. sick time), vacation pay for that time may be approved by management. Management 

may require proof of such situations before granting approval to use vacation pay. 

Section 5. If employment terminates for any reason, vacation that has been earned by reason of 

employment in the prior year, but not yet taken, shall be paid to the 

employee or the employee's heirs as determined by the Indiana laws of descent and distribution 

and as described in the City’s Employee Handbook. Vacation is a benefit and not part of wages. 

Therefore, vacation is not earned by virtue of work during a partial year in which termination 

occurs. Rather, vacation is allotted upon the employee's anniversary date of hire. 

 



19 
 

ARTICLE 10 

Sick Hours 

Section 2. Sick hours are made available to compensate an employee who is unable to work due 

to an illness, a non-work related injury or by engaging in treatment prescribed by a medical doctor 

approved by the City. Sick hours may also be used by employees to attend to the illness, injury or bona 

fide medical treatment of an employee's spouse, child, or parent. Time off requests to use sick hours for 

personal medical treatment or to attend to medical treatment of qualified family members as previously 

stated requires proof of the appointment for approval. The Employee, who is unable to work due to 

personal or family member illness or injury, shall notify their supervisor prior to the scheduled time to 

reporting to work. An employee, who needs time off for non-emergency medical treatment, shall notify 

their supervisor of such need at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance. Misrepresentation by an employee 

of any facts to support a claim for the use of sick hours shall be grounds for disciplinary action and may 

result in the employee's termination from employment. 

Section 3. If an employee is absent from work for five (5) consecutive work days, upon the 

department head's request, the employee upon return to work must provide the department head with a 

physician's certification specifying the nature of the illness or injury with a statement from the 

physician that the employee was unable to perform his duties on said days and confirming that 

employee is able to return to work with normal job duties. Nevertheless, the City reserves the right to 

request a physician's certification when an employee is absent his last scheduled workday prior to or 



20 
 

his first scheduled workday following a paid holiday. Failure to cooperate in providing such proof may 

result in the denial of compensation pursuant to this Article. The City may at any time require a second 

medical opinion from a physician selected by the City at its expense. 

 Section 4. By December 31 of each year during the term of this agreement, each employee shall 

be paid for unused sick hours up to a maximum of forty-eight (48) hours for that particular calendar 

year, calculated at the employee’s current rate of pay for each unused sick hour.  

Section 5.  Employees hired after the effective date of this Agreement shall be allotted sick 

hours, prorated as follows: 

a. Hire date on or between January 1 and March 8—forty-eight (48) sick hours; 

b. Hire date on or between March 9 and May 14—forty (40) fifty-six; 

c. Hire date on or between May 15 and July 20—thirty-two (32) hours; 

d. Hire date on or between July 21 and September 25—twenty-four (24) sick hours; 

e. Hire date on or between September 26 and November 30—sixteen 

(16) sick hours; 
 

f. Hire date after November 30—no sick hours. 

Section 6. An employee with more than two years of continuous employment with the City who 

resigns or retires, but who is not terminated for cause, shall be paid for unused sick hours up to a 

maximum of forty-eight (48) hours calculated at the employee’s current rate of pay. 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 11 



21 
 

Medical Leave and Salary 
Continuation 

Section 1. The City recognizes all employees who qualify for benefits given to them by the Family 

Medical Leave Act of 1993 and as amended (FMLA). FMLA is concurrent with salary continuation 

benefits. 

Section 2. A medical leave will be approved when supported by a written statement from the 

employee's physician. A medical leave will not be extended for more than twenty-six (26) weeks for any 

one sickness, injury or disability or concurrent sickness, injury or disability. A medical leave is defined 

as a leave because of illness or injury which lasts more than seven (7) calendar days. Provided the 

employee qualifies for FMLA, the employee has the option of taking the five working days unpaid, if 

they do not have accrued compensatory time. 

Section 3. Employees shall be paid Five Hundred Twenty-five Dollars ($525) per week 

until the employee is able to return to work up to a maximum of twenty-six (26) weeks 

commencing seven (7) calendar days from the date of such illness or injury. This salary 

continuation is intended to be wages, therefore, insurance, social security, and PERF, as well as 

any applicable taxes will be withheld. The salary continuance payroll checks will be issued bi-

weekly by the City 

Section 4. An employee is eligible one time for a maximum of up to twenty-six (26) 

weeks of salary continuation in any rolling twelve (12) month period. During an employee's medical 

leave, the City will pay the City's share of the employee's (and employee's family) City group 

insurance for a maximum period of six (6) months provided the employee continues payment of his 

share of the premium. It is not possible to take short term disability on an intermittent basis.  



22 
 

Section 5. If an employee is injured or becomes ill while off duty on vacation causing medical 

leave to be necessary at the time the employee is scheduled to return from vacation such medical leave 

will be effective on the first day they are scheduled to return to duty from vacation. 

Section 6. If an employee's medical leave lasts more than one (1) month, said employee will not 

be eligible to take any vacation for a minimum of one (1) month after returning to work to allow work 

backlog to be caught up. However, such employees will not lose vacation time that they otherwise 

could have taken during such thirty (30) calendar day period if delayed by management beyond their 

anniversary date. An employee on medical leave shall not lose any vacation earned prior to the illness 

or injury but shall not earn additional future vacation time during the period of time the employee is off 

work on medical leave. In such case, the employee will earn vacation during the year the leave occurs 

as follows: the number of days not on leave divided by 365 days and the resulting fraction shall be 

multiplied by the days of vacation the employee would have had for the year had the employee not been 

on leave. 

 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 12 

Compensable on the Job Injuries 



23 
 

Section 1. Employees who may become injured on the job in an accident arising out of or in the 

course of their employment under circumstances which would qualify the employee for benefits under 

the Workers' Compensation Act or the Occupational Disease Act, shall report the matter to their 

supervisor by the end of the shift for instructions on the procedure for medical care under the provisions 

of the Workers' Compensation Act of the State of Indiana. 

Section 2. The reporting of all accidents to the supervisor is necessary and must be prompt and 

accurate in order to ensure proper handling of all compensable claims. 

Section 3. An employee injured, or who incurs a work related illness, on the job will not need to 

use any sick hours to visit a doctor or otherwise seek emergency medical care (including follow up 

medical care or treatment). On the other hand, if the injury or illness is such that the physician releases 

the employee to return to work after the examination and simple treatment, the employee is expected to 

return to work. The employee will receive full pay for the day of the injury under these circumstances 

so long as the employee returns to work on that day if instructed by the physician. 

Section 4. For the first on the job injury of the year covered by this Agreement, an injured 

employee will receive full pay during the first week. For injuries received due to an intentional tortuous 

act, an injured employee will receive full pay during the first week. If Workers' Compensation later 

pays benefits to the employee for that week, those benefits will be reimbursed to the City. 

will continue to pay the Employer's share of the health insurance premium provided that the Employee 

continues payment of his/her share of the premium. The Employee will be required to pay the premiums 

for any additional group benefits the employee has elected to continue coverage during the leave. 

                                                                  ARTICLE 13 



24 
 

Bereavement Leave 

Regular full-time employees will be allowed up to three (3) work days off without loss of pay in 

the event of death of the employee's spouses/significant others, father/mother son/daughter 

brother/sister or grandparents. 

Bereavement pay is calculated based on the pay rate at the time of absence. Bereavement leave 

must be taken in consecutive work days at the time of the event unless documentation for postponed 

services is provided. 

Employees may, with their supervisor's approval, use vacation or personal paid days off for 

additional time off as necessary. 

 

 

ARTICLE 14 

Jury Duty 
Section 1. It shall be the policy of the City of Elkhart to encourage its employees to avail 

themselves of the opportunity of serving upon juries when so called. When so called, upon proper proof 

submitted and upon prior notice having been given to the appropriate department head, regular 

compensation shall be given during the time such employee is actually involved in injury duty. Any 



25 
 

jury fees received by an employee shall be kept by the employee. If an employee is released from jury 

service during working hours, the employee shall report for work, to the extent reasonable and practical. 

                                                   

     ARTICLE 15 

Section 1. Seniority shall be defined for purpose of this Statement of Policy as an employee's 

length of continuous service with the City of Elkhart since their last date of 

hire. 
 



26 
 

Management will notify the employee and the Union, in writing, of an extension of an employee's 

probationary period by the end of the first probationary period. There shall be no seniority among 

probationary employees, and each may be laid off, discharged or otherwise terminated at the sole 

discretion of the City. 

Section 2. Continuous service or employment shall be defined for the purpose of this statement of 

policy as the length of non-cumulative active employment as a municipal employee of the City of Elkhart 

Section 3. Previous periods of continuous service, when there has been a break in service of no 

more than 12 months, shall be recognized in the computation and vacation. For this benefit, the sum of 

eligible cumulative employment with the City of Elkhart will be applicable. 

Section 5. In situations of layoff or forced shift change, the laid off employee or employee who 

is forced to change shifts must displace another employee within the same department as long as the 

employee being displaced has less seniority than the displacing employee. A laid off employee who 

cannot stay within the same department may displace another employee in a different classification or 



27 
 

department as long as the employee has the seniority, skills, qualifications, and abilities that is equal to 

or more than the employee being displaced. 

Section 6. If an employee is promoted to a supervisory position, except the position of 

department head or elected official, the employee’s bargaining unit seniority will be frozen for one year 

as of the date of promotion, and the employee will not be permitted to bid on a bargaining unit position 

while in a supervisory position. If that employee subsequently is removed from that position for any 

reason other than discharge for cause, the employee may return to the bargaining unit within one year 

and retain their bargaining unit seniority. After one year if the employee returns to the bargaining unit, 

the employee will be considered a new IFOPLCI union member with no seniority. The employee shall 

return to their former classification as long as it does not cause a layoff of another employee in that 

classification or in the event a return to the former classification would cause a layoff, the employee 

shall return to the next available opening in the bargaining unit for which the employee has bargaining 

unit seniority and the present skills, qualifications and abilities to perform. 

Section 7. Changes in work schedules, vacations, days off preference, and/or shifts for non-

sworn, non-exempt police personnel shall be posted and awarded to the employee who bid on such 

posting who possesses the most department seniority. For purposes of this Agreement, the term 

"departmental seniority" shall mean the continuous time a bargaining unit employee has worked within 

the non-sworn, non-exempt police personnel position. 

Section 8. An employee who bids into a new department from another department shall have 

their prior departmental seniority included in the time worked in the new department after a period of 



28 
 

12 months for purposes utilizing departmental seniority except in the Police Department as covered in 

Section 7 of this Article. 

 

ARTICLE 16 

Posting of Job Vacancies, Bidding and Transfers 

Section 1. Posting. A job vacancy in any classification covered by this agreement shall be 

posted City wide as soon as management reviews the position, job description and any other factors 

necessary, in the City's sole discretion, if the position is in fact needed at all. Each opening is an 

opportunity for the City to review organization human resources requirements. City will note on posting 

when trial period and therefore pay for the new position will begin. 

Section 2. Bidding. 

(a) All employees except those with a disciplinary action pending or upheld at a level more severe 

than verbal or written warnings in the prior six (6) months covered by this Agreement may bid on a posted 

job. The job will be posted City wide for seven (7) days to find a qualified candidate to fill the position. 

IFOPLC employees in the department with the open position will have three (3) days to submit a bid for 

priority consideration under subsection (b)(l) of this section. If any qualified IFOPLC employees within 

the department submits a bid, Human Resources will discontinue the posting. No employee covered by 

this agreement with less than three (3) years seniority shall be allowed to bid on a job at a lower pay 

classification outside of his department (b) The City shall select a candidate for the open position per the 

following order of consideration: 

1. The bidder from within the bargaining unit with the most skills, qualifications, and abilities 

shall be selected as long as the member of the bargaining unit meets the minimum 



29 
 

requirements. They will be scored in four categories; skill level, customer service, tenure, 

and previous evaluation scores. In the event of a tie, then bargaining unit seniority shall 

be the controlling factor. 

2. A bidder from outside the bargaining unit.  

Departments for purposes of this Article shall mean hourly employees, non-sworn, non-exempt 

employees of the Police Department. 

(c) In the event the City determines there is no bidder qualified to fill the vacancy, it may 

hire a new employee for the vacant position. 

Section 3. Transfers, notwithstanding the rules on bidding, transfers from one department to 

another or within a department for the convenience or benefit of the department, may be made by the 

department head when possible and advisable. Transfer requests should be submitted to the City's 



30 
 

Human Resources Office, which department shall make written recommendation and provide the 

request recommendations to the appropriate department head(s) for action. If the occasion arises that 

transfers must be made for the good of the City, each case will be discussed with the individual 

concerned before the transfer is made. This Article will not be used to displace the general bidding or 

layoff procedure. This Article modifies the bidding and layoff procedure order for the limited basis on 

transfers as described in this Section and is subject to prior notice to the Union. 

ARTICLE 17 

Training Opportunities 
Section 1. Training is a benefit to both management and the Union. All in-house training 

opportunities in City departments shall be posted by the respective department head or training officer. 

Voluntary training through outside courses, which directly relate to an employee's job, shall be 

reimbursed by the City only if it is done with the departmental management and Human Resources prior 

approval and the employee successfully completes the class. An annual wants and needs list of desired 

trainings shall be prepared in August of every year. Any training with a cost of $1,000 shall be subject 

to an escalated approval process above the Department Head. An annual training report shall be 

prepared identifying all classes taken, the subject of the classes, and the cost of the classes. An 

individual who is unable to receive training during a given year due to financial or other constraints on 

the City, will be given priority in subsequent years for training as more opportunities become available. 

 Section 2.  Communications Center employees and Police Department Civil Safety Officers 

shall maintain current CPR and AED certification as is required by each respective department. It is the 

responsibility of each department’s training officers or department heads to arrange for said employees 

to participate in re-certification courses prior to their current expiration date.  

 



31 
 

ARTICLE 18 

Military Service 

(a) An employee serving with the armed forces shall, upon discharge or separation, be 

restored to the job previously held, or to a job comparable with regard to work, rate of 

pay, and benefits except as limited by Article 15 (Seniority) regarding reductions in 

force.  (b) An employee who desires reinstatement under USERRA must apply with the 

City for reinstatement within the time period, as specified by USERRA, following 

termination of his military service. 

      Section 3. Matters arising regarding military leave which are not covered by this Article shall be 

determined by the City and as provided by the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment 

Rights Act of 1994. 



32 
 

ARTICLE 19 

Work Rules 
Section 1. The City shall have the right to establish, maintain, enforce and revise policies, 

procedures, regulations and rules to govern the conduct of employees. Any action by the City to enforce 

work rules shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure. 

Section 2. When the City establishes or revises its policies, procedures, regulations and rules, 

any changes will be communicated to all employees and five (5) days shall be given for adjustments. A 

copy of all revised policies, procedures, regulations and rules shall be provided to each affected 

employee in writing and posted in the applicable department prior to implementation, except in the case 

of an emergency or issues of safety. A copy of all written rules and policies shall be made available to 

any employee within a reasonable time after a copy is requested. 

(10) working days and discipline shall be imposed within thirty (30) calendar days after management 

becomes aware of the alleged violation. 

Section 5. In regards to the Communication Center Policies, Rules and Regulations, notification 

of changes to existing polices or creation of new polices shall be discussed in good faith with members 

of the bargaining executive board before being enacted. 

 



33 
 

ARTICLE 20 

Arbitration and Grievance Procedure 

Section 1. A grievance is defined as a dispute regarding the interpretation or application of a 

specific provision of this Agreement, which is raised and processed in strict accordance with the steps, 

time limits and procedures set forth below. 

Step 1. An informal effort to communicate and resolve a grievance claim after it is first 

raised in Section 1 above shall be made within three (3) working days of the occurrence that the 

grievance claim is based on. The effective date of the occurrence shall be the next payday after the 

actual occurrence if the grievance is pay related. Pursuant to this informal effort, the employee may 

present such a claim to his or her immediate supervisor. It is understood that this informal effort can be 

during normal working hours. 

Step 2. In the event such a claim is not settled, it shall be reduced to writing and 

submitted within five (5) working days of its occurrence to the supervisor or department head who shall 

answer same in writing within five (5) working days. The grievance shall state the nature of the incident 

and provision of the Agreement upon which the grievance is based and shall be signed by the employee. 

         Step 3. In the event that the written answer of the supervisor or department head is not 

satisfactory or the supervisor or department head does not answer within said five (5) working days, 

then within five (5) working days of such answer by the supervisor or department head or within five 

(5) working days of the date on which such answer was due, the grievance, with all supporting 

evidence, shall be submitted in writing to the board having jurisdiction over the particular employee 

(Board of Public Works, Board of Public Safety, or Board of Aviation Commissioners) who shall 

schedule a meeting on such grievance within thirty (30) days of submission to the Board. If neither 

party or an authorized representative for such party appears at the hearing, the other party shall prevail 



34 
 

on the grievance. This procedure before the applicable board shall be the final administrative step for 

any grievance concerning disciplinary matters. However, if the employee grievant disagrees with the 

Findings of Fact issued by the applicable board, he can submit a rebuttal letter to the board which will 

be included in the record for the employee's personnel file. 

Step 4. (a). Grievance mediation provided for in this Step is an optional and voluntary 
 

part of the grievance resolution process. It is a supplement to, not a substitute for, grievance arbitration. 

If grievance mediation is invoked pursuant to this Step, the contractual time limit for moving the 

grievance to arbitration shall be suspended for the period of time required for mediation to occur. 

(b). If the grievance has not been satisfactorily resolved at Step 3, the Union or management 

may, within five (5) work days, request mediation by serving such request in writing on the other party. 

If both Union and management agree that the grievance is suitable for mediation, the parties shall submit 

a joint request for mediation to the American Arbitration Association (AAA) unless the parties mutually 

agree to submit such request to the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) or the State 

Public Employment Relations Board. If both parties do not agree to submit the grievance to mediation 

within five (5) business days after the written notice for mediation is served, the grievance shall not be 

submitted to mediation and the time limits in Step 5 shall commence. 

(c). The grievance mediation process shall be informal. Rules of evidence shall not apply, and 

no record shall be made of the proceeding. Both sides shall be provided ample opportunity to present 

evidence and argument to support their case. The mediator may meet with the parties in joint session or 

in separate caucuses. 

(d). At the mutual request of both parties, the mediator shall issue a recommendation for 

settlement. Either party may request that the mediator assess how an arbitrator might rule in this case. 



35 
 

(e). The grievant shall be present at the grievance mediation proceeding. If the grievance is 

resolved by mutual agreement of the parties, the grievant shall sign a 

(f). If the grievance is not resolved and is subsequently moved to a board proceeding and/or 

arbitration proceeding described at Step 5, all offers made at the mediation proceeding shall not be 

admissible as evidence at such proceedings described at Step 5. Nothing said or done by the parties or the 

mediator during grievance mediation with respect to their positions concerning resolution or orders of 

settlement may be used or referred to during such proceedings described at Step 5. 

(g). In situations where there is a charge for mediation by the applicable agency and/or the 

mediator, all such charges incurred in grievance mediation shall be borne equally by the parties. 

Step 5. (a) In the event that the answer or disposition of a grievance involving contract 

interpretation or discharge by the applicable board is not satisfactory, then within thirty 

(b). In the event a party makes a written request within the time provided in Step 4, such party 

shall submit the grievance to the American Arbitration Association (AAA) for processing in accordance 

with its rules and regulations unless the parties mutually agree to submit the grievance to Federal 

Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) in such cases the grievance will be processed with FMCS 

in accordance with its rules and regulations. The AAA or the FMCS shall submit a panel of seven (7) 

arbitrators, all of whom shall be members of the National Academy of Arbitrators.  

(c). The Arbitrator is limited to interpretation of the specific provisions of this Agreement and 

shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, modify, change or alter any of its provisions or their 



36 
 

meaning, including the steps and time limits herein. The Arbitrator shall submit his award within thirty 

(30) calendar days of the later of the conclusion of the hearing or the filing of any briefs. The decision 

of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties and employees involved, and this procedure 

shall be the exclusive procedure for disputes concerning discharges or involving questions of contract 

interpretation.  

(d). Expenses for the Arbitrator's services and the proceedings in cases of contract interpretation 

shall be borne equally by the City and the Union. In discharge cases, expenses of the arbitration service 

and the Arbitrator shall be paid for by the losing party who shall be determined by the Arbitrator as a 

part of his decision. If either party desires a verbatim record of the proceedings, it may cause such a 

record to be made, provided that it pays for the record and makes copies available, without charge, to 

the other party and to the Arbitrator. 

(e). Except with respect to the right to initiate and present grievances at Step 1, the Union shall be 

the exclusive representative of the interests of an employee covered by this Agreement in the processing 

and redress of grievances arising under this Agreement except that if the employee (i.e., grievant) desires 

to settle the grievance at any step or any time, the grievance shall be settled and concluded. 

(f). Grievances involving contract interpretation or discharge may be submitted directly to Step 

3 in the grievance process for a hearing before the applicable board. Issues involving discharge or 

contract interpretation are subject to arbitration pursuant to Step 5. 

 

 

 

 

 



37 
 

ARTICLE 21 

              Change of Name, Address and Telephone 
 

Section 1. Change of name, address, telephone number, dependents or marital status shall be 

reported promptly within four (4) business days after the change is effective. This is necessary to 

insure proper deductions for tax purposes; proper beneficiary for life insurance and retirement plans; 

correct kind of hospitalizations, surgery and medical insurance coverage; and other changes in 

personnel records as well as to insure proper and efficient emergency service to the public. An up-to-

date telephone number that rings into the principal place of residence or an employee's 

personally exclusive cellular telephone is essential and required in order that the City is able to 

contact its employees in times of emergency. Such changes shall be reported to the departmental 

secretary or department head so that the necessary form can be routed to the various City offices in 

notification of the change. In case of change of name, it is necessary to inform the department head 

with proof of name change and filing of new status form and for required signatures concerning 

insurance, retirement, etc. Failure to comply with the above shall result in progressive discipline per 

Article 19 (Work Rules). 

     ARTICLE 22 

Section 1. The City does not prescribe a mandatory retirement age. An employee may continue 

to work, provided the employee is physically and mentally competent. 

 



38 
 

ARTICLE 23 

Safety Committee 

Section 1. In departments that have a safety committee an employee who is a member of the 

IFOPLC Union shall be appointed to be a part of that committee. 

Section 2. The Union and City will continue to work together to improve safety and health 

programs. Both parties agree to support safety training. 

 

ARTICLE 24 

Uniforms, Boots, Gloves, and Equipment 

Section 1. Communications Center employees shall be provided an equipment allowance of Two 

Hundred Dollars ($200.00) per year. Police Department Civil Safety Officers shall be provided an 

equipment allowance of Seven Hundred Fifty Dollars ($750.00) per year payable by the end of January.  

The annual allowance shall be used for job necessities not limited to replacement shoes, uniforms, and 

electronic equipment, including headphones. Police Department Civil Safety Officers shall also be 

supplied with five (5) uniforms and one (1) pair of shoes upon hire. Uniforms shall be chosen by the 

City, however, the City may provide alternative uniforms to an employee upon request prior to ordering 

if such alternatives are available from the City's vendor and are similarly priced.  

Section 2. Any misuse of City property or material or repeated failure to properly use safety 

gear by an employee will constitute grounds for progressive discipline, up to and including dismissal, in 

accordance with work rules. 

Section 4. For all employees covered by this Agreement, work attire should complement an 

environment that reflects an efficient, orderly, and professionally operated department. It is important to 



39 
 

maintain a neat, well-groomed, and professional appearance at all times. All attire should be conducive 

to the employee's position. 

 

 

ARTICLE 25 

Classification Assignments and Rates of Pay 

Section 1. Annual pay rates are being set forth in Attachment "A" (Pay Grades) and Attachment 

"B" (Raises/Inflation Adjustment) for the term of this agreement. 

Pay Grade Classification Assignments will be set forth in Schedule "A" to this 

Agreement 

Section 3. The classification of an employee shall not change unless said employee is assigned 

to another classification by the department head. If an employee performs the duties of another 

classification, other than that which the employee is assigned, for more than six (6) months in any one 

(1) calendar year, that classification or a new classification will be posted for bid in accordance with the 

bidding procedure. 

Section 4. An employee may be assigned, on a temporary basis, to a job at a higher pay 

classification. When properly assigned to a job with a higher pay classification, the employee will 

receive the higher pay classification. The employee will receive the higher rate of pay after the 

employee has completed more than eight (8) consecutive hours at such higher paying job. 



40 
 

Section 5. In the pay category of hourly employees, when an employee is regularly assigned to 

the second shift, the employee shall receive shift differential pay of Two Dollars and Zero Cents 

($2.00) per hour, in addition to the base scale. An employee who is regularly assigned to the third shift, 

shall receive shift differential pay of Two Dollars and Twenty-Five Cents ($2.25) per hour, in addition 

to the base scale. An employee who works a modified shift outside reasonably normal day shift hours 

for a duration of time (e.g. modified seasonal scheduling) will be paid the shift differential for the shift 

addressed in this section that the work hours most closely reflects. 

Section 6. The rate of pay for sick hours, holidays or vacation will not be paid at 

the higher rate until the employee has worked one (1) full pay period (eighty (80) hours) on the 

irregular shift. 

Section 7. It is the intention of the City to foster and promote the continued training of unit 

members with due consideration being given to the seniority of such unit members. However, final 

selection of employees for schools and training classes shall be made by the department head and based 

on the need of that department. 

Note that this does not relieve a department head of responsibilities in Article 17 

(Training Opportunities). 

ARTICLE 26 

                                    Longevity Pay 

Section 1. In addition to the base scale, employees with four (4) or more years of continuous (note 

salary ordinance exception) service will receive Fifteen Dollars ($15) per month for each four (4) years 

of service, beginning in the fifth (5th) year. Longevity payments will not exceed Seventy-five Dollars 

($75) per month according to the following schedule: (Note salary ordinance exception "any employees 



41 
 

hired prior to January 1, 1993 and who are receiving longevity pay based upon cumulative years of service 

shall continue to be paid under that arrangement. Any employees hired after January 1, 1993 shall receive 

longevity pay based upon continuous years of service.") 

Continuous Years of Service Compensation 
 

• Four (4) Years: $15 per month, payable beginning in the fifth (5th) year 
• Eight (8) Years: Additional $15 per month, payable beginning in the ninth (9th) year. Total of 

$30 per month. 
• Twelve (12) Years: Additional $15 per month, payable beginning in the thirteenth (13th) year. 

Total of $45 per month. 
• Sixteen (16) Years: Additional $15 per month, payable beginning in the seventeenth (17th) year. 

Total of $60 per month. 
• Twenty (20) Years: Additional $15 per month, payable beginning in the twenty-first (21st) year. 

Total of $75 per month 
 

Section 2. In addition to the compensation received above, employees will receive One 

Hundred ($ 100) per month in recognition of twenty (20) years of service, payable in the twenty-first 

(21st) year. 

Section 3. The maximum total compensation an employee may receive under this 

 

ARTICLE 27 

Health Insurance, Life Insurance and 
Benefits Advisory Committee 

Section 1. The City shall make available to each eligible employee and eligible dependents a 

comprehensive major medical insurance program and life insurance program then in effect for that 

particular benefit year. All eligibility requirements of either health insurance or life insurance, or both, 



42 
 

and all other terms and conditions of said insurance shall be set forth in the plan documents, and shall 

be consistently and uniformly applied and made available to all full-time City employees. 

Section 3. The City shall make reasonable efforts to maintain the City's level of contribution 

for individual and dependent coverage under the City's health and life insurance plans. Any change in 

contributions shall be consistent in all City departments. 

Section 4. The City agrees that all retired employees and their eligible dependents shall be 

eligible for the City health insurance program for the term of this Agreement, as long as the retiree's 

participation in the coverage is continuous from their date of retirement 

 

ARTICLE 28 

Perf Pension 

The City agrees to contribute the mandatory 3% employee PERF contribution for 

INFOPLC members. This was effective the first paycheck of March, 2020. 

 
 
 
 
 



43 
 

ARTICLE 29 
 

Successor 

 
 
 

ARTICLE 30 
 

Communications Center Shift Bid 

 Section 1. The shift bid shall commence by the first Monday of the third week of 

November each calendar year. The bid will be announced and posted in a public forum a week prior 

to this giving union member’s ample time to prepare. The bidding process will be overseen by a 

designated union representative. Each member shall have 24 hours to consider the bid.   

   Section 2. All dispatchers will be allowed the opportunity to exercise the right of seniority for 

selecting their desired shift and days off.  The only slot changes accepted outside of regular bid will be due to 

the following circumstances and/or conditions:  

a) If two employees work out a mutually exclusive acceptable agreement to trade, provided there is 

no objection by an employee with seniority that falls between the two requesting parties, and provided 

the Department Head and Assistant Department Head approve;  

b) In the event of an opening created by the resignation, retirement or termination of an employee or 

if a locked shift is opened upon a trainee’s release, or for any other reason, Management will offer the 



44 
 

empty slot to employees by seniority beginning with the next senior person from whom created the 

vacancy; or in the case of a locked shift becoming open, management may offer the opening by 

seniority or by a complete re-bid. This same procedure will then be followed by any subsequent 

vacancies created.  

If for any reason an opening creates built-in overtime, Management reserves the right to fill the spot by 

moving the least senior dispatcher from another open shift.  A dispatcher being mandated to change to this 

open shift/rotation will not be required to change their previously scheduled benefit time off, regardless of 

staffing levels. 

 

   Article 31 

Officers and Elections 

 
Section 1. The officers of the INFOPLC #52 shall be elected annually, and shall consist of 

the following: President, Vice President, and Secretary. The officers shall also serve as the union 

Executive Board. 

Section 2. The election of all officers and trustees shall be made on the first Monday of each 

December of each year and shall be facilitated by the Police Department FOP President or other 

officer.  The voting process may take place via email or in person ballot submission. This will be 

determined by the Executive Board with input from union members.  

Section 3. The installation of the newly elected officers shall be effective on Saturday of the 

first full pay period of January and each shall serve until a successor is duly elected or appointed and 

qualified. 



45 
 

Section 4. Any officer may be removed from office for misconduct of that office and then by 

a special meeting for that purpose by a removal vote of two thirds of the members present.  In case of 

such removal the vacancy shall be filled by a vote of the members of the union that is facilitated by the 

Police Department FOP President or other officer.  

Section 5. In the event of the death, resignation, or a vacancy occurring for any other reason, 

the vacancy shall be filled by a vote of the members of the union that is facilitated by the Police 

Department FOP President or other officer.  

 

ARTICLE 32 

No Strike Clause 

             Section 1. It is recognized and agreed by the parties that because of the public policy 

of the City to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the City 

Communication Center employees and Public Safety Officers are not accorded, the right to 

strike or engage in any type of work stoppage, slowdown, picketing while on duty, or any 

other type of job action that interferes with the proper performance of their duties and 

responsibilities or those of any other Communication Center employees or Public Safety 

Officers as prescribed by the City. 

In the event any of the actions prohibited in the first paragraph of this Article occur, the 

parties agree (i) it is appropriate for any court of competent jurisdiction immediately to restrain 

and enjoin such actions and award to the City any and all other appropriate relief after notice 

to an employee or representative of the Indiana FOP Labor Council; (ii) the City 

Administration no longer shall have the duty to recognize or bargain with any bargaining agent 

then representing the bargaining unit; and (iii) all employees who have engaged in the action 

shall be subject to immediate termination by the Board of Public Safety in conformance with 

relevant Indiana law and any applicable grievance procedures. 

 

 



46 
 

ARTICLE 33 

Term of Agreement 

Section 1. This agreement shall be retroactive to January 1, 2021, and in effect through the 

31st  day of December, 2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



47 
 

                                              Signatures 

Whereas, This Agreement has been negotiated by the City of Elkhart and Indiana FOP Labor Council, 
Inc and agreed to by said parties on this ___ day of January ____ 2022 by the undersigned. 

Indiana FOP Labor Council, Inc.    City of Elkhart 
 
_____________________________                                     _________________________________ 
Ayron Bringle, President                             Bradley Tracy, Office of the Mayor 
             Negotiating Team Member 
 
 
 
____________________________    _______________________________ 
Greg Szabo, Vice President     Rose M. Rivera, City Attorney 
        Negotiating Team Member 
 
 
____________________________    __________________________________ 
Dan Schaefer      Jamie Arce, Controller 
        Negotiating Team Member 
         
 
 
____________________________    __________________________________ 
Jerame Simpson, Northern Indiana Representative  Rod Roberson, Mayor 
 

 
 

Reviewed for content and legality 
  
    ___________________________  ____________ 
    Rose Rivera, City Attorney   Date 
     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



48 
 

City of Elkhart Board of Public Safety 
 
The Elkhart City Board of Public Safety after motion being duly made and seconded, now approves the 
foregoing Collective Bargaining Agreement between the City of Elkhart, Indiana and the Indiana F.O.P. 
Labor Council, Inc. contingent upon the approval and signature of the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Elkhart. 
 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
Dr. Robert Woods, Chairman    Carol McDowell, Vice-Chairwoman 

______________________________   ______________________________ 
Corinne Straight-Reed, Member    Anthony Coleman, Member 

 
 

______________________________ 
Rev. Charlie Cross, Member 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



49 
 

        City of Elkhart Common Council 
 
The Elkhart City Common Council after motion being duly made and seconded, now approves the 
foregoing Collective Bargaining Agreement between the City of Elkhart, Indiana and the Indiana F.O.P. 
Labor Council, Inc. 
 
 
 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
Arvis Dawson, Council President    Tonda Hines, Council Vice President 
      
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
Aaron Mishler, Councilman     Brian A. Thomas, Councilman 

 
 

______________________________   ______________________________ 
David E. Henke, Councilman    Dwight Fish, Councilman 
 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
H. Brent Curry, Councilman    Megan Baughman, Councilwoman 
 
 
______________________________ 
Kevin Bullard, Councilman 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date__________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



50 
 

 
Attachment A 

Pay Grade and Job Classification 

 

   

PG Title 2021 

   

PG-1 Dispatch/Safety Officer (probationary under 6 
months) $ 22.13 

PG-2 1st year Dispatcher / 1st year Safety Officer $ 22.54 

PG-3 Dispatcher/Safety Officer $ 22.98 

PG-4 Trainers $ 23.39 

PG-5 Training Coordinator/Team Leaders $ 24.17 

                 

   

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL INCENTIVE 2021 
 2nd shift + 2.00/hour  
                                                               3rd shift + 2.25/hour 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



51 
 

INFLATION ADJUSTMENT ATTACHMENT B 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

INFOP 2021-24 
New Paygrades 

2021 
Pay 

Rates 

2021 
Percent 
Increase 

2021 
Raise 

Amount 

New 
2021 

INFOP 
Rate 

Percent 
Increase 

2022 
Raise 

Amount 

New 
2022 

INFOP 
Rate 

2023 
Percent 
Increase 

2023 
Raise 

Amount 

New 
2023 

INFOP 
Rate 

2024 
Percent 
Increase 

2024 
Raise 

Amount 

New 
2024 

INFOP 
rate 

TOTAL  
RAISE 
2021-
2024 

PG-1  
Dispatcher/Safety 
Officer 
(Probationary-
under 6 months) 

$22.13 4% $0.89 $23.02 3% $0.69 $23.71 3% $0.71 $24.42 0% $0.00 $24.42 $2.29 

PG-2 
Dispatcher/Safety 
Officer (6 mos-1 
year) 

$22.54 4% $0.90 $23.44 3% $0.70 $24.14 3% $0.72 $24.86 0% $0.00 $24.86 $2.32 

PG-3 
Dispatcher/Safety 
Officer (1 year 
anniversary and 
beyond) 

$22.98 4% $0.92 $23.90 3% $0.72 $24.62 3% $0.74 $25.36 0% $0.00 $25.36 $2.38 

PG-4  
Trainers 

$23.39 4% $0.94 $24.33 3% $0.73 $25.06 3% $0.75 $25.81 0% $0.00 $25.81 $2.42 

PG-5  
Team 
Leaders/Training 
Coordinator 

$24.17 4% $0.97 $25.14 3% $0.75 $25.89 3% $0.78 $26.67 0% $0.00 $26.67 $2.50 
















































































	AGENDA for March 7, 2022 City Council Meeting
	Minutes of February 7, 2022 Council Meeting
	Minutes of February 14, 2022 Council Meeting
	Proposed Ordinance 22-O-06 - alley vacation Wagner Ave. and Chester St.
	Proposed Resolution 22-R-06 - confirming resolution for Marson International
	Proposed Resolution 22-R-07 - memoranda of agreements Marson International
	Proposed Resolution 22-R-08 - confirming resolution for PontoonStuff-MMM Realty and Legacy Plastic
	Proposed Resolution 22-R-09 - memoranda of agreements for PontoonStuff-MMM Realty and Legacy Plastic
	Proposed Resolution 22-R-10 - approving collective barginging agreement
	ADP9344.tmp
	Table of Contents ("TOC") by Article
	Preamble
	Recognition
	Non-discrimination
	Management Rights
	Dues Check-Off
	Hours of Work
	Overtime Pay and Scheduling
	Holidays and Holiday Pay
	Personal Hours
	Vacation
	Sick Hours
	Medical Leave and Salary Continuation
	Bereavement Leave
	Jury Duty
	Seniority
	Posting of Job Vacancies, Bidding and Transfers
	Training Opportunities
	Military Service
	Work Rules
	Arbitration and Grievance Procedure
	Change of Name, Address and Telephone
	Retirement Age
	Safety Committee
	Uniforms, Boots, Gloves, and Equipment
	Classification Assignments and Rates of Pay
	Longevity Pay
	Benefits Advisory Committee
	Successor
	ARTICLE 32
	No Strike Clause
	Section 1. It is recognized and agreed by the parties that because of the public policy of the City to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the City Communication Center employees and Public Safety Officers ar...
	In the event any of the actions prohibited in the first paragraph of this Article occur, the parties agree (i) it is appropriate for any court of competent jurisdiction immediately to restrain and enjoin such actions and award to the City any and all ...
	ARTICLE 33
	Term of Agreement


	Blank Page

	Minutes of January 26, 2022 - Board of Aviation Commissioners
	Minutes of January 25, 2022 - Board of Public Safety
	Minutes of February 8, 2022 - Board of Public Safety
	Minutes of February 1, 2022 - Board of Public Works
	Minutes of February 15, 2022 - Board of Public Works
	Minutes of January 13, 2022 - Board of Zoning Appeals
	Minutes of January 12, 2022 - Lerner Theatre Board
	Minutes of January 18, 2022 - Parks and Recreation Board
	Report of January 2022 Month End - Elkhart Communications Center
	Report of Febuary 15, 2022 - Parks Department



